
Page 1 

 

                      

TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

OCTOBER 01, 2019 
110 EAST MAIN STREET 

LOS GATOS, CA 

                          Steve Leonardis, Mayor  
Marcia Jensen, Vice Mayor  

Rob Rennie, Council Member  
Marico Sayoc, Council Member  

Barbara Spector, Council Member 

 

 
PARTICIPATION IN THE PUBLIC PROCESS 

How to participate:  The Town of Los Gatos strongly encourages your active participation in the 
public process, which is the cornerstone of democracy. If you wish to speak to an item on the 
agenda, please complete a “speaker’s card” located on the back of the chamber benches and 
return it to the Clerk Administrator. If you wish to speak to an item NOT on the agenda, you may 
do so during the “Verbal Communications” period. The time allocated to speakers may change 
to better facilitate the Town Council meeting. 
 
Effective Proceedings:  The purpose of the Town Council meeting is to conduct the business of 
the community in an effective and efficient manner. For the benefit of the community, the Town 
of Los Gatos asks that you follow the Town’s meeting guidelines while attending Town Council 
meetings and treat everyone with respect and dignity. This is done by following meeting 
guidelines set forth in State law and in the Town Code. Disruptive conduct is not tolerated, 
including but not limited to: addressing the Town Council without first being recognized; 
interrupting speakers, Town Council or Town staff; continuing to speak after the allotted time 
has expired; failing to relinquish the podium when directed to do so; and repetitiously addressing 
the same subject. 
 
Deadlines for Public Comment and Presentations are as follows: 

 Persons wishing to make an audio/visual presentation on any agenda item must submit the 
presentation electronically, either in person or via email, to the Clerk’s Office no later than 
3:00 p.m. on the day of the Council meeting. 

 Persons wishing to submit written comments to be included in the materials provided to 
Town Council must provide the comments as follows: 
o For inclusion in the regular packet: by 11:00 a.m. the Thursday before the Council 

meeting 
o For inclusion in any Addendum: by 11:00 a.m. the Monday before the Council meeting 
o For inclusion in any Desk Item: by 11:00 a.m. on the day of the Council Meeting 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Town Council Meetings Broadcast Live on KCAT, Channel 15 (on Comcast) on the 1st and 3rd Tuesdays at 7:00 p.m. 

Rebroadcast of Town Council Meetings on the 2nd and 4th Mondays at 7:00 p.m. 
Live & Archived Council Meetings can be viewed by going to: 

www.losgatosca.gov/Councilvideos 

IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT, IF YOU NEED SPECIAL ASSISTANCE TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS MEETING, 

PLEASE CONTACT THE CLERK DEPARTMENT AT (408) 354-6834.  NOTIFICATION 48 HOURS BEFORE THE MEETING WILL ENABLE THE TOWN 

TO MAKE REASONABLE ARRANGEMENTS TO ENSURE ACCESSIBILITY TO THIS MEETING [28 CFR §35.102-35.104] 

Page 1

http://www.losgatosca.gov/Councilvideos


Page 2 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

OCTOBER 01, 2019 

7:00 PM 
 

MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 

ROLL CALL 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

i. Community Pledge Leader - Sasha Ryu, Los Gatos High School 

CLOSED SESSION REPORT 

CONSENT ITEMS (Items appearing on the Consent Items are considered routine and may be 
approved by one motion.  Any member of the Council or public may request to have an item 
removed from the Consent Items for comment and action. If an item is pulled, the Mayor has the 
sole discretion to determine when the item will be hear.  Unless there are separate discussions 
and/or actions requested by Council, staff, or a member of the public, it is requested that items 
under the Consent Items be acted on simultaneously.) 

1. Approve Special Council Meeting Minutes of September 14, 2019. 
2. Approve Closed Session Meeting Minutes of September 17, 2019. 
3. Approve Council Minutes of September 17, 2019. 
4. Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets - Authorize the Town Manager to: 

a. Issue a Request for Proposals for Conceptual Design of Winchester Boulevard 
Complete Streets Improvements. 

b. Adopt a Resolution Authorizing the Submittal of an Application in the Vehicle Trip 
Reduction Program Managed by the Bay Area Air Quality Management District for 
the Winchester Boulevard Class IV Protected Bike Lanes Project between Blossom 
Hill Road and Albright Way. 

5. Authorize Actions for the Los Gatos Creek Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead Connector 
Project 411-832-4505: 
a. Authorize the Town Manager to Execute an Agreement for Consultant Services with 

Mott MacDonald Group, Inc. for Professional Design Services for the Los Gatos Creek 
Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead Connector Project 18-832-4505 in an Amount Not to 
Exceed $486,747. 

b. Authorize an Expenditure Budget Transfer of $130,000 from the Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Improvement Project Budget (411-813-0231) to the Los Gatos Creek Trail 
to Highway 9 Trailhead Connector Project (411-832-4505). 

6. Authorize the Town Manager to Purchase Two Vehicles from Downtown Ford Sales in an 
Amount Not to Exceed $126,376. 

7. Town Code Amendment Application A-19-006.  Project Location: Town Wide.  Applicant: 
Town of Los Gatos. 
Adopt amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding 
Parking Assessment District regulations. 

 

Page 2



Page 3 

CONSENT ITEMS (continued) 
 

8. Town Code Amendment Application A-19-004.  Project Location: Town Wide. Applicant: 
Town of Los Gatos. 
Adopt amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding 
parking lot improvement regulations. 

9. Town Code Amendment Application A-19-005.  Project Location: Town Wide. Applicant: 
Town of Los Gatos. 
Adopt amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding 
valet parking regulations. 

VERBAL COMMUNICATIONS (Members of the public are welcome to address the Town Council 
on any matter that is not listed on the agenda.  To ensure all agenda items are heard and unless 
additional time is authorized by the Mayor, this portion of the agenda is limited to 30 minutes 
and no more than three (3) minutes per speaker.  In the event additional speakers were not able 
to be heard during the initial Verbal Communications portion of the agenda, an additional Verbal 
Communications will be opened prior to adjournment.) 

OTHER BUSINESS (Up to three minutes may be allotted to each speaker on any of the following 
items.) 

10. Provide Direction to Staff on the Next Steps for the Temporary Community Vitality and 
Land Use Streamlining Resolutions Due to Sunset in December 2019. 

11. Review of Tobacco Retailers Ordinance and Annual Report from County of Santa Clara 
on implementation of the Ordinance and Discuss potential Amendments to the 
Ordinance to prohibit the sale of electronic smoking devices. 

12. Provide Feedback and Direction on the Downtown One-Way Pilot Project. 
13. Review of Citizen Ballot Initiative Amending the Los Gatos Town Code Regarding Term 

Limits for Council Members. 

COUNCIL / MANAGER MATTERS 

ADJOURNMENT (Council policy is to adjourn no later than midnight unless a majority of Council 
votes for an extension of time) 

 

Writings related to an item on the Town Council meeting agenda distributed to members of the Council within 
72 hours of the meeting are available for public inspection at the front desk of the Los Gatos Town Library, 
located at 100 Villa Avenue, and are also available for review on the official Town of Los Gatos website.  Copies 
of desk items distributed to members of the Council at the meeting are available for review in the Town Council 
Chambers. 

 

Note: The Town of Los Gatos has adopted the provisions of Code of Civil Procedure §1094.6; litigation 
challenging a decision of the Town Council must be brought within 90 days after the decision is announced 
unless a shorter time is required by State or Federal law. 

 
  

Page 3



 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 408-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 1 

 
   

DRAFT 
Minutes of the Special Town Council Meeting 

September 14, 2019 
 
The Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos conducted a Special Meeting on Saturday, 
September 14, 2019, at 9:00 a.m. 
 
MEETING CALLED TO ORDER AT 9:12 A.M. 
 
ROLL CALL  
Present: Council Member Rob Rennie, Council Member Marico Sayoc, and Council Member 
Barbara Spector.  
Absent: Mayor Steven Leonardis and Vice Mayor Marcia Jensen. 
 
VERBAL COMMUNICATIONS 
None. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
1. Selection of two Council Members by Random Lot to Participate in the Mills Act Ordinance 

Agenda Discussion and Deliberation as Required under FPPC Regulation 18701. 
 
Council Members Rennie, Sayoc, Spector, and Town Manager Prevetti as proxy for Mayor 
Leonardis, drew cards to determine who would participate. 
 
Mayor Leonardis and Council Member Sayoc were selected to participate. 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
Meeting adjourned at 9:14 a.m. 
 
 
Attest:        Submitted by: 
 
 
___________________________   ___________________________   
Shelley Neis, Town Clerk    Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

Page 4



 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 408-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 2 

 
   

DRAFT 
Minutes of the Special Town Council Meeting - Closed Session 

September 17, 2019 
 
The Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos conducted a Special Meeting on Tuesday, 
September 17, 2019, to hold a Closed Session at 5:30 p.m. 
 
MEETING CALLED TO ORDER AT 5:30 P.M. 
 
ROLL CALL  
Present: Mayor Steven Leonardis, Vice Mayor Marcia Jensen, Council Member Rob Rennie, 
Council Member Marico Sayoc, Council Member Barbara Spector.  
Absent: None 
 

1. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR 
(Government Code Section 54956.8) 

  
a. Property: 75 Church St. (Forbes Mill) (APN: 529-54-050) 

Negotiating Parties:  Town of Los Gatos 

Negotiator:  Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager and Imwalle Asset Management, Potential 
Buyer and/or Lessee 

Negotiations:  Price and terms of potential sale or lease  
  

b. Property:  4 Tait Avenue (Museum) (APN: 510-44-054) 
Negotiating Parties:  Town of Los Gatos 

Negotiator:  Arn Andrews, Assistant Town Manager and Imwalle Asset Management, 
Potential Buyer and/or Lessee 

Negotiations:  Price and terms of potential sale or lease  
  

c. Property:  4 New York Avenue (Venue) (APN: 529-27-024) 
Negotiating Parties:  Town of Los Gatos 

Negotiator:  Arn Andrews, Assistant Town Manager and Los Gatos-Saratoga Union High 
School District, Potential Buyer and/or Lessee 

Negotiations:  Price and terms of lease  
  

d. Property:  20 Dittos Lane (APN: 529-29-034) 
Negotiating parties:  Town of Los Gatos 

Negotiator:  Arn Andrews, Assistant Town Manager and Sarah Chaffin, Potential Buyer 
and/or Lessee 

Negotiations: Price and terms of potential sale or payment of lease  

 
VERBAL COMMUNICATIONS 
None.  

Page 5



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Draft Minutes of the Special Town Council Meeting - Closed Session of 

September 17, 2019 
DATE:  September 19, 2019 
 

C:\Users\Public\Documents\MeetingMunicodeDocumentProcessing\7846a54d-7d31-4dea-b393-262dd9a5d58f\ITEM-Attachment-002-
6e3fc44fd220437296df034184185bdc.docx 9/24/2019 3:42 PM 

 

 
ADJOURNMENT  
Closed Session adjourned at 6:31 p.m. 
 
Attest:        Submitted by: 
 
 
___________________________   ___________________________   
Shelley Neis, Town Clerk    Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6



 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 408-354-6832 
 www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 

 
   

DRAFT 
Minutes of the Town Council Meeting  

September 17, 2019 
 
The Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos conducted a Regular Meeting on Tuesday, 
September 17, 2019, at 7:00 p.m. 
 
MEETING CALLED TO ORDER AT 7:00 P.M. 
 
ROLL CALL  
Present: Mayor Steven Leonardis, Vice Mayor Marcia Jensen, Council Member Rob Rennie, 
Council Member Marico Sayoc, Council Member Barbara Spector.  
Absent: None 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
Diane Goldberg with the Kiwanis Club of Los Gatos led the Pledge of Allegiance.  The audience 
was invited to participate. 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
Mayor Leonardis presented a Small Business, Big Applause commendation to Los Gatos Cafe.  
Sheila Reno and Tina Morcate thanked the Town for their support. 
 
CLOSED SESSION REPORT  
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney, stated Council met in Closed Session as duly noted on the 
agenda and there is no report. 
 
CONSENT ITEMS (TO BE ACTED UPON BY A SINGLE MOTION)  
 
1. Approve Council meeting minutes of September 3, 2019. 
2. Adopt a Resolution approving amended Tract Map 10441 (North 40 Phase 1) and accept the 

dedications.  RESOLUTION 2019-049 
3. Authorize the Town Manager to execute an agreement for services with JLP Building 

Maintenance to provide custodial services effective October 1, 2019 through June 30, 2024, 
including a five percent contingency for special or unforeseen cleanings for a total amount 
not to exceed $165,640 in Fiscal Year 2019/20 and $220,853 annually thereafter and a total 
agreement amount not to exceed $1,049,052. 

4. Authorize the Town Manager to execute a Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of 
Completion for the work of Mercoza Engineering and authorized recording by the Town 
Clerk for PPW Job No. 18-813-9921 Annual Curb, Gutter, and Sidewalk Maintenance Project.  
 

Page 7



PAGE 2 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Draft Minutes of the Town Council Meeting of September 17, 2019 
DATE:  September 18, 2019 
 
5. Authorize the Town Manager to execute a first amendment to the agreement for services 

with Pro-Sweep effective October 1, 2019 through June 30, 2024 for an additional not to 
exceed amount of $292.50 per month plus annual Consumer Price Index Adjustments for 
additional street sweeping services. 

6. Adopt performance metrics for the School Bus Pilot Program and authorized the Town 
Manager to issue a request for qualifications for outsourcing operations oversight and 
customer service functions.  

7. Adopt an ordinance of the Town of Los Gatos amending Chapter 2, Article II, Section 
2.20.035, Election of Mayor and Vice-Mayor.  ORDINANCE 2289 

 
MOTION: Motion by Vice Mayor Jensen to approve the Consent Items.  Seconded by Council 

Member Rennie. 
 

VOTE: Motion passed unanimously. 
 
VERBAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Dale Miller  
- Thanked Town staff for addressing their concerns on Newell Avenue and Newell Court.  
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 
8. Town Code Amendment Application A-19-006.  Project Location: Town Wide.  Applicant: 

Town of Los Gatos.   
Consider amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding 
Parking Assessment District regulations.  

 
Jocelyn Shoopman, Associate Planner, presented the staff report.  
 
Opened Public Comment.  
 
Closed Public Comment. 
 
Council discussed the matter. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Vice Mayor Jensen to introduce an ordinance, by title only, to amend 

Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding Parking Assessment 
District regulations.  Seconded by Council Member Sayoc. 

 

VOTE: Motion passed unanimously. 
 
The Deputy Clerk read the title of the ordinance.  

Page 8



PAGE 3 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Draft Minutes of the Town Council Meeting of September 17, 2019 
DATE:  September 18, 2019 
 
9. Town Code Amendment Application A-19-004.  Project Location: Town Wide.  Applicant: 

Town of Los Gatos. 
Consider amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding 
parking lot improvement regulations.  

 
Jocelyn Shoopman, Associate Planner, presented the staff report.  
 
Opened Public Comment.  
 
Closed Public Comment. 
 
Council discussed the matter. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Vice Mayor Jensen to introduce an ordinance, by title only, to amend 

Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding parking lot 
improvement regulations.  Seconded by Council Member Sayoc. 

 

VOTE: Motion passed unanimously. 
 
The Deputy Clerk read the title of the ordinance.  
 
10. Town Code Amendment Application A-19-005.  Project Location: Town Wide.  Applicant: 

Town of Los Gatos.  
Consider amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding valet 
parking regulations.  

 
Jocelyn Shoopman, Associate Planner, presented the staff report.  
 
Opened Public Comment.  
 
Closed Public Comment. 
 
Council discussed the matter. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Vice Mayor Jensen to introduce an ordinance, by title only, to amend 

Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding valet parking 
regulations.  Seconded by Council Member Sayoc. 

 

VOTE: Motion passed unanimously. 
 
The Deputy Clerk read the title of the ordinance.  

 

Page 9



PAGE 4 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Draft Minutes of the Town Council Meeting of September 17, 2019 
DATE:  September 18, 2019 
 
OTHER BUSINESS  
 
11. Consider Pension Plan IRS Section 115 Trust Options, terminate the PARS Agreement, and 

direct staff to return to Council with an agreement to initiate a California Employers’ 
Pension Prefunding Trust (CEPPT). 

 
Arn Andrews, Assistant Town Manager, presented the staff report.  
 
Opened Public Comment.  
 
Closed Public Comment. 
 
Council discussed the matter. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Vice Mayor Jensen to terminate the PARS agreement consistent with the 

Town Pension and OPEB Trusts Oversight Committee recommendation, and direct 
staff to return to Council with an agreement to initiate a California Employers’ 
Pension Prefunding Trust (CEPPT) and at that time, determine the specific 
investment strategy.  Seconded by Council Member Spector. 

 

VOTE: Motion passed unanimously. 
 
COUNCIL/TOWN MANAGER REPORTS  
 
Council Matters 
- Council Member Sayoc reported that the Silicon Valley Clean Energy approved their EV 

infrastructure plan; the Cities Association met and discussed a Regional Housing Need 
Allocation subregion; and reported that the League of Cities is partnering with the League 
of Women Voters to host a candidate forum on September 25 for the 13th Senate District 
seat.  

- Council Member Spector stated she attended the West Valley Clean Water Authority 
meeting, and the Solid Waste Management Joint Powers Agency meeting and anticipates 
discussion regarding increasing garbage collection rates. 

- Mayor Leonardis stated he attended the West Valley Sanitation District Board of Directors 
meeting; Treatment Plant Advisory Committee meeting; Shaded Field Break Kick-Off event; 
and an event on vaping.  

- Vice Mayor Jensen had nothing to report.  
- Council Member Rennie stated he attended the Valley Transportation Authority Board, Los 

Gatos Service Providers, and Silicon Valley Clean Energy Risk Oversight Committee 
meetings; and he was re-appointed to the Emergency Operational Council by the Cities 
Association.  
 

Page 10



PAGE 5 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Draft Minutes of the Town Council Meeting of September 17, 2019 
DATE:  September 18, 2019 
 
Manager Matters 
- Announced the Arts and Culture Commission meeting on September 18 at 4:00 p.m. to see 

the gateway artists’ presentation; Screen on the Green event on September 20; and 
applications are being accepted for the Town’s Boards and Commissions.  

 
OTHER BUSINESS (continued) 
 
12. Discussion and direction on Mills Act Ordinance and Implementation Program Preparation. 
 
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney, presented the staff report.  
 
Opened Public Comment.  
 
The following people spoke in support of creating a Mills Act Ordinance and preparing an 
Implementation Program:  Jeff Siegel, George Walls, Stuart Huizinga, Paul Fulton, Bob Braham, 
Vicki Huizinga, Catherine Somers, and Maureen Cappon-Javey. 
 
Closed Public Comment. 
 
Council discussed the matter. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Mayor Leonardis to move forward to draft a Mills Act Ordinance. 
The motion failed for lack of a second.  
 

MOTION: Motion by Mayor Leonardis to continue this item to a future Council meeting and 
directed staff to start conversations with partner agencies potentially affected by a 
Los Gatos Mills Act Ordinance and provide examples of Mills Act Ordinances from 
surrounding jurisdictions.  Seconded by Council Member Sayoc. 

 

VOTE: Motion passed 2/1.  Vice Mayor Jensen voting no. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
The meeting adjourned at 9:03 p.m. 
 
Attest: 

 

_____________________________________ 

Michelle Radcliffe, Deputy Clerk 

 

Page 11



 

PREPARED BY: YING SMITH 
 Transportation and Mobility Manager  
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director, and Parks and 
Public Works Director 

   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 406-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 4 

 
   

DATE:   September 20, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets - Authorize the Town Manager to: 
a. Issue a Request for Proposals for Conceptual Design of Winchester 

Boulevard Complete Streets Improvements. 
b. Adopt a Resolution Authorizing the Submittal of an Application in the 

Vehicle Trip Reduction Program Managed by the Bay Area Air Quality 
Management District for the Winchester Boulevard Class IV Protected 
Bike Lanes Project between Blossom Hill Road and Albright Way 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Authorize the Town Manager to:  
a. Issue a request for proposals for conceptual design of Winchester Boulevard Complete 

Streets Improvements. 
b. Adopt a resolution authorizing the submittal of an application in the Vehicle Trip Reduction 

Program managed by the Bay Area Air Quality Management District for the Winchester 
Boulevard Class IV Protected Bike Lanes Project between Blossom Hill Road and Albright 
Way. 

 
BACKGROUND: 

Winchester Boulevard is a major arterial street parallel to Highway 17, which borders both the 
Town of Los Gatos and the City of Monte Sereno.  Winchester Boulevard currently has 
intermittent sections of bicycle and pedestrian facilities north of Albright Way to the Town 
limits of Knowles Drive and Division Street.  South of Albright Way to Shelburne Way, the street 
contains two travel lanes in each direction, sidewalks, and Class II bike lanes on both sides.  
Between Shelburne and Blossom Hill, the street is narrower and includes three travel lanes, 
limited on-street parking, and sidewalks. 
 
 

Page 12



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT:  Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets 
DATE:  September 20, 2019 
 
 
BACKGROUND (continued): 
 
The Los Gatos Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan (BPMP) identifies the construction of Class IV 
bike lanes along Winchester Boulevard as improvement projects.  At its June 6, 2019 meeting, 
the Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Commission (BPAC)discussed the opportunity for 
conceptual engineering design of the entire length of Winchester Boulevard in Los Gatos to 
make it a Complete Street for multiple modes of travel. The conceptual engineering is the first 
step towards shovel ready construction projects, which would increase the Town’s grant 
eligibility.  The BPAC voted to support staff’s recommendation to begin the Winchester 
Complete Streets design work from Blossom Hill Road to the Town’s northern limits. 
 
Additionally, staff applied for funding through the Bay Area Air Quality Management District 
(Air District)’s Vehicle Trip Reduction Program for a Class IV bikeway project between Blossom 
Hill Road and Albright Way.  This project meets one of the grant categories of Class-I or Class-IV 
bikeway projects that encourage a shift to cycling as an alternative to driving.  
 
DISCUSSION: 

Despite the Class II bike lanes and sidewalks that currently exist, Winchester Boulevard is 
considered a high stress street for bicyclists and pedestrians due to the high speed and the high 
volume of automobile traffic.  Complete Streets treatments, including enhanced bike lanes, 
pedestrian crossings, sidewalk improvements, pedestrian refuse islands, landscaped medians, 
and intersection modifications would provide for an enhanced multi-modal experience.  
 
The best practice in delivering Complete Streets projects at this scale is to complete them in 
phases and to spread costs over time.  Staff recommends completing a conceptual design for 
the entire corridor to help identify and cost the incremental phases of work.  In addition, the 
conceptual design would further the development of shovel-ready project elements, facilitating 
the search for alternative funding.  
 
After reviewing the Air District’s grant program requirements and criteria as well as the priority 
projects in the Town’s Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan (BPMP), staff submitted a grant 
application for the Winchester Boulevard Class IV Protected Bike Lanes project for submittal.    
If funded, the Class IV protected bike lanes would be one of the first Complete Streets 
improvements that the Town would implement over time on Winchester Boulevard.  The Town 
also received a letter of support from the City of Monte Sereno. 
 
The Air District requires a resolution from the Town Council within 30 days of application 
submittal that authorizes the application and commits to providing all necessary matching 
funds.  Staff submitted the application contingent on Council adoption of the resolution for an  
 
 

Page 13



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT:  Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets 
DATE:  September 20, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 

amount of $785,960 (80% of construction cost.  The final grant amount will be determined by 
the Air District’s cost effectiveness calculations.   
 
CONCLUSION: 

Staff recommends issuing a Request for Proposals for the selection of a consultant to prepare a 
conceptual design of the Complete Streets improvements for the entire Winchester corridor in 
Los Gatos and adoption of the resolution authorizing submittal of the grant application for the 
Class IV protected bike lanes on Winchester Boulevard between Blossom Hill Road and Albright 
Way.   
 
COORDINATION: 

This report was coordinated with the Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Commission and City of 
Monte Sereno staff.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no fiscal impact as a result of the recommended actions.  If the grant application is 
awarded, the Council will have the opportunity to review the funding agreement to accept the 
grant funds.   
 
Project #813-0218 Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvements in the Fiscal Year 2019/20 Capital 
Improvement Program Budget has sufficient funds for the design work and the local match for 
the Class IV Protected Bike Lanes project.  Staff would return to the Council for award of the 
design contract that results from the RFP.  If the Town receives the grant, the Council would 
need to accept the grant and recognize the revenue. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

The construction of improvements is a project as defined under CEQA but is Categorically 
Exempt, Section 15064.3 (2).  A Notice of Exemption was filed on September 5, 2019. 

 

Attachments: 
1. Draft RFP with Attachments A (scope of services) and B (sample contract) 
2. Resolution authorizing application for grant funds 
 

Page 14



TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND PUBLIC WORKS 
41 MILES AVENUE, LOS GATOS, CA 95030 
 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS  

 
Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets Conceptual Design 

 

 

PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL DEADLINE: 

 DATE:  October 28, 2019  

 TIME:  4:00 pm  

  

Submit by email to: ysmith@losgatosca.gov 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 

 

R
FP

 

Page 15



 
RFP – Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets Conceptual Design    Page 2 
 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
1. INTRODUCTION 

The Town of Los Gatos (Town) is issuing this Request for Proposals (RFP) for the 
Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets Conceptual Design.  The selected Consultant team 
is expected to provide the following areas of expertise: professional conceptual engineering 
design, Complete Streets concepts and principles, and project management as outlined in 
the RFP.  Project background and scope of work, including a project location map, are 
included in Attachment A. 

 
Minimum Qualifications of Personnel – The Consultant shall meet, at a minimum, the 
appropriate professional qualifications as required to complete the work outlined in the 
RFP and as required by State Law and the contract.  The responsible consultant/engineer 
shall sign all Plans, Specifications, Special Provisions, and Estimate (PS&E) and 
engineering data and reports furnished under the contract including the engineer’s 
registration number and expiration date. 

 
2. ATTACHMENTS 

The attachments below are included with this RFP.   
 

Attachment A – Project Background and Scope of Work 
Attachment B – Town of Los Gatos Standard Agreement 
 

 
3. INSTRUCTIONS TO PROPOSERS 

3.1 Pre-proposal Conference:   None 

3.2 Examination of Proposal Documents. 

The submission of a proposal shall be deemed a representation and certification by 
the Proposer that they:  
 
3.2.1 Have carefully read and fully understand the information that was provided 

by the Town to serve as the basis for submission of this proposal.  
3.2.2 Have the capability to successfully undertake and complete the 

responsibilities and obligations of the proposal being submitted.  
3.2.3 Represent that all information contained in the proposal is true and correct.  
3.2.4 Did not, in any way, collude, conspire to agree, directly or indirectly, with 

any person, firm, corporation or other Proposer in regard to the amount, 
terms or conditions of this proposal.  

3.2.5 Acknowledge that the Town has the right to make any inquiry it deems 
appropriate to substantiate or supplement information supplied by Proposer, 
and Proposer hereby grants the Town permission to make these inquiries, and 
to provide any and all related documentation in a timely manner.  

Page 16



 
RFP – Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets Conceptual Design    Page 3 
 

3.3 No request for modification of the proposal shall be considered after its submission 
on grounds that Proposer was not fully informed of any fact or condition.  

3.4 The Proposer bears all costs of preparing and submitting its proposal consistent 
with the requirements outlined in this RFP 

3.5 Questions 
Any questions by the Proposer regarding this RFP or the attachments must be put in 
writing and received by the Town per Item 5, RFP Timeline. Correspondence shall 
include in the email subject line: Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets 
Conceptual Design RFP and be addressed to: 
 
Ying Smith, Transportation and Mobility Manager 
E-mail:  ysmith@losgatosca.gov  

 
The Town shall not be responsible for nor be bound by any oral instructions, 
interpretations, or explanations issued by the Town or its representatives.  
 
Responses from the Town to questions by any Proposer will be communicated in 
writing to all recipients of this RFP.  Questions received after the date and time 
stated above will not be accepted or responded. 

3.6 Addenda 
Addenda to this RFP, if issued, will be sent to all prospective Consultants the Town 
of Los Gatos - Parks and Public Works Department has specifically e-mailed a copy 
of the RFP to and will be posted on the Town of Los Gatos - Parks and Public 
Works Department website at: https://www.losgatosca.gov/2258/RFPRFQ 

 
Submittal of Proposals 
Proposals should be in electronic format, submitted via email as attachment(s) with 
the email subject line:  Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets Conceptual 
Design.  Verification of receipt of proposal is the responsibility of the submitting 
firm.    
 
Proposals must be delivered per Item 5, RFP Timeline.  Town staff may request 
printed copies on a later date if necessary.  All proposals received after that time 
will not be accepted.  All proposals shall be submitted to:  

 
Ying Smith  
Department of Parks and Public Works  
41 Miles Avenue 
Los Gatos, CA 95030 
E-mail:  ysmith@losgatosca.gov  

3.7 Withdrawal of Proposals 
A Proposer may withdraw its proposal at any time before the expiration of the time 
for submittal of proposals as provided in the RFP by delivering a written request for 
withdrawal signed by, or on behalf of, the Proposer. 

Page 17



 
RFP – Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets Conceptual Design    Page 4 
 

 
3.8 Project Funding 

This phase of the project is funded with Town of Los Gatos dollars, requiring the 
Consultant to follow all pertinent local regulations.  
 

 
4. RIGHTS OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

This RFP does not commit the Town to enter into a contract, nor does it obligate the Town 
to pay for any costs incurred in preparation and submittal of proposals or in anticipation of 
a contract. The Town reserves the right to: 
▪ Make the selection based on its sole discretion;  
▪ Reject any and all proposals; 
▪ Issue subsequent Requests for Proposals; 
▪ Postpone opening proposals for its own convenience; 
▪ Remedy errors in the Request for Proposals process; 
▪ Approve or disapprove the use of particular subconsultants; 
▪ Negotiate with any, all or none of the Proposers regarding project scope; 
▪ Accept other than the lowest cost offer; 
▪ Waive informalities and irregularities in the Proposals; and/or 
▪ Enter into an agreement with another Proposer in the event the originally selected 

Proposer defaults or fails to execute an agreement with the Town. 
 

An agreement shall not be binding or valid with the Town unless and until it is executed by 
authorized representatives of the Town and of the Proposer. 

 
5. RFP TIMELINE 

The Town intends to select a firm within thirty days following the submission deadline.  
The Town may, at its own discretion, conduct interviews and other evaluations of some, 
all, or none of the applicants prior to selection.  The Town will select the firm that best 
meets the needs of the Town. 
 
RFP and Project Schedule (Tentative):  
 

Task Schedule 
Request for Proposal October 2, 2019 
Questions from Proposer October 9, 2019 
Town Response to questions from proposers October 14, 2019 
Deadline for Proposal Submittals October 28, 4:00 pm 
Interview (if required) November 6 - 8, 2019 
Selection of top-rated firms for scope refinement November 15, 2019 
Contract Award (Council) December 3, 2019 
Notice to Proceed (tentative) December 4, 2019 
First Draft Design April 1, 2020 
Final Delivery June 30, 2020 

 
 

Page 18



 
RFP – Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets Conceptual Design    Page 5 
 

6. INFORMATION TO BE SUBMITTED 
These guidelines govern the format and content of the proposal.  The intent of the RFP is to 
encourage responses that clearly communicate the Proposer’s understanding of the Town’s 
requirements and the firm’s ability to meet those requirements.  
 
In addition to the items included within this RFP, including Attachments A and B, the 
proposal should include the following information referenced by letter for ease of 
identification: 

 
6.1 Consultant Qualifications and Experience: Provide details of the team’s qualifications 

and experience, including any specific qualifications in Complete Streets design and 
engineering. Provide Examples of projects with similar scope. 
 

6.2 Organization and Approach: Describe the roles and organization of your proposed team 
for this project. Describe your project and management approach and identify the 
Project Manager. Describe the roles of key individuals on the team. Provide resumes 
and references for all key team members. 

 
6.3 Scope of Services: Prepare a detailed Scope of Services per Attachment A of the RFP. 

Describe project deliverables for each phase of your work. 
 

6.4 Schedule of Work: Provide a detailed schedule for all tasks/phases of the project and 
the proposed Consultant’s services, including time for reviews and approvals. The 
schedule shall meet the Project Schedule as shown in Item 5 of the RFP or shall be 
modified with explanation as to why an alternate schedule is being proposed.   

 
6.5 Cost Proposal:  All labor costs, overhead costs, sub-consultant costs, and direct 

expenses should be included.  Costs must be shown in a matrix format, by task 
grouping (as negotiated), and show hours per staff member, base labor rates, and 
overhead and profit rates. 

 
6.6 Identify any exceptions taken to Attachment B – Standard Agreement, per Item 8, 

Contract Type and Method of Payment. 
 

6.7 Additional supporting documentation as the proposer’s discretion. 
 
 

7.  EVALUATION CRITERIA AND SELECTION PROCESS 
Based on the proposals and interviews, proposers will be evaluated according to each 
Evaluation Criteria. The Evaluation Criteria Summary and their respective weights are as 
follows: 
 

No. Evaluation Criteria Weight 
1 Completeness of Response Pass/Fail 
2 Qualifications & Experience 20 
3 Organization & Approach 20 
4 Scope of Services to be Provided 25 

Page 19



 
RFP – Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets Conceptual Design    Page 6 
 

5 Schedule of Work 15 
6 Cost 20 

Total: 100 
 

After proposal evaluation and interviews, Town staff will meet with the top-rated firm(s) 
to discuss and develop a final scope of services and an updated cost proposal.  If the 
Town is unable to reach agreement with the top-rated firm, the Town may choose to 
negotiate with additional firms. 

 
8. CONTRACT TYPE AND METHOD OF PAYMENT 

It is anticipated that the agreement resulting from this RFP, if awarded, will be an 
Agreement for Services.  
 
Proposers shall be prepared to accept the terms and conditions of the Agreement, including 
Insurance Requirements.  If a Proposer desires to take exception to the Agreement, 
Proposer shall provide the following information of their submittal package.  
 
▪ Proposer shall clearly identify each proposed change to the Agreement, including all 

relevant Attachments. 
▪ Proposer shall furnish the reasons for each proposed change, as well as specific 

recommendations for alternative language. 
 

The above factors will be taken into account in evaluating proposals.  
 
The Town pays net 30 days of invoice for work performed. 
 

9. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
The selected Proposer(s), at Proposer’s sole cost and expense and for the full term of the 
agreement or any extension thereof, shall obtain and maintain, at a minimum, all of the 
insurance requirements as outlined in the Town Standard Agreement. 
 
All policies, endorsements, certificates and/or binders shall be subject to the approval of the 
Town of Los Gatos as to form and content.  These requirements are subject to amendment 
or waiver, if so approved in writing by the Town of Los Gatos.  The selected Proposer 
agrees to provide the Town with a copy of said policies, certificates and/or endorsement 
upon award of Agreement. 

 
10. PUBLIC NATURE OF PROPOSAL MATERIAL 

Responses to this RFP become the exclusive property of the Town of Los Gatos.  At such 
time as the Town awards a contract, all proposals received in response to this RFP become 
a matter of public record and shall be regarded as public records, with the exception of 
those elements in each proposal which are defined by the Proposer as business or trade 
secrets and plainly marked as “Confidential,” “Trade Secret,” or “Proprietary.”  The Town 
shall not in any way be liable or responsible for the disclosure of any such proposal or 
portions thereof, if they are not plainly marked as “Confidential,” “Trade Secret,” or 
“Proprietary,” or if disclosure, in the Town’s sole discretion, is required under the 
California Public Records Act as addressed below.  Any proposal which contains language 
purporting to render all or significant portions of the proposal “Confidential,” “Trade 

Page 20



 
RFP – Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets Conceptual Design    Page 7 
 

Secret,” or “Proprietary” shall be regarded as non-responsive. 
 
Although the California Public Records Act recognizes that certain confidential trade secret 
information may be protected from disclosure, the Town of Los Gatos may determine, in 
its sole discretion that the information that a Proposer submits is not a trade secret.  If a 
request is made for information marked “Confidential,” “Trade Secret,” or “Proprietary,” 
the Town shall provide the Proposer who submitted the information reasonable notice to 
allow the Proposer to seek protection from disclosure by a court of competent jurisdiction, 
at the Proposer's sole expense. 
 

11. COLLUSION 
By submitting a proposal, each Proposer represents and warrants that its proposal is 
genuine and made in the interest of or on behalf of any person named therein; that the 
Proposer has not directly induced or solicited any other person to submit a sham proposal 
or any other person to refrain from submitting a proposal; and that the Proposer has not in 
any manner sought collusion to secure any improper advantage over any other person 
submitting a proposal. 

 
12. DISQUALIFICATION 

Factors, such as, but not limited to, any of the following, may disqualify a proposal without 
further consideration: 
▪ Evidence of collusion, directly or indirectly, among Proposers in regard to the amount, 

terms or conditions of this proposal; 
▪ Any attempt to improperly influence any member of the evaluation team; 
▪ Existence of any lawsuit, unresolved contractual claim or dispute between Proposer and 

the Town; 
▪ Evidence of incorrect information submitted as part of the proposal; 
▪ Evidence of Proposer’s inability to successfully complete the responsibilities and 

obligations of the proposal; and 
▪ Proposer’s default under any previous agreement with the Town. 

 
13. NON-CONFORMING PROPOSAL 

A proposal shall be prepared and submitted in accordance with the provisions of these RFP 
instructions and specifications.  Any alteration, omission, addition, variance, or limitation 
of, from or to a proposal may be sufficient grounds for non-acceptance of the proposal, at 
the sole discretion of the Town. 

 
14. GRATUITIES 

No person shall offer, give or agree to give any Town employee any gratuity, discount or 
offer of employment in connection with the award of contract by the Town.  No Town 
employee shall solicit, demand, accept or agree to accept from any other person a gratuity, 
discount or offer of employment in connection with a Town contract. 

Page 21



ATTACHMENT A 
Project Background and Scope of Work 

Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets Conceptual Design 
 

Project Location and Limits 

The project is located on Winchester Boulevard between Blossom Hill Road and Knowles Drive in 
Los Gatos, as shown on Exhibit 1.  
 
Purpose and Needs 
 
Winchester Boulevard is a major arterial parallel to Highway 17, bordering the Town of Los 
Gatos and the City of Monte Sereno. For the most part between Blossom Hill Road and Knowles 
Drive (Town Limits), the street contains two travel lanes in each direction, sidewalks, and Class II 
bike lanes on both sides between Shelburne Way and Albright Way.   
 
Despite the Class II bike lanes and sidewalks, the street is considered a high stress street for 
bicyclists and pedestrians because of the high speed and high volume of automobile traffic. It 
envisioned that Winchester Boulevard can be improved with Complete Streets treatments, 
including enhanced bike lanes, pedestrian crossings, sidewalk improvements, pedestrian refuse 
islands, landscaped median, and intersection modifications for safer biking and walking. The goal 
of the Complete Streets improvements is to provide a safer and lower stress street that will 
encourage more biking and walking trips.  Additional considerations should be given to the 
venerable street users, including school-age children, the elderly and people with disabilities. 
Collectively, the improvements will minimizing the conflicts between the active transportation 
users and vehicles and discouraging vehicle speeding. It is anticipated that the improvements 
will shift a significant number of vehicle trips to bicycling and walking trips and reduce on-road 
vehicle emissions.   
 
The Complete Streets treatments should be master-designed, with construction completed over 
time. Completing the design for the entire corridor will help identify and cost out separate 
projects, some of which can be funded by various sources, including grant funds.  
 
The Los Gatos Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan (BPMP) identified two projects on Winchester 
Boulevard. The project is also endorsed by the City of Monte Sereno.  

#36 (prioritized): Class IV between Shelburne and Albright 
#33: Class IV between Albright and Knowles   

 
Scope of Work 

The vision for Winchester Boulevard is a Complete Streets corridor with upgraded bicycle and 
pedestrian facilities. Town intends to complete a corridor-level Conceptual Design work for the 
Complete Streets improvements.   

Page 22



 
The pavement is near the end of its useful life and new pavement improvements will be required 
in the next two to three years. Given the length and width of the street, pavement 
improvements will be expensive. The Conceptual Design work should consider re-configurating 
the street cross sections to narrow the travel lanes where appropriate, allow additional width 
for the bike lanes, and incorporate phasing of the construction projects to achieve efficiency and 
cost savings.   
 
The Town is pursuing grant funding for the construction of a Winchester Boulevard Class IV 
Protected Bike Lanes project. If funded, the Class IV protected bike lanes can be one of the first 
Complete Streets improvements that the Town implements over time. If the Town is successful 
in securing grant funds for the bicycle and pedestrian improvements, it can potentially lower the 
cost of pavement work. 
 
The next steps, Preliminary Engineering and Final Design of individual projects will be completed 
separately pending funding availability.    
 
Tasks and Deliverables 
 
The Town is soliciting a qualified engineering consultant to complete the scope of work 
described above and deliver the following tasks:  
 

1. Prepare a preliminary evaluation of the street and; 
2. Recommend and provide conceptual design of the most appropriate Complete Streets 

treatments; 
3. Prepare conceptual design of three typical cross sections; 
4. Support Town staff in outreach activities, including the preparation of exhibits and 

project information sheet, etc.; 
5. Recommend phasing options to maximize flexibility and efficiency in project delivery. 

 
Additional Information  
Exhibit 2 includes bicycle, pedestrian and traffic data and other background information. 
 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan (BPMP): 
https://www.losgatosca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/18924/Los-Gatos-BPMP_March-2017-
small?bidId= 
 
Student Travel Survey 2018: 
https://www.losgatosca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/22097/Student-Travel-Survey-Draft-
Report-and-Appendix-A-121018 

Page 23



L

O

S

 
G

A

T

O

S

 
-
 
A

L

M

A

D

E

N

 
R

D

B

L

O

S

S

O

M

 
H

I
L

L

 
R

D

L

O

S

 

G

A

T

O

S

-

S

A

R

A

T

O

G

A

 

R

D

W

I

N

C

H

E

S

T

E

R

 

B

L

V

D

D

A

V

E

S

 
A

V

W

I

N

C

H

E

S

T

E

R

 

B

L

V

D

KNOWLES DR

P
O

LLA
R

D
 R

D

P

O

L

L

A

R

D

 
R

D

L

A

R

K

 

A

V

E

U

N

I

V

E

R

S

I

T

Y

 

A

V

K

E

N

N

E

D

Y

 
R

D

S

H

A

N

N

O

N

 
R

D

E
. M

A
IN

 S
T

OLEANDER  AV

E

S

C

O

B

A

R

 
A

V

C

A

M

I
N

O

 
D

E

L

 
C

E

R

R

O

N

A

T

I
O

N

A

L

 
A

V

L

O

S

 

G

A

T

O

S

 

B

L

V

D

C
H

E
R

R
Y

 
B

L
O

S
S

O
M

 
L
N

E

N

G

L

E

W

O

O

D

 

A

V

C

A

L

D

W

E

L

L

 

A

V

Raymond J.

Fisher Middle

School

Van Meter Elem.

School

Blossom Hill

Elem. School

Vasona

County

ParkOak

Meadow

Park

H

W

Y

 
9

L

O

S

 

G

A

T

O

S

 

B

L

V

D

H

W

Y

 

1

7

H

W

Y

 

1

7

Daves Avenue

Elementary

School

LEGEND

Project Location Proposed Class IV Protected Bike Lanes 

Winchester Boulevard CS Conceptual Design Project Location TOWN OF LOS GATOS

SCALE: 1"=2000'

Page 24



 
  

 Page 1 of 7 
ATTACHMENT B 

AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES 
 
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into on  ______________(DATE) by and between TOWN 
OF LOS GATOS, a California municipal corporation, (“Town”) and ___________________ NAME OF 
COMPANY, (“Consultant”), whose address is _____________ ADDRESS OF COMPANY.  This 
Agreement is made with reference to the following facts.   
 

I. RECITALS 
 
1.1 The Town desires to engage Consultant to provide BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES TO BE 

PERFORMED. 
 
1.2 The Consultant represents and affirms that it is willing to perform the desired work 

pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
1.3 Consultant warrants it possesses the distinct professional skills, qualifications, experience, 

and resources necessary to timely perform the services described in this Agreement.  
Consultant acknowledges Town has relied upon these warranties to retain Consultant. 

 
II. AGREEMENTS 

 
2.1 Scope of Services.  Consultant shall provide services as described in that certain NAME OF 

DOCUMENT (EX: ENGAGEMENT LETTER, PROPOSAL, ETC.) sent to the Town on DATE 
DOCUMENT SENT, which is hereby incorporated by reference and attached as Exhibit A.  IF 
NO DOCUMENT DESCRIBES SERVICES, then INSERT DESCRIPTION OF WHAT CONSULTANT 
WILL BE DOING HERE. 

 
2.2 Term and Time of Performance.  This contract will remain in effect from _____ to 

________.  Consultant shall perform the services described in this agreement as follows: 
ENTER DESCRIPTION OF SERVICE SCHEDULE. 

 
2.3 Compliance with Laws.  The Consultant shall comply with all applicable laws, codes, 

ordinances, and regulations of governing federal, state and local laws.  Consultant 
represents and warrants to Town that it has all licenses, permits, qualifications and 
approvals of whatsoever nature which are legally required for Consultant to practice its 
profession.  Consultant shall maintain a Town of Los Gatos business license pursuant to 
Chapter 14 of the Code of the Town of Los Gatos. 

 
2.4 Sole Responsibility.  Consultant shall be responsible for employing or engaging all persons 

necessary to perform the services under this Agreement. 
 
2.5 Information/Report Handling.  All documents furnished to Consultant by the Town and all 

reports and supportive data prepared by the Consultant under this Agreement are the 
Town’s property and shall be delivered to the Town upon the completion of Consultant's 

Page 25



 
  

 Page 2 of 7 
ATTACHMENT B 

services or at the Town's written request.  All reports, information, data, and exhibits 
prepared or assembled by Consultant in connection with the performance of its services 
pursuant to this Agreement are confidential until released by the Town to the public, and 
the Consultant shall not make any of the these documents or information available to any 
individual or organization not employed by the Consultant or the Town without the 
written consent of the Town before such release.  The Town acknowledges that the 
reports to be prepared by the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement are for the purpose 
of evaluating a defined project, and Town's use of the information contained in the reports 
prepared by the Consultant in connection with other projects shall be solely at Town's risk, 
unless Consultant expressly consents to such use in writing.  Town further agrees that it 
will not appropriate any methodology or technique of Consultant which is and has been 
confirmed in writing by Consultant to be a trade secret of Consultant.  

 
2.6 Compensation.  Compensation for Consultant's professional services shall not exceed 

$AMOUNT, inclusive of all costs.  Payment shall be based upon Town approval of each 
task. 

 
2.7 Billing.  Billing shall be monthly by invoice within thirty (30) days of the rendering of the 

service and shall be accompanied by a detailed explanation of the work performed by 
whom at what rate and on what date.  Also, plans, specifications, documents or other 
pertinent materials shall be submitted for Town review, even if only in partial or draft 
form.  

      
Payment shall be net thirty (30) days.  All invoices and statements to the Town shall be 
addressed as follows:   

 
Invoices:      
Town of Los Gatos 

 
 

Attn:  Accounts Payable 
P.O. Box 655 
Los Gatos, CA  95031-0655 

 
2.8 Availability of Records.  Consultant shall maintain the records supporting this billing for not 

less than three years following completion of the work under this Agreement.  Consultant 
shall make these records available to authorized personnel of the Town at the Consultant's 
offices during business hours upon written request of the Town. 

 
2.9 Assignability and Subcontracting.  The services to be performed under this Agreement are 

unique and personal to the Consultant.  No portion of these services shall be assigned or 
subcontracted without the written consent of the Town. 

2.10 Independent Contractor.  It is understood that the Consultant, in the performance of the 
work and services agreed to be performed, shall act as and be an independent contractor 
and not an agent or employee of the Town.  As an independent contractor he/she shall not 
obtain any rights to retirement benefits or other benefits which accrue to Town 

Page 26



 
  

 Page 3 of 7 
ATTACHMENT B 

employee(s).  With prior written consent, the Consultant may perform some obligations 
under this Agreement by subcontracting, but may not delegate ultimate responsibility for 
performance or assign or transfer interests under this Agreement. Consultant agrees to 
testify in any litigation brought regarding the subject of the work to be performed under 
this Agreement.  Consultant shall be compensated for its costs and expenses in preparing 
for, traveling to, and testifying in such matters at its then current hourly rates of 
compensation, unless such litigation is brought by Consultant or is based on allegations of 
Consultant's negligent performance or wrongdoing.  

 
2.11 Conflict of Interest.  Consultant understands that its professional responsibilities are solely 

to the Town.  The Consultant has and shall not obtain any holding or interest within the 
Town of Los Gatos.  Consultant has no business holdings or agreements with any individual 
member of the Staff or management of the Town or its representatives nor shall it enter 
into any such holdings or agreements.  In addition, Consultant warrants that it does not 
presently and shall not acquire any direct or indirect interest adverse to those of the Town 
in the subject of this Agreement, and it shall immediately disassociate itself from such an 
interest, should it discover it has done so and shall, at the Town's sole discretion, divest 
itself of such interest.  Consultant shall not knowingly and shall take reasonable steps to 
ensure that it does not employ a person having such an interest in this performance of this 
Agreement.  If after employment of a person, Consultant discovers it has employed a 
person with a direct or indirect interest that would conflict with its performance of this 
Agreement, Consultant shall promptly notify Town of this employment relationship, and 
shall, at the Town's sole discretion, sever any such employment relationship. 

 
2.12 Equal Employment Opportunity.  Consultant warrants that it is an equal opportunity 

employer and shall comply with applicable regulations governing equal employment 
opportunity.  Neither Consultant nor its subcontractors do and neither shall discriminate 
against persons employed or seeking employment with them on the basis of age, sex, 
color, race, marital status, sexual orientation, ancestry, physical or mental disability, 
national origin, religion, or medical condition, unless based upon a bona fide occupational 
qualification pursuant to the California Fair Employment & Housing Act. 

 
III. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION 

 
3.1 Minimum Scope of Insurance: 
 

i. Consultant agrees to have and maintain, for the duration of the contract, 
General Liability insurance policies insuring him/her and his/her firm to an 
amount not less than:  one million dollars ($1,000,000) combined single 
limit per occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage. 

 
ii. Consultant agrees to have and maintain for the duration of the contract, an 

Automobile Liability insurance policy ensuring him/her and his/her staff to 

Page 27



 
  

 Page 4 of 7 
ATTACHMENT B 

an amount not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) combined single 
limit per accident for bodily injury and property damage. 

 
iii. Consultant shall provide to the Town all certificates of insurance, with 

original endorsements effecting coverage.  Consultant agrees that all 
certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by the 
Town before work commences. 

 
iv. Consultant agrees to have and maintain, for the duration of the contract, 

professional liability insurance in amounts not less than $1,000,000 which is 
sufficient to insure Consultant for professional errors or omissions in the 
performance of the particular scope of work under this agreement. 

 
General Liability: 

 
i. The Town, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers are to be covered 

as insured as respects:  liability arising out of activities performed by or on 
behalf of the Consultant; products and completed operations of Consultant, 
premises owned or used by the Consultant.  This requirement does not 
apply to the professional liability insurance required for professional errors 
and omissions. 

 
ii. The Consultant's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respects 

the Town, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers.  Any insurance or 
self-insurances maintained by the Town, its officers, officials, employees or 
volunteers shall be excess of the Consultant's insurance and shall not 
contribute with it. 

 
iii. Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall not 

affect coverage provided to the Town, its officers, officials, employees or 
volunteers. 

 
iv. The Consultant's insurance shall apply separately to each insured against 

whom a claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of 
the insurer's liability. 

 
3.2 All Coverages.  Each insurance policy required in this item shall be endorsed to state that 

coverage shall not be suspended, voided, cancelled, reduced in coverage or in limits except 
after thirty (30) days' prior written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, has 
been given to the Town.  Current certification of such insurance shall be kept on file at all 
times during the term of this agreement with the Town Clerk. 

 

Page 28



 
  

 Page 5 of 7 
ATTACHMENT B 

3.3 Workers’ Compensation.  In addition to these policies, Consultant shall have and maintain 
Workers' Compensation insurance as required by California law and shall provide evidence 
of such policy to the Town before beginning services under this Agreement. Further, 
Consultant shall ensure that all subcontractors employed by Consultant provide the 
required Workers' Compensation insurance for their respective employees. 

 
3.4 Indemnification.  The Consultant shall save, keep, hold harmless and indemnify and defend 

the Town its officers, agent, employees and volunteers from all damages, liabilities, 
penalties, costs, or expenses in law or equity that may at any time arise or be set up 
because of damages to property or personal injury received by reason of, or in the course 
of performing work which may be occasioned by a willful or negligent act or omissions of 
the Consultant, or any of the Consultant's officers, employees, or agents or any 
subconsultant.  

 
IV.  GENERAL TERMS 

 
4.1 Waiver.  No failure on the part of either party to exercise any right or remedy hereunder 

shall operate as a waiver of any other right or remedy that party may have hereunder, nor 
does waiver of a breach or default under this Agreement constitute a continuing waiver of 
a subsequent breach of the same or any other provision of this Agreement.  

 
4.2 Governing Law.  This Agreement, regardless of where executed, shall be governed by and 

construed to the laws of the State of California. Venue for any action regarding this 
Agreement shall be in the Superior Court of the County of Santa Clara.  

 
4.3 Termination of Agreement.  The Town and the Consultant shall have the right to terminate 

this agreement with or without cause by giving not less than fifteen days (15) written 
notice of termination.  In the event of termination, the Consultant shall deliver to the 
Town all plans, files, documents, reports, performed to date by the Consultant.  In the 
event of such termination, Town shall pay Consultant an amount that bears the same ratio 
to the maximum contract price as the work delivered to the Town bears to completed 
services contemplated under this Agreement, unless such termination is made for cause, 
in which event, compensation, if any, shall be adjusted in light of the particular facts and 
circumstances involved in such termination.  

 
4.4 Amendment.  No modification, waiver, mutual termination, or amendment of this 

Agreement is effective unless made in writing and signed by the Town and the Consultant. 
 
4.5 Disputes.  In any dispute over any aspect of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be 

entitled to reasonable attorney's fees, including costs of appeal. 
 
 
 

Page 29



 
  

 Page 6 of 7 
ATTACHMENT B 

 
 
4.6 Notices.  Any notice required to be given shall be deemed to be duly and properly given if 

mailed postage prepaid, and addressed to: 
 

Town of Los Gatos 
Attn:  Town Clerk 
110 E. Main Street 
Los Gatos, CA  95030 

CONSULTANT NAME  
Attn:   
ADDRESS HERE

 
or personally delivered to Consultant to such address or such other address as Consultant 
designates in writing to Town. 

 
4.7 Order of Precedence.  In the event of any conflict, contradiction, or ambiguity between the 

terms and conditions of this Agreement in respect of the Products or Services and any 
attachments to this Agreement, then the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall 
prevail over attachments or other writings. 

 
4.8 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including all Exhibits, constitutes the complete and 

exclusive statement of the Agreement between the Town and Consultant. No terms, 
conditions, understandings or agreements purporting to modify or vary this Agreement, 
unless hereafter made in writing and signed by the party to be bound, shall be binding on 
either party. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 30



 
  

 Page 7 of 7 
ATTACHMENT B 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Town and Consultant have executed this Agreement.  
 
Town of Los Gatos by:           
 
 
 
Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager           
      
 
Recommended by: 
 
 
Matt Morley, Director of Parks and Public 
Works 

 
 
Consultant, by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Name and Title 
 

 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney 
 
 
 
Attest:  
 
 
 
Shelley Neis, CMC, Town Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



Resolution 20  -  October 1, 2019 
1 of 2 

 

 

RESOLUTION 2019- 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
 IN SUPPORT OF AN APPLICATION TO THE BAY AREA AIR QUALITY 

MANAGEMENT DISTRICT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2020 PILOT TRIP REDUCTION 
GRANT PROGRAM FUNDS 

 
WHEREAS, the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) has developed 

guidelines for the purpose of administering and distributing Transportation Fund for Clean 

Air regional funds for Pilot Trip Reduction Grant Program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Los Gatos as an eligible project sponsor may receive 

funding from for eligible projects funded by the Pilot Trip Reduction Grant Program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Los Gatos recognizes the potential trip-reduction benefits 

of upgrading bicycle facilities and has submitted a proposed project called Winchester 

Boulevard Class IV Protected Bike Lanes; and 

 
WHEREAS, BAAQMD requires project sponsors to provide a resolution from the 

project sponsor's governing body that authorizes the submittal of the application, 

identifies the individual authorized to submit and carry out the proposal, and commits the 

sponsoring agency to provide all necessary funds to undertake the project including 

matching funds; and 

 

WHEREAS, Town of Los Gatos wishes to delegate authorization to execute all 

required documents associated with the administration of any Pilot Trip Reduction grant 

funding received and any amendments thereto to the Town Manager or his/her designee; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos 

that the agency authorize the development and implementation of the Winchester 

Boulevard Class IV Protected Bike Lanes Project and comply with all conditions and 

requirements as may be set forth by the Bay Area Air Quality Management District in 

conjunction with receiving Pilot Trip Reduction grant funds; and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos hereby 

commits to providing all necessary matching funds required to undertake the project. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 2 

Page 32



 

2 of 2  
 Resolution 20  -  October 1, 2019 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los 

Gatos, California, held on the 1st day of October 2019 by the following vote: 

 
COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 

       SIGNED: 
 
 
 

      MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
       DATE: __________________ 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
TOWN CLERK OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
DATE: __________________ 

 

 

Page 33



 

PREPARED BY: Lisa Petersen 
 Assistant Director of Parks and Public Works/Town Engineer 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director, and Parks and 
Public Works Director 

   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 5 

 
   

 

DATE:   September 19, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Authorize Actions for the Los Gatos Creek Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead 
Connector Project 411-832-4505: 
a. Authorize the Town Manager to Execute an Agreement for Consultant 

Services with Mott MacDonald Group, Inc. for Professional Design Services 
for the Los Gatos Creek Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead Connector Project 18-
832-4505 in an Amount Not to Exceed $486,747. 

b. Authorize an Expenditure Budget Transfer of $130,000 from the Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Improvement Project Budget (411-813-0231) to the Los 
Gatos Creek Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead Connector Project (411-832-
4505). 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Authorize actions for the Los Gatos Creek Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead Connector Project 18-
832-4505: 
a. Authorize the Town Manager to execute an Agreement for Consultant Services with Mott 

MacDonald Group, Inc., for professional design services for the Los Gatos Creek Trail to 
Highway 9 Trailhead Connector Project in an amount not to exceed $486,747. 

b. Authorize an expenditure budget transfer of $130,000 from the Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Improvement Project budget (411-813-0231) to the Los Gatos Creek Trail to Highway 9 
Trailhead Connector Project (411-832-4505). 

  
BACKGROUND: 
 
On March 7, 2017 the Town Council adopted the Town of Los Gatos Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Master Plan.  One high priority bike recommendation in the Master Plan was the construction 
of a direct connection to the Los Gatos Creek Trail from Highway 9.  The Trailhead Connector 
Project is included in the 2019/2020 – 2023/2024 Capital Improvement Program. 
 

Page 34



PAGE 2 OF 4 
SUBJECT: Authorize Actions for the Los Gatos Creek Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead 

Connector Project 18-832-4505 
DATE:  September 19, 2019 
 
BACKGROUND (continued): 
 
On June 20, 2017, the Town Council authorized the Town Manager to file an application for 
funding for the Los Gatos Creek Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead Connector Project from the non-
competitive One Bay Area Grant (OBAG) Cycle II funding, and to issue a request for proposals 
(RFP) for the design of the project.  Additionally, the Town Council adopted a resolution 
committing any necessary matching funds and stating assurance to complete the project.   
 
The project was subsequently awarded OBAG funding in the amount of $343,000 and required 
local matching funds of $44,440 for a total project budget of $387,440. 
 
On February 15, 2019, a Request for Proposals for professional engineering design services for 
the Trailhead Connector Project was released.  The RFP process followed the required strict 
federal guidelines for the project to remain eligible for the federal reimbursement.  On March 
28, 2019, proposals were received from three professional engineering design firms.  Town staff 
interviewed all three consultant project teams pursuant to the required federal process, and 
selected Mott MacDonald Group, Inc. as the most qualified firm to complete the project design.   
 
DISCUSSION: 

The attached Agreement for Consultant Services, including the scope of services and associated 
cost proposals, have been negotiated with Mott MacDonald Group, Inc.  The RFP process and 
the proposed contract have been reviewed and approved by the Caltrans Office of Local 
Assistance for the Town’s consideration of award.  Additionally, the consultant and 
subconsultants cost proposals and financial documents have been reviewed and approved by 
the Caltrans Independent Office of Audits and Investigations.  
 
The anticipated cost to complete the scope of services determined to be necessary for the 
design of the Los Gatos Creek Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead Connector Project is $486,747. 
Funding for the construction of the project has not yet been identified; however, projects that 
show significant design progress will be more competitive for construction funding in the 
upcoming Measure B funding cycle.  Should the Town Council approve the Consultant Service 
Contract with Mott MacDonald Group, Inc., it is anticipated the design will begin immediately 
and will be complete by November of 2020.   
 
Future Public Outreach 
 
The contract also includes support services from the consultant for outreach to the community 
regarding the project.  The Town anticipates the consultant facilitating one meeting with the  
public and one meeting with appropriate Town Commissions.  Additionally, staff will notify and 
update the community on the project and anticipated public meetings through letters to 
 

Page 35



PAGE 3 OF 4 
SUBJECT: Authorize Actions for the Los Gatos Creek Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead 

Connector Project 18-832-4505 
DATE:  September 19, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 

adjacent neighbors, NextDoor, and through a dedicated Town webpage.  Additional outreach 
will be included as needed during design.  Staff anticipates returning to the Town Council for 
approval of the final design in December of 2020. 
 
CONCLUSION: 

Authorizing the Town Manager to execute the Consultant Services Agreement for the Los Gatos 
Creek Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead Connector Project and approving the necessary budget 
adjustment will allow the Trailhead Connector Project to move forward into design and will 
move the Town closer to the completion of one of the major priority improvements identified 
in the Town’s Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan.  Additionally, by initiating the design work, it 
is anticipated that the Trailhead Connector Project will become more competitive for 
construction funding in the upcoming Measure B call for projects.   
 
ALTERNATIVES: 

The Council could choose to add additional design scope to the consultant agreement.  As 
federal funds have been allocated to the design of this project, the draft contract, cost 
proposals, and scope of services have been required to be submitted to various Caltrans offices 
for review and approval prior to any Town Council action.  Any modifications would require 
renegotiations with the consultant and resubmission of these items to the appropriate Caltrans 
offices for review and approval.  This would add a significant time delay to the design of the 
project which could jeopardize the federal funding allocated to the project.   
 
COORDINATION: 

The proposed Consultant Services Agreement has been reviewed with the Town Attorney’s 
Office and the proposed budget adjustment has been coordinated with the Finance 
Department.  Additionally, the project is required to comply with the requirements for federally 
funded projects and has been coordinated with the Caltrans Office of Local Assistance.    
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

The Trailhead Connector Project has been identified in the FY 2019/2020 Capital Improvement 
Project with funding of $387,440.   The proposed budget adjustment would redistribute 
$130,000 from the Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvement Project to the Los Gatos Creek Trail to 
Highway 9 Trailhead Connector Project for a total project budget of $517,440.  

In house staffing for project management will be conducted by part time temporary staff 
retained for this project specifically.  The use of this staffing model allows for the delivery of  

Page 36



PAGE 4 OF 4 
SUBJECT: Authorize Actions for the Los Gatos Creek Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead 

Connector Project 18-832-4505 
DATE:  September 19, 2019 
 
FISCAL IMPACT (continued): 

projects above and beyond the capacity of Department staffing.  The additional staffing will be 
billed directly to the project.  

  

Trailhead Connector 
Project 832-4505 

  Budget Costs 

OBAG Cycle II Grant  $ 343,000    
GFAR (Grant Match)  $    44,226    

Proposed Budget Transfer   $ 130,000    

Total Budget  $ 517,226    

      

Mott MacDonald Group, Inc. Contract     $ 486,747  

Staff Costs    $    30,000  

Total Expenditures    $ 516,747  

      

Remaining Balance    $         479  

 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

Actions approving the consultant services agreement and budget adjustment are not a project 
as defined under CEQA, and no further action is required.   The consultant hired will complete 
the CEQA process for the Los Gatos Creek Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead Connector Project.   

 
Attachment: 
1. Agreement for Consultant Services – Los Gatos Creek Trail to Highway 9 Trailhead 

Connector Project 18-832-4505 

Page 37



ATTACHMENT 1

Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



 

PREPARED BY: Steve Regan 
 Superintendent 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director, and Director 
of Parks and Public Works 

   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 406-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/1/2019 

ITEM NO: 6  

 
   

 

DATE:   October 1, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to Purchase Two Vehicles from Downtown Ford 
Sales in an Amount Not to Exceed $126,376 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Authorize the Town Manager to purchase two vehicles from Downtown Ford Sales in an 
amount not to exceed $126,376. 

BACKGROUND: 
 
As part of the Fiscal Year 2019/20 Operating Budget, the Equipment Replacement Fund was 
approved, providing funds for replacement of high mileage or older vehicles that have reached 
their replacement criteria or do not meet federal regulations for emissions.  The Town 
amortizes a vehicle’s replacement over its forecasted life and sets funds aside on an annual 
basis to ensure the Equipment Replacement Fund has sufficient resources for the timely 
replacement of vehicles.  In addition, this funding structure allows for a smoothing of operating 
expenditures and a more accurate reflection of the actual cost of operations.   
 
The Town Vehicle and Equipment Acquisition and Replacement Policy (Attachment 1) 
determines which assets should be replaced by evaluating predetermined age and/or mileage 
criteria.  
 
Fleet vehicle replacement purchases are reviewed annually through the Operating Budget and 
approved as part of the budget process.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT:  Authorize the Town Manager to Purchase Two Vehicles from Downtown Ford 

Sales in an Amount Not to Exceed $126,376 

DATE:  October 1, 2019 
 
BACKGROUND (continued): 
 
The recommended action addresses two assets approved to be replaced in the Parks and Public 
Works Department.  One vehicle is assigned to Park Services, a 2007 Ford F250 pickup with  
76,234 miles, and the second vehicle assigned to the Street Division a, 2008 Ford F250 pickup 
with 82,757 miles.  The vehicles currently meet the replacement criteria based on miles and 
years of service and the identifying criteria for replacement, which is eleven years and/or 
72,000 miles. 
 
DISCUSSION: 

Staff reviewed multiple vehicle models to determine the best options for replacement taking 
into consideration several factors, including staff’s need and use for the vehicle, the vehicle’s 
fuel consumption, and the overall cost.   
 
For the Parks Maintenance vehicle, the primary use entails daily service to parks where staff 
requires access to a variety of tools, irrigation supplies, and playground parts, as well as vehicle 
capacity in the truck bed for hauling waste and small motorized equipment for maintenance 
operations. 
 
The Streets Maintenance Program is responsible for maintaining roads, trails and the Heinz 
Open Space.  The replacement vehicle includes a four-wheel drive system to allow staff the 
ability to access the hillside area year around.  Currently, the Department is unable to tow any 
equipment up the steep gravel roads to respond to downed trees and mud slides, providing 
challenges for service response and mitigation of fire hazards.  Additionally, the new vehicles 
incorporate a mechanical liftgate which allows for one person to load heavy or cumbersome 
objects into the bed of the vehicle to increase efficiency and to reduce possible injuries to staff. 
 
In accordance with the Town’s Purchasing Policy, Section 7c (Cooperative Purchasing), the 
purchase of these vehicles is based on a formal bid process completed by the State of California 
Department of General Services, which allows for other municipalities to purchase vehicles 
using their formal bid proposal documents (Attachment 2). 
 
CONCLUSION: 

Staff recommends that the Town Council authorize the Town Manager to purchase two vehicles 
from Downtown Ford Sales in an amount not to exceed $126,376. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

There are sufficient funds available in the Equipment Replacement Fund to purchase these 
vehicles.   

Page 119



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT:  Authorize the Town Manager to Purchase Two Vehicles from Downtown Ford 

Sales in an Amount Not to Exceed $126,376 

DATE:  October 1, 2019 
 
 

ALTERNATIVE:  
 
Alternatively, the Town Council could direct staff to delay replacement of the vehicles.  Staff 
does not recommend this alternative as the vehicles have reached the end of their useful life  
and the lack of the four-wheel drive vehicle impacts daily productivity specific to responding to 
incidents within the open space and trails. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachments: 
1. Town Vehicle and Equipment Acquisition and Replacement Policy 
2. Bid Proposal Documents 
 

Page 120



ATTACHMENT 1 

COUNCIL POLICY MANUAL 
 

TITLE: Town Vehicle and Equipment Acquisition and 
Replacement Policy 

POLICY NUMBER: 4-05 

EFFECTIVE DATE: 4/6/1994 PAGES: 3 

ENABLING ACTIONS: REVISED DATES: 5/26/1998 

APPROVED: Mayor Linda Lubeck 

PURPOSE 

To set forth specific procedures for the acquisition and disposal of vehicle and motorized 
equipment used by the Town of Los Gatos. 

SCOPE 

This policy will apply to the acquisition and disposal of vehicles and equipment used by all Town 
Departments. 

POLICY 

When purchasing vehicles or motorized equipment or disposing of surplus vehicles and 
equipment, the following will apply: 

A. Replacement of vehicles and motorized equipment is based on an equipment replacement
schedule that allows for replacement on a programmed cycle.  The recommended basis is as
follows:

Vehicle/Equipment Type Replacement Cycle 

Police Patrol  3 years and/or 85,000 miles 
Police Undercover (used, 1 to 2 years old) 4 years and/or 75,000 miles 
Police Sedans (used, 1 to 2 years old) 4 years and/or 75,000 miles 
Motor Cycles  4 years and/or 42,000 miles 
Parking Vehicles 6 years and/or 75,000 miles 
All-Terrain Vehicle 8 years and/or 50,000 miles 
Police Vans 6 years and/or 85,000 miles 
Sedans (new)  8 years and/or 85,000 miles 

Small Town Service Community Stewardship Future Focus 

Page 121



TITLE: Town Vehicle and Equipment Acquisition and 
Replacement Policy 
  

PAGE: 
2 of 3 

 

POLICY NUMBER: 
4-05 

 

Vehicle/Equipment Type     Replacement Cycle 
 
Sedans (used 1 to 2 years old)    6 years and/or 85,000 miles 
Pickups (gas)       8 years and/or 72,000 miles 
Pickups (diesel)      12 years and/or 100,000 miles 
Medium Trucks (gas)      8 years and/or 80,000 miles 
Medium Trucks (diesel)     12 years and/or 100,000 miles 
Heavy Trucks (gas)      8 years and/or 80,000 miles 
Heavy Trucks (diesel)      15 years and/or 100,000 miles 
Lawn Mowers       6 years 
Roadable Mowers      8 years 
Vans        8 years and/or 100,000 miles 
Sweepers       6 years and/or 65,000 miles 
Backhoes       10 years and/or 7,000 hours 
Loaders       12 years and/or 7,200 hours 
Graders       20 years and/or 9,000 hours 
Aerial Units       12 years and/or 80,000 miles 
Chippers       10 years and/or 5,000 hours 
Compressors       12 years and/or 5,000 hours 
Forklifts       17 years and/or 9,000 hours 
Rollers        15 years 
Trailers       10 years 
Sprayers       8 years 
Sewer Cleaners      6 years 
Rodders       10 years 
 
The equipment/replacement list will be used as a guideline in the replacement of vehicles and 
equipment.  Other factors that will be used in the evaluation process include: 
 
1. Overall conditions of vehicles and equipment 
2. Repair records. 
3. Vehicle efficiency and safety. 
4. Service life related to extended use in other departments. 
 
B. COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM: 
 

When purchasing vehicles and equipment, the town of Los Gatos will invite vendors (local 
and non-local) to submit bids.  Where applicable, the Town will use the State of California 
Cooperative Purchasing Program. 

 
 
 

Page 122



TITLE: Town Vehicle and Equipment Acquisition and 
Replacement Policy 
  

PAGE: 
3 of 3 

 

POLICY NUMBER: 
4-05 

 

C. SPECIFICATIONS: 
 
The Department of Parks and Public Works will review all specifications for vehicles and 
motorized equipment to be purchased by the Town of Los Gatos.  Specifications will be 
prepared based on user needs, operating costs, safety factors, life expectancy, new 
technology, availability, and cost.  When applicable, performance standards will be included 
in the specification writing process. 

 
D. VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT DISPOSAL: 
 

Disposal may take place via trade-in when vehicles or equipment are purchased.  If the 
trade-in offer is deemed insufficient, the Town will advertise and surplus items at a 
minimum pre-determined price.  When possible, staff will try to offer specialized vehicles, 
such as Police patrol cars, to agencies that need such equipment but may not be able to 
purchase new equipment.  Prior to the disposal of vehicle or equipment, the Parks and 
Public Works Department will determine if reassignment to another department is 
warranted. 

 
E. RESPONSIBILITY: 
 

All applicable departments within the Town of Los Gatos who are assigned vehicles or 
motorized equipment may be involved in the procurement/disposal process. 
 
1. Finance personnel and the Town Manager shall review the equipment replacement list 

annually to ensure that replacement costs for vehicles and equipment are current and 
in-line with long-term replacement needs. 

2. Each Department is responsible for requesting vehicle or equipment replacement during 
the annual budget process. 

3. The Parks and Public Works Department will prepare vehicle specifications for all Town 
Departments except the Police Department. 

4. The Parks and Public Works Department will review all Town specifications for vehicles 
and motorized equipment. 

5. Disposal or reassignment of surplus vehicles and equipment will be coordinated by the 
Parks and Public Works Department. 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
   ________ 
/s/ Orry Korb, Town Attorney 

Page 123



ATTACHMENT 2

Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



 

PREPARED BY: Jocelyn Shoopman 
 Associate Planner 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 406-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 7  

 
   

 

DATE:   September 23, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Town Code Amendment Application A-19-006.  Project Location: Town Wide.  
Applicant: Town of Los Gatos. 
Adopt amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code 
regarding Parking Assessment District regulations.   

 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Adopt amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding Parking 
Assessment District regulations (Attachment 1).  
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
On September 17, 2019, the Council considered and voted to introduce an Ordinance amending 
Chapter 29 of the Town Code regarding Parking Assessment District regulations.  Adoption of 
the attached Ordinance (Attachment 1) would finalize that decision.  
 
 
Attachment: 
1. Draft Ordinance 

Page 130



1 of 4  

 Ordinance   October 1, 2019 

 

DRAFT ORDINANCE  
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
AMENDING CHAPTER 29 (ZONING REGULATIONS) OF THE TOWN CODE  

REGARDING PARKING ASSESSMENT DISTRICT REGULATIONS 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council would like to streamline the land use process to reduce the 

time and cost impacts for businesses and residences;   

WHEREAS, Section 29.10.150 of the Town Code states that parking spaces that are 

credited in the Parking Assessment District calculation may not be eliminated; 

WHEREAS, removal of on-site parking spaces in the Parking Assessment District requires 

a Variance application when commercial uses are converted to a residential use; 

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments will reduce cost and processing time for 

conversion of a commercial use to a residential use with less intensive parking requirements; 

WHEREAS, this matter was regularly noticed in conformance with State and Town law 

and came before the Planning Commission for public hearing on August 14, 2019;  

WHEREAS, on August 14, 2019, the Planning Commission reviewed the proposed 

amendment regarding Parking Assessment District regulations and forwarded a 

recommendation to the Town Council for approval of the proposed amendments;  

 WHEREAS, this matter was regularly noticed in conformance with State and Town law 

and came before the Town Council for public hearing on September 17, 2019; and  

 WHEREAS, on September 17, 2019, the Town Council reviewed and commented on the 

proposed amendments regarding Parking Assessment District regulations and the Town Council 

voted to introduce an Ordinance.

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

Draft Ordinance: subject to 
modification by Town Council 

based on 
deliberations and direction 

 

Page 131



 

2 of 4  

 Ordinance   October 1, 2019 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, THE PEOPLE OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS AND THE TOWN 
COUNCIL DO HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:  

 
SECTION I 

 
Section 29.10.150 of Town Code Chapter 29 are hereby amended to read as follows:   

 

Sec. 29.10.150. – Number of off-street spaces required. 

… 
 
(f) Properties in parking districts. Required spaces in parking districts shall be as follows:  

 
(1) For any building or open-air use in a public parking district, the number of required off-
street  

parking spaces is:  
 
a.  None, when the gross floor area of the building and open area occupied by a use,  

combined, do not exceed the area of the building and open area occupied when the 
district is formed; or  

b.  When the area limitation in subsection (f)(1)a. is exceeded or the use is intensified, the 
required number is derived only on the basis of the excess area.  

 
(2) The creation of a parking assessment district relieves those properties located within the  

district which were nonconforming as to parking from having to supply on-site parking  
spaces in accordance with subsection (b).  
 

(3) The assessment formula was based on a number of factors that included existing floor area,  
existing use, in some cases potential floor area and included credits for existing on-site 
parking spaces and for participation in past assessment districts.  
 

(4) The Planning Director shall develop a table using the floor area, parking and previous  
assessment district information used to calculate the parking assessment and translating 
that information into a parking credit based on the parking requirements set forth in 
subsection (b).  
 
When an application is filed to intensify the use within an existing building or to expand an 
existing building, this information will be used to calculate the amount of on-site parking, if 
any, that will be necessary to comply with the parking requirements set forth in subsection 
(b).  

 
(5) Any on-site parking spaces that are credited in the parking assessment district calculation  

Page 132



 

3 of 4  

 Ordinance   October 1, 2019 

 

may not be eliminated, unless the use is changed to a residential use that does not  
require the existing on-site parking spaces. 

… 

SECTION II 

With respect to compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the 

Town Council finds as follows:  

A. These Town Code amendments are not subject to review under CEQA 

pursuant to sections and 15061(b)(3), in that it can be seen with certainty that there is no 

possibility that the proposed amendment to the Town Code would have significant impact on 

the environment; and 

B. The proposed Town Code amendment is consistent with the General Plan 

and its Elements.  

 SECTION III 

If any provision of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or 

circumstance is held invalid, such invalidly shall not affect other provisions or applications of 

the ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this 

end the provisions of this ordinance are severable.  This Town Council hereby declares that it 

would have adopted this ordinance irrespective of the invalidity of any particular portion 

thereof and intends that the invalid portions should be severed and the balance of the 

ordinance be enforced.  

SECTION IV 

Except as expressly modified in this Ordinance, all other sections set forth in the Los 

Gatos Town Code shall remain unchanged and shall be in full force and effect.   

 

SECTION V 

This Ordinance was introduced at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of 

Los Gatos on September 17, 2019, and adopted by the following vote as an ordinance of the 

Town of Los Gatos at a meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos on October 1, 

2019 and becomes effective 30 days after it is adopted. 

Page 133



 

4 of 4  

 Ordinance   October 1, 2019 

 

 

 In lieu of publication of the full text of the ordinance within fifteen (15) days after its 

passage a summary of the ordinance may be published at least five (5) days prior to and fifteen 

(15) days after adoption by the Town Council and a certified copy shall be posted in the office 

of the Town Clerk, pursuant to GC 36933(c)(1).   

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES:           

NAYS: 

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN: 

        SIGNED: 

    

 

                               MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

                       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 

 

       DATE:       

ATTEST: 

 

 

CLERK ADMINISTRATOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 

 

DATE:       
 
 
 
 

Page 134



 

PREPARED BY: Jocelyn Shoopman 
 Associate Planner 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 406-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 8  

 
   

 

DATE:   September 23, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Town Code Amendment Application A-19-004.  Project Location: Town Wide.  
Applicant: Town of Los Gatos. 
Adopt amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code 
regarding parking lot improvement regulations . 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Adopt amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding parking lot 
improvement regulations (Attachment 1).  
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
On September 17, 2019, the Council considered and voted to introduce an Ordinance amending 
Chapter 29 of the Town Code regarding parking lot improvement regulations.  Adoption of the 
attached Ordinance (Attachment 1) would finalize that decision.  
 
 
Attachment: 
1. Draft Ordinance 

Page 135



1 of 4  

 Ordinance   October 1, 2019 

 

DRAFT ORDINANCE  
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
AMENDING CHAPTER 29 (ZONING REGULATIONS) OF THE TOWN CODE  

REGARDING PARKING LOT IMPROVEMENT REGULATIONS 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council would like to streamline the land use process to reduce the 

time and cost impacts for businesses and residences;   

WHEREAS, Section 29.10.145 of the Town Code contains regulations regarding Building 

Permits for parking lot improvements; 

WHEREAS, Section 29.20.745 of the Town Code designates the Development Review 

Committee (DRC) as the deciding body for these Building permits; 

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments will modify the deciding body for these Building 

Permits from the DRC to the Community Development Director given the same departments 

that are represented on the DRC already review the Building Permits; 

WHEREAS, this matter was regularly noticed in conformance with State and Town law 

and came before the Planning Commission for public hearing on August 14, 2019;  

WHEREAS, on August 14, 2019, the Planning Commission reviewed the proposed 

amendments regarding parking lot improvement regulations and forwarded a recommendation 

to the Town Council for approval of the proposed amendments;  

 WHEREAS, this matter was regularly noticed in conformance with State and Town law 

and came before the Town Council for public hearing on September 17, 2019; and  

 WHEREAS, on September 17, 2019, the Town Council reviewed and commented on the 

proposed amendments regarding parking lot improvement regulations and the Town Council 

voted to introduce an Ordinance.

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

Draft Ordinance: subject to 
modification by Town Council 

based on 
deliberations and direction 

 

Page 136



2 of 4  

 Ordinance   October 1, 2019 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, THE PEOPLE OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS AND THE TOWN 
COUNCIL DO HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:  

 

 SECTION I 

Section 29.10.145 and Section 29.20.745 of Town Code Chapter 29 are hereby amended 

to read as follows:   

 
Sec. 29.10.145. – Development standards. 

… 
 

(l) Determination. Applications for permits for parking lot improvements shall be determined 
by the Planning Community Development Director. When compliance with State disabled-
accessibility statutes and regulations will result in a reduction in the number of spaces remaining 
in the parking lot below the number required by this chapter, the application shall be determined 
by the Development Review Committee Community Development Director through the building 
permit process.  

(m) Standards for disabled accessibility. Parking lot improvements shall be rendered disabled-
accessible. Each application for a permit for parking lot improvements shall be reviewed and 
determined in accordance with the requirements for disabled-accessibility as set forth in title 24 
of the California Administrative Code. The Development Review Committee Community 
Development Director may approve a permit for parking lot improvements which reduces the 
number of parking spaces required pursuant to section 29.10.150. This approval must be based 
upon a finding that public necessity for disabled-accessible parking spaces outweighs the need 
for the number of parking spaces required by section 29.10.150.  

(n) Effect of Development Review Committee Community Development Director approval. No 
penalties shall apply to and no assessments shall be based on an increased parking space 
deficiency or a created parking space deficiency pursuant to section 29.10.150 resulting from the 
Development Review Committee Community Development Director approval of a parking lot 
permit under subsection (l) of this section. This subsection (n) shall not apply to an increased 
parking space deficiency or a created parking space deficiency due to an addition to a building or 
a structure or to an intensification of use.  
 
… 

 

 

 

 

Page 137



3 of 4  

 Ordinance   October 1, 2019 

 

 

Sec. 29.20.745. – Development Review Committee. 

 
The Development Review Committee shall:  
 

… 
 
(4) Review and make recommendations on parking lot permits under section 29.10.155(l) 

including reconfiguration or trade-off of zoning requirements under other sections of 
this chapter, and under section 29.10.145(g) on use of valet parking for parking lots 
within a town parking assessment district. The development review committee has the 
authority to make final determinations for approval and revocation of parking lot 
permits for valet parking.  

… 
 

SECTION II 

With respect to compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the 

Town Council finds as follows:  

A. These Town Code amendments are not subject to review under CEQA 

pursuant to sections and 15061(b)(3), in that it can be seen with certainty that there is no 

possibility that the proposed amendments to the Town Code would have significant impact on 

the environment; and 

B. The proposed Town Code amendments are consistent with the General Plan 

and its Elements.  

 SECTION III 

If any provision of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or 

circumstance is held invalid, such invalidly shall not affect other provisions or applications of 

the ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this 

end the provisions of this ordinance are severable.  This Town Council hereby declares that it 

would have adopted this ordinance irrespective of the invalidity of any particular portion 

thereof and intends that the invalid portions should be severed and the balance of the 

ordinance be enforced.  

Page 138



4 of 4  

 Ordinance   October 1, 2019 

 

SECTION IV 

Except as expressly modified in this Ordinance, all other sections set forth in the Los 

Gatos Town Code shall remain unchanged and shall be in full force and effect.   

 

SECTION V 

This Ordinance was introduced at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of 

Los Gatos on September 17, 2019, and adopted by the following vote as an ordinance of the 

Town of Los Gatos at a meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos on October 1, 

2019 and becomes effective 30 days after it is adopted. 

 In lieu of publication of the full text of the ordinance within fifteen (15) days after its 

passage a summary of the ordinance may be published at least five (5) days prior to and fifteen 

(15) days after adoption by the Town Council and a certified copy shall be posted in the office 

of the Town Clerk, pursuant to GC 36933(c)(1).   

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES:           

NAYS: 

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN: 

        SIGNED: 
    
 

                               MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
                       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
       DATE:       
 
 

CLERK ADMINISTRATOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 

 
DATE:       

Page 139



 

PREPARED BY: Jocelyn Shoopman 
 Associate Planner 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 406-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 9  

 
   

 

DATE:   September 23, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Town Code Amendment Application A-19-005.  Project Location: Town Wide.  
Applicant: Town of Los Gatos. 
Adopt amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code 
regarding valet parking regulations  

 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Adopt amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding valet 
parking regulations (Attachment 1).  
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
On September 17, 2019, the Council considered and voted to introduce an Ordinance amending 
Chapter 29 of the Town Code regarding valet parking regulations.  Adoption of the attached 
Ordinance (Attachment 1) would finalize that decision.  
 
 
Attachment: 
1. Draft Ordinance 

Page 140



1 of 4  

 Ordinance   October 1, 2019 

 

DRAFT ORDINANCE  
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
AMENDING CHAPTER 29 (ZONING REGULATIONS) OF THE TOWN CODE  

REGARDING PARKING LOT IMPROVEMENT REGULATIONS 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council would like to streamline the land use process to reduce the 

time and cost impacts for businesses and residences;   

WHEREAS, Section 29.10.145 of the Town Code contains regulations regarding Building 

Permits for parking lot improvements; 

WHEREAS, Section 29.20.745 of the Town Code designates the Development Review 

Committee (DRC) as the deciding body for these Building permits; 

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments will modify the deciding body for these Building 

Permits from the DRC to the Community Development Director given the same departments 

that are represented on the DRC already review the Building Permits; 

WHEREAS, this matter was regularly noticed in conformance with State and Town law 

and came before the Planning Commission for public hearing on August 14, 2019;  

WHEREAS, on August 14, 2019, the Planning Commission reviewed the proposed 

amendments regarding parking lot improvement regulations and forwarded a recommendation 

to the Town Council for approval of the proposed amendments;  

 WHEREAS, this matter was regularly noticed in conformance with State and Town law 

and came before the Town Council for public hearing on September 17, 2019; and  

 WHEREAS, on September 17, 2019, the Town Council reviewed and commented on the 

proposed amendments regarding parking lot improvement regulations and the Town Council 

voted to introduce an Ordinance.

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

Draft Ordinance: subject to 
modification by Town Council 

based on 
deliberations and direction 

 

Page 141



2 of 4  

 Ordinance   October 1, 2019 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, THE PEOPLE OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS AND THE TOWN 
COUNCIL DO HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:  

 

 SECTION I 

Section 29.10.145 and Section 29.20.745 of Town Code Chapter 29 are hereby amended 

to read as follows:   

 
Sec. 29.10.145. – Development standards. 

… 
 

(l) Determination. Applications for permits for parking lot improvements shall be determined 
by the Planning Community Development Director. When compliance with State disabled-
accessibility statutes and regulations will result in a reduction in the number of spaces remaining 
in the parking lot below the number required by this chapter, the application shall be determined 
by the Development Review Committee Community Development Director through the building 
permit process.  

(m) Standards for disabled accessibility. Parking lot improvements shall be rendered disabled-
accessible. Each application for a permit for parking lot improvements shall be reviewed and 
determined in accordance with the requirements for disabled-accessibility as set forth in title 24 
of the California Administrative Code. The Development Review Committee Community 
Development Director may approve a permit for parking lot improvements which reduces the 
number of parking spaces required pursuant to section 29.10.150. This approval must be based 
upon a finding that public necessity for disabled-accessible parking spaces outweighs the need 
for the number of parking spaces required by section 29.10.150.  

(n) Effect of Development Review Committee Community Development Director approval. No 
penalties shall apply to and no assessments shall be based on an increased parking space 
deficiency or a created parking space deficiency pursuant to section 29.10.150 resulting from the 
Development Review Committee Community Development Director approval of a parking lot 
permit under subsection (l) of this section. This subsection (n) shall not apply to an increased 
parking space deficiency or a created parking space deficiency due to an addition to a building or 
a structure or to an intensification of use.  
 
… 

 

 

 

 

Page 142



3 of 4  

 Ordinance   October 1, 2019 

 

 

Sec. 29.20.745. – Development Review Committee. 

 
The Development Review Committee shall:  
 

… 
 
(4) Review and make recommendations on parking lot permits under section 29.10.155(l) 

including reconfiguration or trade-off of zoning requirements under other sections of 
this chapter, and under section 29.10.145(g) on use of valet parking for parking lots 
within a town parking assessment district. The development review committee has the 
authority to make final determinations for approval and revocation of parking lot 
permits for valet parking.  

… 
 

SECTION II 

With respect to compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the 

Town Council finds as follows:  

A. These Town Code amendments are not subject to review under CEQA 

pursuant to sections and 15061(b)(3), in that it can be seen with certainty that there is no 

possibility that the proposed amendments to the Town Code would have significant impact on 

the environment; and 

B. The proposed Town Code amendments are consistent with the General Plan 

and its Elements.  

 SECTION III 

If any provision of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or 

circumstance is held invalid, such invalidly shall not affect other provisions or applications of 

the ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this 

end the provisions of this ordinance are severable.  This Town Council hereby declares that it 

would have adopted this ordinance irrespective of the invalidity of any particular portion 

thereof and intends that the invalid portions should be severed and the balance of the 

ordinance be enforced.  

Page 143



4 of 4  

 Ordinance   October 1, 2019 

 

SECTION IV 

Except as expressly modified in this Ordinance, all other sections set forth in the Los 

Gatos Town Code shall remain unchanged and shall be in full force and effect.   

 

SECTION V 

This Ordinance was introduced at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of 

Los Gatos on September 17, 2019, and adopted by the following vote as an ordinance of the 

Town of Los Gatos at a meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos on October 1, 

2019 and becomes effective 30 days after it is adopted. 

 In lieu of publication of the full text of the ordinance within fifteen (15) days after its 

passage a summary of the ordinance may be published at least five (5) days prior to and fifteen 

(15) days after adoption by the Town Council and a certified copy shall be posted in the office 

of the Town Clerk, pursuant to GC 36933(c)(1).   

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES:           

NAYS: 

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN: 

        SIGNED: 
    
 

                               MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
                       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
       DATE:       
 
 

CLERK ADMINISTRATOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 

 
DATE:       

Page 144



 

PREPARED BY: Monica Renn 
 Economic Vitality Manager 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Community Development Director, Town 
Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 10  

 
   

 

DATE:   September 25, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Provide Direction to Staff on the Next Steps for the Temporary Community 
Vitality and Land Use Streamlining Resolutions Due to Sunset in December 
2019 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Provide direction to staff on the next steps for the temporary community vitality and land use 
streamlining resolutions due to sunset in December 2019.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Town Council has an adopted strategic priority that promotes community vitality and 
encourages land use streamlining efforts.  Since the adoption of this priority, staff has been 
working with the Town Council and Council Policy Committee to identify and streamline many 
of the business-related processes to reduce the associated time and cost.   
 
Attachment 1 provides a timeline and synopsis of the adopted streamlining efforts to date. 
Those highlighted in yellow are temporary resolutions adopted by the Council that are due to 
sunset in December of 2019.   
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
Since the adoption of the streamlined items outlined in Attachment 1, staff has done a large 
amount of outreach to interested stakeholders, including businesses, property owners, 
commercial brokers, and property managers.  These connections have not only provided the 
opportunity to update the business community on the adopted resolutions, they have also 
afforded the opportunity to share the story of Los Gatos, the positive efforts of the Council, and  
 

Page 145



PAGE 2 OF 4 
SUBJECT: Provide Direction on Community Vitality and Land Use Streamlining 
DATE:  September 25, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
encourage business retention, expansion, and attraction.  To date, staff has received positive 
feedback on the Council’s support of businesses and the opportunities these regulatory 
changes provide.  Due to the time and cost associated with obtaining a new or modifying an 
existing Conditional Use Permit (CUP), many businesses historically have not applied for the 
process and have appreciated the opportunity to do so under the streamlined process.   
 
To provide context for the Council’s discussion, below are high-level summaries of how the 
temporary streamlining efforts that have been adopted since June 5, 2018 have been utilized.   
 
Formula Retail in Downtown (resolution adopted 6/5/18):  The Town Council adopted a 
temporary resolution allowing up to five new formula retailers over an 18-month period in 
spaces downtown that do not have a current CUP in place for Formula Retail.  To date, there 
have been three new formula retailers that have leased spaces downtown that were formerly 
occupied by a use other than a formula retailer.  It is important to note that some formula 
retailers have left downtown whom had a valid CUP for formula retail, thus the replacement 
businesses do not count towards the five new formula uses.   
 
Restaurant CUP modifications at the Development Review Committee (DRC) (adopted 
6/19/18):  The Town Council adopted a temporary 18-month resolution to allow current 
restaurants to modify their use permits at the DRC level.  Nine restaurants have completed a 
modification, five are currently in the process, and another three are anticipated to apply 
before the end of the year.  Many of these businesses chose to modify their use permit to allow 
them to participate in the pilot parklet program as the former language in their CUP prohibited 
outdoor dining in many cases.   
 
New restaurant CUPs to be heard at the DRC and suspension of Ordinance 2021 (adopted 
3/5/19):  The Town Council adopted a temporary resolution valid through 12/31/19 allowing 
new restaurants, Town-wide, to be heard by the DRC.  To make this possible, Ordinance 2021 
was also suspended for the same period.  Two restaurants have been approved at the DRC 
since its adoption. 
 
Allow Minor Exterior Modifications to Commercial Buildings to be Processed as Building 
Permits (adopted 3/5/19):  The Town Council adopted a temporary resolution valid through 
12/31/19 allowing minor exterior modifications to commercial buildings to be processed as  
building permits, rather than having to go to the DRC.  Since the adoption of the resolution, 
staff has processed seven applications for exterior modifications.  The types of modifications 
include swapping doors for windows, windows for doors, parking lot reconfigurations, window 
awnings, pedestrian walkways, changes to exterior materials, and other similar items.   
 
 

Page 146



PAGE 3 OF 4 
SUBJECT: Provide Direction on Community Vitality and Land Use Streamlining 
DATE:  September 25, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
Group Classes to be heard by the DRC in the C-2 and permitted by-right outside of the C-2 
zone (adopted 3/19/19):  The Town Council adopted a temporary resolution valid through  
12/31/19 allowing CUPs for group classes within the C-2 to be heard by the DRC, and those 
outside of the C-2 to be allowed with over the counter permits (Business license and Certificate 
of Use and Occupancy).  One new CUP for group classes has been approved by the DRC.  
Following the DRC approval of the application, it was appealed by a community member to the 
Planning Commission whom ultimately upheld the DRC’s approval and approved the group 
class use.  Additionally, one new group class use outside the C-2 has been approved.     
 
While the streamlined processes are helpful for businesses, there are still many other factors in 
play when it comes to retaining and attracting businesses.  Staff has found that since the time 
and costs have been reduced, businesses are generally much more satisfied with the CUP 
process.  For many though, this is just the first step in a lengthy road to opening their business. 
Building permits may not be applied for or issued until the CUP is obtained, and often outside 
agencies have requirements and processes of their own that take weeks to months to 
complete.  Thus, reverting to the longer and more expensive process for CUPs could have a 
negative impact on the Town’s business attraction and retention efforts.   
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
Staff has observed several successes with the temporary streamlining processes and recognize 
that memorializing the streamlining processes on a more permanent basis would likely 
continue to create opportunities to strengthen the businesses in Town.  Each application is still 
fully reviewed and vetted with the streamlining, and staff recommends conditions of approval 
for the deciding body as in any discretionary CUP process.  The reduction in time and costs is a 
product of the streamlining and allowing decisions to occur at a lower level while retaining all 
appeal rights.  
 
Should the resolutions pertaining to CUPs sunset and the application process revert, the fees 
for a new CUP would be $8,976.14 for Planning Commission applications and $15,383.52 for 
Town Council applications.  If minor exterior modifications to commercial buildings were 
required to once again be approved by DRC, the application fee would be $5,743.02.  
 
Time and cost are typically the two biggest concerns the staff hears from businesses and 
property owners.  The streamlined processes provide a reduction in both while maintaining 
staff and discretionary oversight.   
 
As the Council discusses the resolutions outlined in this report (Attachments 2 - 6), staff is 
recommending the Council provide direction on next steps for each of the temporary 
resolutions as follows: 

Page 147



PAGE 4 OF 4 
SUBJECT: Provide Direction on Community Vitality and Land Use Streamlining 
DATE:  September 25, 2019 
 
CONCLUSION (continued): 
 

 Recommend memorializing one or more of the streamlining efforts through Town Code 
amendments.  Staff will draft language and present it to the Planning Commission for 
discussion and recommendations to the Town Council;  
 

 Extend the sunset date of one or more of the temporary resolutions; or 
 

 Allow the resolutions to sunset and the processes to revert to the current Code 
language.      

 
COORDINATION: 
 
This staff report was prepared in coordination with the Town Managers Office, Town Attorney’s 
Office, and Community Development Department.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
Fees paid for by applicants cover the cost of the applicant’s process thus there is no fiscal 
impact. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 
 
The project is Categorically Exempt pursuant to the adopted Guidelines for the Implementation 
of the California Environmental Quality Act, Section 15061(b)(3), in that it can be seen with 
certainty that there is no possibility that the proposed amendments to the Town Code will have 
a significant effect on the environment. 

 
Attachments: 
1. Economic Vitality and Land Use Streamlining Summary  
2. Temporary resolution suspending the CUP requirement for formula retailers 
3. Temporary Resolution allowing restaurants to modify their CUP at the DRC 
4. Temporary Resolution suspending Ordinance 2021 and allowing new restaurants to obtain a 

CUP at the DRC 
5. Temporary Resolution allowing for minor exterior modifications to commercial buildings to 

be made at building permit 
6. Temporary Resolution allowing group classes without a CUP in commercial zones outside of 

downtown, and those within downtown to obtain a CUP at the DRC  
 

 

Page 148



ECONOMIC VITALITY & LAND USE STREAMLINING 

The Town of Los Gatos is proud to be the home of a variety of premium shopping 

and dining experiences.  Our downtown is one of the most charming and beautiful 

places around, while Los Gatos Boulevard and surrounding shopping centers 

provide neighborhood convenience and other fantastic shopping, dining, and 

service businesses against the back drop of the picturesque foothills.  The Town 

Council is committed to creating opportunities for existing and new businesses to 

thrive throughout Los Gatos, and as a result have adopted a strategic priority to 

continue to support our business community through streamlining processes, 

policies, and ordinances.   

The list below highlights much of the work that has been completed to date, and we will continue to make 

strides in creating an environment that allows our business community to continue to be the very best. 

Please click on any of the items below to learn more about what was adopted: 

 Flexible outdoor seating regulations on public and private property (9/1/15, Town Council Meeting, 

Item 11) 

 Allowance for paid private Downtown valet parking (11/3/15, Town Council Meeting, Item 13) 

 Allowance for entertainment by right before 10 P.M. and late-night entertainment with a permit 

(6/21/16, Town Council Meeting, Item 19) 

 Significantly reducing the Traffic Impact Fees that are applied to existing commercial space in 

Downtown and Shopping Centers (11/17/16 and 2/16/17, Policy Committee Meetings) 

 Providing flexible seating calculations for restaurants guided by Maximum Fire Occupancy (3/20/18, 

Town Council Meeting, Item 9) 

 Rescission of the Town’s Alcohol Beverage Policy acknowledging that ample vetting and oversight is 

provided through the State of California’s Alcohol Beverage Control (4/3/18, Town Council Meeting, 

Item 8)  

 Resolution for a limited time suspending the Conditional Use Permit requirement for Formula Retailers 

in Downtown (6/5/18, Town Council Meeting, Item 18) 

 Resolution for a limited time allowing restaurants to modify their Conditional Use Permits at the 

Development Review Committee level significantly reducing the time and cost related to a CUP 

modification (6/19/18, Town Council Meeting, Item 19)  

 Elimination of parking time limits in public parking lots Downtown on Saturdays (11/6/18, Town 

Council Meeting, Item 8)  

 Approval for a one-way street pilot on N. Santa Cruz Avenue for the Summer and Fall of 2019, offering 

more on street parking and greater opportunities for parklets and bike and pedestrian traffic (1/15/19, 

Town Council Meeting, Item 5)  

 Approval of a pilot program to allow parklets, also known as sidewalk cafes, on Main Street  

and N. Santa Cruz Avenue (2/5/19, Town Council Meeting, Item 11)  

 Resolution for a limited time suspending Ordinance 2021, and allowing new restaurants to obtain a 

CUP at the DRC level until, and a resolution allowing for minor exterior modifications to commercial 

buildings to be processed at building permit  12/31/19  (3/5/19, Town Council Meeting, Item 7)  

 Resolution for a limited time allowing group classes without a CUP in commercial zones outside of 

downtown, and those within downtown to obtain a CUP at the DRC level.  (3/19/19, Town Council 

Meeting, Item 11) 
ATTACHMENT 1 

Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



 

PREPARED BY: Monica Renn 
 Economic Vitality Manager 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Community Development Director, Town 
Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 10 

ADDENDUM  

 

 

   

 

DATE:   September 30, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Provide Direction to Staff on the Next Steps for the Temporary Community 
Vitality and Land Use Streamlining Resolutions Due to Sunset in December 
2019 

 

REMARKS:  
 
Attachment 7 contains public comment received after the distribution of the staff report and 
before 11:00 a.m. on September 30, 2019. 
 
Attachments: 
1. Economic Vitality and Land Use Streamlining Summary  
2. Temporary resolution suspending the CUP requirement for formula retailers 
3. Temporary Resolution allowing restaurants to modify their CUP at the DRC 
4. Temporary Resolution suspending Ordinance 2021 and allowing new restaurants to obtain a 

CUP at the DRC 
5. Temporary Resolution allowing for minor exterior modifications to commercial buildings to 

be made at building permit 
6. Temporary Resolution allowing group classes without a CUP in commercial zones outside of 

downtown, and those within downtown to obtain a CUP at the DRC  
 
Attachments received with this Addendum: 
7. Public comment received after the distribution of the staff report and before 11:00 a.m. 

September 30, 2019.  
 

 
 

Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



 

PREPARED BY: Monica Renn 
 Economic Vitality Manager 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Community Development Director, Town 
Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 10 

DESK ITEM  

 

 

   

 

DATE:   October 1, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Provide Direction to Staff on the Next Steps for the Temporary Community 
Vitality and Land Use Streamlining Resolutions Due to Sunset in December 
2019 

 

REMARKS:  
 
Attachment 8 contains public comment received after the distribution of the staff report and 
before 11:00 a.m. on October 1, 2019. 
 
Attachments: 
1. Economic Vitality and Land Use Streamlining Summary  
2. Temporary resolution suspending the CUP requirement for formula retailers 
3. Temporary Resolution allowing restaurants to modify their CUP at the DRC 
4. Temporary Resolution suspending Ordinance 2021 and allowing new restaurants to obtain a 

CUP at the DRC 
5. Temporary Resolution allowing for minor exterior modifications to commercial buildings to 

be made at building permit 
6. Temporary Resolution allowing group classes without a CUP in commercial zones outside of 

downtown, and those within downtown to obtain a CUP at the DRC  
 
Attachments received with this Addendum: 
7. Public comment received after the distribution of the staff report and before 11:00 a.m. 

September 30, 2019.  
 
Attachments received with this Desk Item: 
8. Public comments received after the distribution of the staff report and before 11:00 a.m. 

October 1, 2019.  
 

Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Community Vitality: 

Business Streamlining 

Town Council Meeting

October 1, 2019

Page 167



▪CUP requirement suspended for Formula Retail

▪Existing Restaurant CUPs modified at DRC

▪Ordinance 2021 suspended and new restaurant CUPs 

heard by DRC

▪Minor exterior modifications to commercial buildings 

processed with a building permit

▪Group classes permitted without a CUP in commercial 

zones outside of the C-2, and those within the C-2 heard 

by the DRC

TEMPORARY RESOLUTIONS 

Page 168



 

PREPARED BY: Robert Schultz 
 Town Attorney 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 11 

 
   

 

DATE:   September 25, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Robert Schultz, Town Attorney 

SUBJECT: Review of Tobacco Retailers Ordinance and Annual Report from County of 
Santa Clara on Implementation of the Ordinance and Discuss Potential 
Amendments to the Ordinance to Prohibit the Sale of Electronic Smoking 
Devices 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Staff recommends that Council discuss and provide direction on whether staff should draft 
amendments to the Tobacco Retailers Ordinance regarding the prohibition of electronic 
smoking device sales.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
In 2016, the Town Council recognized the dangers of smoking and secondary smoke and 
adopted amendments to the Town’s Smoking Regulations to prohibit smoking in the Town's 
public spaces, including outdoor dining areas, entryways, public events, recreation areas, and 
service areas and multi-family residential units.  In addition, in 2017, the Town Council adopted 
an ordinance (Attachment 1) to address regulating the sales of tobacco by businesses in Los 
Gatos.  The primary components of the Ordinance are: 

• Require all establishments selling tobacco products to obtain a Tobacco Retailing 
Permit (TRP) from the Town. 
• Require an annual Permit renewal. 
• Require an annual inspection of the premises for compliance with the requirements. 
• Require TRP be displayed in a publicly visible location at the licensed location. 
• Prohibit the sale or transfer of tobacco products to anyone under the age of 21.  
• Prohibit a person under the age of 21 to engage in tobacco retailing. 
• Prohibit all self-service displays of tobacco products. 
• Prohibit the sale of flavored tobacco products. 
• Prohibit the sale of tobacco products in pharmacies. 

Page 169



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Review of Tobacco Retailers Ordinance and Annual Report from County of Santa 

Clara on implementation of the Ordinance 
DATE:  September 25, 2019 
 
 
BACKGROUND (continued): 
 

• Prohibit new tobacco retailing within 1,000 feet of a school, parks, and playgrounds. 
• Prohibit any new tobacco retailers within 500 feet of another tobacco retailer. 
• Include fines for permit violations. 
• Allow for a process for Permit suspension and revocation for violations. 

 
After the Tobacco Retailers Ordinance was adopted by the Town Council, the Town entered 
into an Agreement with the County of Santa Clara that allowed the County of Santa Clara to 
administer the ordinance and collect the annual permit fees.   Attachment 2 is an Annual 
Report from the County of Santa Clara on the implementation and enforcement of our Tobacco 
Retailer ordinance.  
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The Town Council did not include this topic at its Strategic Priorities goal setting session or as an 
identified Ordinance for the Town Attorney to work on.  The Mayor, at his discretion, has 
requested this item be placed on the agenda.  
 
The Mayor’s primary concern for needing amendments to our Tobacco Retail Ordinance are 
associated with the growth in sales of e-cigarettes, electronic smoking devices and electronic 
smoking device paraphernalia, such as vaping devices.  According to many studies, the sale of 
electronic cigarettes poses a risk to public health.  In addition, most electronic cigarettes have 
not obtained a premarket review order from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration to 
determine their appropriateness for the protection of the public health.  
 
Virtually all e-cigarettes are considered “new tobacco products” under the Family Smoking 
Prevention and Tobacco Control Act enacted by Congress in 2009.  The U.S. Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) is responsible for conducting a premarket review of all new tobacco 
products not on the market as of February 15, 2007.  The FDA’s premarket review process is 
intended to determine if a tobacco product is appropriate for the protection of the public 
health “with respect to the risks and benefits to the population as a whole, including users and 
nonusers of the tobacco product, and taking into account- (A) the increased or decreased 
likelihood that existing users of tobacco products will stop using such products; and (B) the 
increased or decreased likelihood that those who do not use tobacco products will start using 
such products.” 
 
Tobacco companies are required to report to the FDA for premarket review any information 
concerning health risks, the components, ingredients, additives, and manufacturing methods.  
 

Page 170



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Review of Tobacco Retailers Ordinance and Annual Report from County of Santa 

Clara on implementation of the Ordinance 
DATE:  September 25, 2019 
 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
Unfortunately, nearly all e-cigarettes on the market have not obtained a premarket review 
order and the FDA has not taken appropriate action to enforce the requirements of the 
Tobacco Control Act.  
 
Nationwide, electronic cigarette use has increased at alarming rates since the first products 
became available about 10 years ago.  While there have been many successful efforts to reduce 
underage tobacco use, the growing availability of e-cigarettes has reversed those positive 
trends.  The Town’s current regulations prohibit the sale of all electronic cigarette products that 
have “a constituent or additive, an artificial or natural flavor or aroma…” 
 
The Mayor has expressed an interest in protecting the public, particularly our youth, from 
products that contribute substantially to increased drug use and exposure to harmful 
substances.  Both the Mayor and Town Attorney have attended seminars related to this topic 
and the materials and other articles are included in Attachment 3 and 4.    
 
If the Council desires, an amendment could be drafted to expand the prohibition on electronic 
cigarette products to include any device or delivery system which can be used to consume 
nicotine in aerosolized or vaporized form.  Products would be identified as prohibited for sale if 
they are “new tobacco products” which require FDA premarket review and have not been 
issued an order approving their marketing.  
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
Council should discuss and provide direction on whether staff should draft amendments to the 
Tobacco Retailers Ordinance.  
 
Attachments: 

1. Ordinance No. 2259 
2. Los Gatos Tobacco Retail Permit Annual Summary 
3. Material Received from Mayor Leonardis 
4. Material Received from Bay Area City Attorneys Meeting 

Page 171



ORDINANCE 2259

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS

REQUIRING THE LICENSURE OF TOBACCO RETAILERS AND ADDING SECTION

18.60.020 TO THE TOWN CODE OF LOS GATOS ENTITLED PERMITS FOR RETAILERS
OF TOBACCO PRODUCTS AND / OR ELECTRONIC SMOKING DEVICES

WHEREAS, tobacco use causes death and disease and continues to be an urgent public
health challenge; and

WHEREAS, the Town Council recently adopted Ordinance 2254 to regulate smoking
within the Town of Los Gatos and protect the public and environment from secondhand
smoke; and

WHEREAS, nationally, the failure of tobacco retailers to comply with all tobacco control
laws, particularly laws prohibiting the sale of tobacco products to minors, presents an imminent
threat to the public health, safety, and welfare and therefore is a threat to the public health, 
safety, and welfare of the residents of the Town of Los Gatos; and

WHEREAS, a local licensing system for tobacco retailers is appropriate to ensure that
retailers comply with tobacco control laws and business standards of the Town of Los Gatos, to

protect the health, safety, and welfare of the Town' s residents; and

WHEREAS, the California Legislature has recognized the danger of tobacco use and has

made reducing youth access to tobacco products a high priority, as evidenced by the fact that: 

1. The Legislature has declared that smoking is the single most important source of

preventable disease and premature death in California (Cal. Health & Safety Code § 
118950); and

2. State law prohibits the sale or furnishing of cigarettes, tobacco products, and smoking
paraphernalia to anyone under the age of 21 ( Cal. Pen. Code § 308); and

3. State law requires that tobacco retailers check the identification of tobacco purchasers
who reasonably appear to be under 21 years of age ( Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 22956) and

provides procedures for using minors to conduct onsite compliance checks of tobacco
retailers (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 22952); and

4. State law prohibits the sale or furnishing of electronic cigarettes to minors ( Cal. Health & 
Safety Code § 119405). 

WHEREAS, state law requires all tobacco retailers to be licensed by the Board of
Equalization primarily to curb the illegal sale and distribution of cigarettes due to tax evasion
and counterfeiting ( Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 22970. 1, 22972); and

1 of 14

Ordinance 2259 May 16, 2017Page 172



WHEREAS, state law explicitly permits cities and counties to enact local tobacco retail
licensing ordinances, and allows for the suspension or revocation of a local license for a
violation of any state tobacco control law (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 22971. 3); and

WHEREAS, over 148 towns, cities and counties in California have passed tobacco retailer

licensing ordinances in an effort to stop minors from using tobacco; and

WHEREAS, the Town of Los Gatos has a substantial interest in promoting compliance
with federal, state, and local laws intended to regulate tobacco sales and use; in discouraging
the illegal purchase of tobacco products by minors; in promoting compliance with laws
prohibiting sales of cigarettes and tobacco products to minors; and finally, and most
importantly, in protecting children from being lured into illegal activity through the misconduct
of adults; and

WHEREAS, the 2011 Tobacco Products Scientific Advisory Committee (TPSAC) Report
made findings that the availability of menthol cigarettes has an adverse impact on public health
in the U. S. and recommended removal of menthol cigarettes from the marketplace and that the

Menthol' s anesthetizing effect makes the smoke " smooth" and easier to inhale while masking
the harshness of tobacco, making menthol cigarettes more appealing to youth and beginner
smokers; and

WHEREAS, a policy statement published by the American Academy of Pediatrics in
November 2015, recommended a complete ban on all flavors used in electronic smoking
devices, including menthol flavoring; and

WHEREAS, in 2016, California Medical Association ( CMA) issued a white paper titled

Flavored and Mentholated Tobacco Products: Enticing a New Generation of Users states, 
Research supports the finding that flavors and menthol tobacco products are " starter" 

products that establish daily habits and increase addiction to tobacco products, make it harder
to quit, and increase use of multiple tobacco products concurrently." although the use of

cigarettes is declining in the United States ( U. S.), sales of menthol cigarettes have steadily
increased in recent years, especially among young people and new smokers; and

WHEREAS, the Town Council finds that the regulations imposed by this Section provide
a reasonable opportunity for tobacco retailers to operate within the Town of Los Gatos. In the
establishment of these regulations, the Town Council considered their effects on the number

and suitability of locations for tobacco retailers. 

NOW THEREFORE, it is the intent of the Town Council, in enacting this ordinance, to
ensure compliance with the business standards and practices of the Town and to encourage

responsible tobacco retailing and to discourage violations of tobacco - related laws, especially
those which prohibit or discourage the sale or distribution of tobacco and nicotine products to

minors, but not to expand or reduce the degree to which the acts regulated by federal or state
law are criminally proscribed or to alter the penalties provided therein. 

2of14

Ordinance 2259 May 16, 2017Page 173



NOW, THEREFORE, THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS DOES ORDAIN

AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION I. 

Los Gatos Town Code Article VI — Smoking Regulations Section 18.60.020 is hereby added to
read as follows: 

Sec. 18.60.020 — Permits for retailers of tobacco products and /or electronic smoking devices. 

a) Intent. This Section is adopted to: 

1. Ensure compliance with the business standards and practices of the Town; 

2. Encourage responsible retailing of tobacco products and electronic smoking devices; 
3. Discourage violations of laws related to tobacco products and electronic smoking

devices, especially those that prohibit or discourage the sale or distribution of tobacco
products and electronic smoking devices to persons under 21; and

4. Protect the public health and welfare. 

This Section does not expand or reduce the degree to which the acts regulated by federal or
state law are criminally proscribed or alter the penalties provided by such laws. 

b) Definitions. 

For the purposes of this Section, the following definitions shall apply: 

1. Arm' s length transaction means a sale in good faith and for valuable consideration that

reflects the fair market value in the open market between two or more informed and

willing parties, neither of which is under any compulsion to participate in the
transaction. A sale between relatives, related companies or partners, or a sale for which
a significant purpose is avoiding the effect of the violations of this Section is not an
arm' s length transaction. 

2. Designee means the agency selected or designated by the Town to enforce or
administer the provisions of this Section. 

3. Electronic smoking device means ( 1) an electronic and /or battery - operated device that
can deliver an inhalable dose of nicotine to the user or (2) any product intended or sold
for use with such a device. " Electronic smoking device" includes any product meeting
this definition, regardless of whether it is manufactured, distributed, marketed or sold
as an electronic cigarette, electronic cigar, electronic cigarillo, electronic pipe, electronic

hookah, electronic vape, vaporizer or any other product name or descriptor. 
4. Ownership means possession of a ten percent or greater interest in the stock, assets, or

income of a business, other than a security interest for the repayment of debt. 
5. School means a public or private elementary, middle, junior high or high school. 

3of14

Ordinance 2259 May 16, 2017Page 174



6. Tobacco product means (unless specifically noted elsewhere): 
a. Any product subject to Subchapter IX [ 21 U. S. C. § 387 et seq. ( "Subchapter IX ")) of

the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (See 21 U. S. C. § 387a( b) ( products subject

to Subchapter IX); 21 C. F. R. §§ 1100. 1- 1100.3 ( tobacco products subject to

Subchapter IX)]. Products subject to Subchapter IX include, but are not limited to, 

cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll - your -own tobacco, smokeless tobacco, cigars, pipe

tobacco, waterpipe tobacco, and electronic nicotine delivery systems ( such as; but
not limited to, electronic cigarettes, electronic cigars, electronic hookahs, vape pens, 

personal vaporizers, and electronic pipes). Products subject to Subchapter IX also

include components or parts of tobacco products, such as, but not limited to, liquids

that are for use in an electronic nicotine delivery system and that contain tobacco or
nicotine or are derived from tobacco or nicotine ( "e- liquids "), vials that contain e- 

liquids, and atomizers. Products that are not subject to Subchapter IX include

accessories of tobacco products, such as, but not limited to, ashtrays, spittoons, and

conventional matches and lighters that solely provide an external heat source to
initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product

b. Any product for use in an electronic nicotine delivery system, whether or not it
contains tobacco or nicotine or is derived from tobacco or nicotine. 

Retailer means any person who sells, exchanges, or offers to sell or exchange, for any
form of consideration, tobacco products and /or electronic smoking devices. " Retailing" 
shall mean the doing of any of these things. This definition is without regard to the

quantity of tobacco products or electronic smoking devices sold, exchanged, or offered
for sale or exchange. 

c) Requirements and prohibitions. 

1. Permit required. It shall be unlawful for any person to act as a retailer of tobacco
products and /or electronic smoking devices in the Town of Los Gatos without first
obtaining and maintaining a valid retailer permit pursuant to this Section for each

location at which that activity is to occur. Tobacco product retailing without a valid
tobacco retailer permit is a nuisance as a matter of law. 

2. Lawful business operation. It shall be a violation of this Section for any retailer to violate
any local, state, or federal law applicable to tobacco products, electronic smoking
devices, or the retailing of such products. 

3. Display ofpermit. Each current retailer permit shall be prominently displayed in a
publicly visible place at the permitted location. 

4. Notice of minimum age for purchase of electronic smoking devices. Retailers shall post
conspicuously, at each point of purchase, a notice stating that selling tobacco products
and electronic smoking devices to anyone under 21 years of age is illegal and subject to
penalties. Such notice shall be subject to the approval of the Town or its Designee. 

5. Positive identification required. No retailer shall sell or transfer a tobacco product or

electronic smoking device to another person who appears to be under 30 years of age
without first examining the customer' s identification to confirm that the customer is at

4of14

Ordinance 2259 May 16, 2017Page 175



leasttheminimumagerequiredunderstatelawtopurchaseandpossessthetobacco
product.   

6. Falseandmisleadingadvertisingprohibited. Aretailereitherwithoutavalidretailer
permitorwithasuspendedretailerpermit:   
a. Shallkeepalltobaccoproductsandelectronicsmokingdevicesoutofpublicview.  
b. Shallnotdisplayanyadvertisementrelatingtotobaccoproductsorelectronic

smokingdevicesthatpromotesthesaleordistributionofsuchproductsfromthe
retailer'slocationorthatcouldleadareasonableconsumertobelievethat
tobaccoproductsorelectronicsmokingdevicescanbeobtainedatthatlocation.   

7. Limitationonstorefrontadvertising. Nomorethan15percentofthesquarefootageof
thewindowsandcleardoorsofanestablishmentusedforretailingshallbearadvertising
orsignsofanysort, andalladvertisingandsignageshallbeplacedandmaintainedina
mannerthatensuresthatlawenforcementpersonnelhaveaclearandunobstructed
viewoftheinteriorofthepremises, includingtheareainwhichthecashregistersare
maintained, fromtheexteriorpublicsidewalkorentrancetothepremises. However, this
latterrequirementshallnotapplytoanestablishmentwheretherearenowindows, or
whereexistingwindowsarelocatedataheightthatprecludesaviewoftheinteriorof
thepremisesbyapersonstandingoutsidethepremises.   

8. Flavoredtobaccoproducts.   
a.  Exceptaspermittedinparagraph (c) ofthissubsection (8), noretailershallsella

tobaccoproductcontaining, asaconstituentoradditive, anartificialornaturalflavor
oraroma (otherthantobacco) oranherborspice, includingstrawberry, grape,   
orange, clove, cinnamon, pineapple, vanilla, coconut, licorice, cocoa, chocolate,   
cherry, orcoffee, thatisacharacterizing flavororaromaofthetobaccoproduct,   
smokeorvaporproducedbythetobaccoproduct.  

b.  Atobaccoproductshallbesubjecttoarebuttablepresumptionthattheproductis
prohibitedbyparagraph (a) ofthissubsectionif:  

i)  Theproduct'smanufactureroranyotherpersonassociatedwiththe
manufactureorsaleoftobaccoproductsmakesordisseminatespublic
statementsorclaimstotheeffectthattheproducthasorproducesa
characterizing flavororaroma, otherthantobacco; or

ii) Theproduct'slabel, labeling, orpackagingincludesastatementorclaim
includinganytextand/orimagesusedtocommunicateinformationthatthe
producthasorproducesacharacterizingflavororaromaotherthantobacco.  

c. Paragraph (a) ofthissubsection (8) shallnotapplytoanyretailerthatmeetsallofthe
followingcriteria:  

i)  Primarilysellstobaccoproducts;  
ii) Generatesmorethan60percentofitsgrossrevenuesannuallyfromthesale

oftobaccoproducts;  
iii) Doesnotpermitanypersonunder21yearsofagetobepresentorenterthe

premisesatanytime, unlessaccompaniedbytheperson'sparentorlegal
guardian, asdefinedinSection6903oftheFamilyCode;  

iv) Doesnotsellalcoholicbeveragesorfoodforconsumptiononthepremises;   
and

5of14
Ordinance2259 May16, 2017

Page 176



v) Posts a sign outside the retail location that clearly, sufficiently, and
conspicuously informs the public that persons under 21 years of age are

prohibited from entering the premises. 
9. Vending machines prohibited. No tobacco product or electronic smoking device shall

be sold, offered for sale, or distributed to the public from a vending machine or
appliance, or any other coin or token operated mechanical device designed or used for

vending purposes, including, but not limited to, machines or devices that use remote
control locking mechanisms. 

10. Prohibition on sale or distribution of tobacco products or electronic smoking devices
to persons under 21 years. No retailer shall sell, offer for sale, or distribute any
tobacco product or electronic smoking device to any individual who is under 21 years
of age. 

d) Eligibility requirements for a permit. 

1. No retailer permit maybe issued to authorize retailing at other than a fixed location. For

example, retailing by persons on foot or from vehicles is prohibited. 

2. No retailer permit maybe issued to authorize retailing at a temporary or recurring
temporary event. For example, retailing at flea markets and farmers' markets is
prohibited. 

3. No retailer permit may be issued to authorize retailing at any location where the
profession of pharmacy is practiced by a pharmacist licensed by the State of California in
accordance with the Business and Professions Code and where prescription drugs are

offered for sale. 

4. No retailer permit may be issued to authorize retailing at any location within 1, 000 feet
of a school, as measured by a straight line between any point along the property line of
any parcel on which a school is located and any point along the perimeter of the
applicant' s proposed business location; provided, however, that the prohibition

contained in this subsection ( d)( 4) shall not apply to the following: 
a. Any retailer of tobacco products operating lawfully on the date immediately prior to

this Section becoming effective; and
b. Any retailer of electronic smoking devices operating lawfully on the date

immediately prior to this Section becoming effective; and
c. Any lawfully operating retailer of tobacco products that would otherwise become

ineligible to receive or renew a retailer permit due to the creation or relocation of a
school. 

5. No retailer permit may be issued to authorize retailing at a location which is within 500
feet of a location occupied by another retailer, as measured by a straight line between
any point along the property line of any parcel on which a retailer is located and any
point along the perimeter of the applicant's proposed business location, provided, 

however, that the prohibition contained in this subsection ( d)( 5) shall not apply to: 
a. Existing retailers of tobacco products operating lawfully on the date immediately

prior to this Section becoming effective; and

6of14

Ordinance 2259 May 16, 2017Page 177



b. Existing retailers of electronic smoking devices operating lawfully on the date
immediately prior to amendment of this Section to regulate the retailing of
electronic smoking devices. 

6. Any exemption granted to a retailer pursuant to this Section shall cease to apply upon
the earlier of the following to occur: 

a. The retailer fails to timely renew the retailer permit pursuant to this Section. 
b. Anew person obtains ownership in the business. 

e) Application procedure. 

1. It is the responsibility of each retailer to be informed of all laws applicable to retailing, 
including those laws affecting the issuance of a retailer permit. No retailer may rely on
the issuance of a retailer permit as a determination by the Town that the retailer has
complied with all laws applicable to retailing. A retailer permit issued contrary to this
Section, contrary to any other law, or on the basis of false or misleading information
supplied by a retailer shall be revoked pursuant to this Section. 

2. All retailer permit applications shall be submitted on a form supplied by the Town or its
Designee to implement this Section. 

3. A permitted retailer shall inform the Town or its Designee in writing of any change in the
information submitted on an application for a retailer permit within 14 calendar days of

a change. 

4. All information specified in an application pursuant to this Section shall be subject to

disclosure under the California Public Records Act (Government Code Section 6250 et

seq.) or any other applicable law, subject to any exemptions. 

f) Issuance ofpermit. 

1. Upon the receipt of a complete application for a retailer permit, the application fee, and

the annual permit fee, the Town or its Designee shall issue a retailer permit unless

substantial evidence demonstrates that one or more of the following bases for denial
exists: 

a. The information presented in the application is inaccurate or false. 

b. The application seeks authorization for retailing at a location for which this Section
prohibits issuance of a retailer permit. 

c. The application seeks authorization for retailing by a person to whom this Section
prohibits issuance of a retailer permit. 

d. The application seeks authorization for retailing that is prohibited pursuant to this
Section (e. g., mobile vending) or that is unlawful pursuant to any other law. 

2. A retailer permit shall be revoked if the Town finds that one or more of the bases for

denial of a retailer permit under this Section existed at the time application was made

or at any time before the retailer permit issued. Such a revocation shall be without

prejudice to the filing of a new permit application. 
3. A decision to deny issuance of a retailer permit or to revoke a retailer permit that has

been wrongly issued may be appealed pursuant to this Section. 

7of14

Ordinance 2259 May 16, 2017Page 178



g) Permit term, renewal, and expiration. 

1. Term of permit. The term of a retailer permit is one year. A retailer permit is invalid

upon expiration. 

2. Renewal of permit. The Town or its Designee shall renew a valid retailer permit upon

timely payment of the annual permit fee. The Town or its Designee may, in its
discretion, agree to renew any expired retailer permit within the three -month period

following expiration if the retailer pays the annual permit fee and applicable late
charges. For every calendar month, or fraction thereof, that a retailer fails to renew an
expired retailer permit, a late charge equal to 20 percent of the annual permit fee shall

be assessed. A retailer permit renewed within three calendar months of expiration shall

be treated as if timely renewed. 
3. Issuance of permit after revocation or expiration of permit. To apply for a new retailer

permit more than three calendar months after expiration of a retailer permit or

following revocation of a retailer permit that was wrongly issued, a retailer must submit
a complete application for a retailer permit, along with the application fee and annual
permit fee. The Town or its Designee shall issue a retailer permit pursuant to the

requirements of this Section. 

h) Permits nontransferable. 

1. A retailer permit may not be transferred from one person to another or from one

location to another. Whenever a new person obtains ownership in a business for which
a retailer permit has been issued, a new retailer permit shall be required, but any
exemption granted pursuant to Section ( d) shall cease to apply. 

2. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section, prior violations of this Section at a

location shall continue to be counted against a location and permit ineligibility and
suspension periods shall continue to apply to a location unless: 
a. One hundred percent of the interest in the stock, assets, or income of the business, 

other than a security interest for the repayment of debt, has been transferred to
one or more new owners; and

b. The Town or its Designee is provided with clear and convincing evidence, 
including an affidavit, that the business has been acquired in an arm' s length
transaction. 

i) Permit conveys a limited, conditional privilege. 

Nothing in this Section shall be construed to grant any person obtaining and maintaining a
retailer permit any status or right other than the limited, conditional privilege to act as a

retailer at the location in the Town identified on the face of the permit. 

Sof14

Ordinance 2259 May 16, 2017Page 179



j) Fees. 

The Town or its Designee shall not issue or renew a retailer permit prior to full payment of

any applicable fees. The Town shall, from time to time, establish by resolution the fees to
issue or to renew a retailer permit. The fees shall be calculated so as to recover the cost of

administration and enforcement of this Section, including, for example, issuing a permit, 
administering the permit program, conducting retailer education, performing retailer

inspection and compliance checks, documenting violations, and prosecuting violators, but
shall not exceed the cost of the regulatory program authorized by this Section. All fees
and interest earned from such fees shall be used exclusively to fund administration and
enforcement of this Section. 

k) Compliance monitoring. 

1. Compliance with this Section shall be monitored by the Town or its Designee. In
addition, any peace officer may enforce the penal provisions of this Section. The Town

Manager may designate any number of additional persons to monitor and facilitate
compliance with this Section. 

2. The Town or its Designee shall check each retailer at least once per 12 -month period to

determine if the retailer is complying with all laws applicable to retailing, other than
those laws regulating underage access to tobacco products or electronic smoking
devices. Nothing in this paragraph shall create a right of action in any retailer or other
person against the Town or its agents. 

1) Prevention of underage sales. 

1. The Town or its Designee shall check each retailer to determine whether the retailer is

conducting business in a manner that complies with laws regulating youth access to
tobacco products or electronic smoking devices. Nothing in this paragraph shall create a
right of action in any retailer or other person against the Town or its agents. 

2. The Town or its Designee shall not enforce any law establishing a minimum age for
tobacco product or electronic smoking device purchases or possession against a person
who otherwise might be in violation of such law because of the person' s age ( "Youth

Decoy ") if the potential violation occurs when: 

a. The Youth Decoy is participating in a compliance check supervised by a peace officer
or a code enforcement official of the Town; 

b. The Youth Decoy is acting as an agent of a person designated by the Town to
monitor compliance with this Section; or

c. The Youth Decoy is participating in a compliance check funded in part, either directly
or indirectly through subcontracting, by the Town, or the California Department of
Public Health. 

9of14

Ordinance 2259 May 16, 2017Page 180



m) Penalties for a violation by a retailer with a permit. 

1. In addition to any other penalty authorized by law, an administrative fine shall be
imposed and a retailer permit shall be suspended if any court of competent jurisdiction
determines, or the Town or its Designee finds based on a preponderance of the

evidence, after the retailer is afforded notice and an opportunity to be heard, that the

retailer, or any of the retailer' s agents or employees, has violated any of the
requirements, conditions, or prohibitions of this Section, has pled guilty, " no contest" or
its equivalent to such a violation, or has admitted to such a violation. 

2. Amount of fine. Each such violation shall be subject to an administrative fine as follows: 

a. A fine not to exceed $ 100.00 for a first violation within a 12 -month period; 

b. A fine not to exceed $ 200.00 for a second violation within a 12 -month period; and

c. A fine not to exceed $ 500.00 for each additional violation within a 12 -month period. 

3. Time period for permit suspension. 

a. For a first violation of this Section at a location within any 24 -month period, the
retailer permit shall be suspended for up to 30 calendar days. 

b. For a second violation of this Section at a location within any 24 -month period, 
the retailer permit shall be suspended for up to 90 calendar days. 

c. For each additional violation of this Section at a location within any 24 -month
period, the retailer permit shall be suspended for up to one year. 

4. Waiver of penalties for first violation. The Town or its Designee may waive any penalties
for a retailer' s first violation of any requirement, condition or prohibition of this Section, 
other than a violation of a law regulating youth access to tobacco products or electronic
smoking devices, if the retailer admits the violation in writing and agrees to forego a

hearing on the allegations. Regardless of the Town' s or its Designee' s waiver of penalties

for a first violation, the violation will be considered in determining the penalties for any
future violation. 

5. Corrections period. The Town or its Designee shall have discretion to allow a retailer a

period of time to correct any violation of any requirement, condition or prohibition of

this Section, other than a violation of a law regulating youth access to tobacco products
or electronic smoking devices. If a retailer' s violation is corrected within the time

allowed for correction, no penalty shall be imposed under this Section. 
6. Appeals. Any penalties imposed under this Section may be appealed pursuant to Section

A18 -381 of this Section. 

n) Penalties for retailing without a permit. 

1. Administrative fine. In addition to any other penalty authorized by law, an
administrative fine and an ineligibility period for application or issuance of a retailer
permit shall be imposed if a court of competent jurisdiction determines, or the Town or

its Designee finds based on a preponderance of evidence, after notice and an

opportunity to be heard, that any person has engaged in retailing at a location without a
valid retailer permit, either directly or through the person' s agents or employees, has

10 of 14

Ordinance 2259 May 16, 2017Page 181



pled guilty, "no contest" or its equivalent to such a violation, or has admitted to such a
violation. 

2. Amount offine. Each such violation shall be subject to an administrative fine as follows: 
a. A fine not to exceed $ 100.00 for a first violation within a 12 -month period; 

b. A fine not to exceed $ 200.00 for a second violation within a 12 -month period; 

and

c. A fine not to exceed $ 500.00 for each additional violation within a 12 -month period. 

3. Time period for permit ineligibility. 

a. For a first violation of this Section at a location within any 24 -month period, no new

retailer permit may be issued for the person or the location ( unless ownership of the
business at the location has been transferred in an arm' s length transaction) until 30

calendar days have passed from the date of the violation. 

b. For a second violation of this Section at a location within any 24 -month period, no
new retailer permit may be issued for the person or the location ( unless ownership
of the business at the location has been transferred in an arm' s length transaction) 

until 90 calendar days have passed from the date of the violation. 

c. For each additional violation of this Section at a location within any 24 -month
period, no new retailer permit may be issued for the person or the location (unless
ownership of the business at the location has been transferred in an arm' s length
transaction) until one year has passed from the date of the violation. 

4. Waiver of penalties for first violation. The Town or its Designee may waive any penalties
for a retailer' s first violation of this Section, unless the violation also involves a violation

of a law regulating youth access to tobacco products or electronic smoking devices, if
the retailer admits the violation in writing and agrees to forego a hearing on the
allegations. Regardless of the Town' s or its Designee' s waiver of penalties for a first

violation, the violation will be considered in determining the penalties for any future
violation. 

5. Appeals. Any penalties imposed under this Section may be appealed pursuant to this
Section. 

o) Appeals. 

1. A decision to deny issuance of a retailer permit, to revoke a retailer permit that has
been wrongly issued, or to impose penalties for a violation of this Section can be

appealed to a hearing officer, subject to the following requirements and procedures. 
The hearing officer shall be the Town Manager or its Designee. 

2. All appeals must be in writing, state the grounds asserted for relief and the relief
sought, and be filed with the Town or its Designee within ten calendar days of receipt of

notice of the appealed action. If such an appeal is made, it shall stay enforcement of the
appealed action. 

3. No later than 15 calendar days after receipt of the appeal, the hearing officer shall set
an appeal hearing at the earliest practicable time and shall give notice of the hearing to
the parties at least ten calendar days before the date of the hearing. 

11 of 14

Ordinance 2259 May 16, 2017Page 182



4. Neither the provisions of the Administration Procedure Act (Government Code Section

11500 et seq.) nor the formal rules of evidence in civil or criminal judicial proceedings
shall apply to such hearing. At the hearing, the hearing officer may admit any evidence, 
including witnesses, relevant to the determination of the matter, except as otherwise

provided in Section A18- 382( c) of this Section. A record of the hearing shall be made by
any means, including electronic recording, so long as a reasonably accurate and
complete written transcription of the proceedings can be made. 

5. The hearing officer may continue the hearing from time to time, in his or her sole
discretion, to allow for orderly completion of the hearing. 

6. After the conclusion of the hearing, the hearing officer shall issue a written decision, 
which shall be supported by substantial evidence. Notice of the written decision, 
including findings of facts, conclusions of law, and notification of the time period in

which judicial review may be sought pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.6, 
shall be served upon all parties no later than 20 calendar days following the date on
which the hearing closed. Any decision rendered by the hearing officer shall be a final
administrative decision. 

p) Enforcement. 

1. Any violation of this Section is hereby declared to be a public nuisance. 

2. Causing, permitting, aiding, abetting, or concealing a violation of any provision of this
Section shall also constitute a violation of this Section. 

3. Whenever evidence of a violation of this Section is obtained in any part through the
participation of a person under the age of 18 years old, such a person shall not be

required over his or her objection to appear or give testimony in any civil or
administrative process brought to enforce this Section and the alleged violation shall be

adjudicated based upon the sufficiency and persuasiveness of the evidence presented. 
4. Violations of this Section may be remedied by a civil action brought by the Town, 

including, but not limited to, administrative or judicial nuisance abatement proceedings, 
civil code enforcement proceedings, and suits for injunctive relief. For the purposes of

the civil remedies provided in this Section, each day on which a tobacco product or
electronic smoking device is offered for sale in violation of this Section, and each
individual retail tobacco product or electronic smoking device that is distributed, sold, or
offered for sale in violation of this Section, shall constitute a separate violation of this
Section. 

5. Any person found guilty of violating any provision of this Section shall be deemed guilty
of an infraction, punishable as provided by California Government Code § 25132. 

6. The remedies provided by this Section are cumulative and in addition to any other
remedies available at law or in equity. 

12 of 14

Ordinance 2259 May 16, 2017Page 183



SECTION II

The Town Council finds and determines that the adoption of this ordinance is exempt

from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) per CEQA Guidelines
under the General Rule (Section 15061( b)( 3)), which sets forth that the CEQA applies only to
projects which have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment. It can be
seen with certainty that the proposed Town Code text amendments will have no significant
negative effect on the environment. 

SECTION III

If any provision of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or
circumstances is held to be invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or
applications of the ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or

application, and to this end the provisions of this ordinance are severable. The Town Council

hereby declares that it would have adopted this ordinance irrespective of the invalidity of any
particular portion thereof and intends that the invalid portions should be severed and the
balance of the ordinance be enforced. 

SECTION IV

Except as expressly modified in this Ordinance, all other Sections set forth in the Los
Gatos Town Code shall remain unchanged and shall be in full force and effect. 

SECTION V

This Ordinance shall take effect on January 1, 2018. In lieu of publication of the full text

of the ordinance within fifteen (15) days after its passage, a summary of the ordinance may be
published at least five (5) days prior to and fifteen (15) days after adoption by the Town Council
and a certified copy shall be posted in the office of the Town Clerk, pursuant to GC 36933(c)( 1). 

13 of 14

Ordinance 2259 May 16, 2017Page 184



SECTION VI

This Ordinance was introduced at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of
Los Gatos on the 2nd day of May, 2017, and adopted by the following vote as an ordinance of
the Town of Los Gatos at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos on
the 16`" day of May, 2017. 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES: Marcia Jensen, Steve Leonardis, Rob Rennie, Barbara Spector, Mayor Marico Sayoc

NAYS: None. 

ABSENT: None. 

ABSTAIN: None. 

SIGNED: 

f/ f " D 

MAYOR OF TH TOWN S GATOS

LOS GATOS, C IA

DATE: 5- 1- 7

ATTEST: 

zV&Q-w-t -,\Vn

CLERK ADMINISTRATOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS

LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA

DATE: 

14 of 14

Ordinance 2259 May 16, 2017Page 185



Santa Clara County Public Health Department 
Tobacco-Free Communities Program 

City-County Tobacco Retail Permitting Annual Summary 
 
In August 2017, the County of Santa Clara and the Town of Los Gatos entered in a City-County Tobacco 
Retail Permitting (TRP) Agreement where the County is responsible for the implementation, 
administration, monitoring, and enforcement (except tobacco sales to minors laws) of the Town’s 
ordinance. Below is an annual summary of the ordinance within its first year of implementation. 
 
OVERVIEW OF LOS GATOS’S TOBACCO RETAIL LANDSCAPE 
Prior to the implementation of the TRP, there were a total of 29 tobacco retailers in the Town of Los 
Gatos. However, post-policy implementation has resulted in a decrease of ten tobacco retailers. Five 
businesses were restricted from selling tobacco products because they had a licensed pharmacist on-site 
(Rite Aid and Safeway), four businesses did not apply for the TRP and are no longer engaging in the sale 
of tobacco products (Maple Leaf Donuts, Blossom Valley Valero, Safeway Store 742, and Lunardi’s 
Market), and two locations are no longer in business (Smith’s Liquor and Los Gatos Cigar Club). 
 
As of September 2019, a total of 19 businesses are permitted by the Santa Clara County Department of 
Environmental Health to sell tobacco products in the Town of Los Gatos (see Table 1). Eleven stores are 
located within 500 feet of an existing tobacco retailer and 10 are located within 1,000 feet of a school 
(defined as public or private elementary, middle, junior high, and high school). Currently, there are no 
adult-only tobacco stores operating in the Town of Los Gatos. 
 
Since the effective date of the Tobacco Retail Permitting Ordinance, no new businesses have made 
attempts to apply for a TRP. However, we identified one new e-commerce business engaging in tobacco 
sales and we are determining their tobacco retail permit eligibility. 
 
Table 1: List of Permitted Tobacco Retailers in the Town of Los Gatos 

Store Name Address 500 ft. of tobacco 
retailers 

1,000 ft. of schools 

1. Los Gatos 76 
(Mobil) 

666 N. Santa Cruz Ave. 7-11 2233-14221 (235 
ft.) 

 

2. Rotten Robbie #1 15299 Los Gatos Blvd. Los Gatos 76 (Los Gatos 
Blvd) (258 ft.) 

 

3. Marsh Fuel (Los 
Gatos Chevron) 

200 Los Gatos Saratoga 
Rd. 

Village Liquors (160 ft.), 
Shell of Los Gatos (396 
ft.) 

 

4. Carry Nations 8 N. Santa Cruz Ave.  St. Mary's Catholic 
School (310 ft.) 

5. Los Gatos Valero 16500 Los Gatos Blvd. Los Gatos Wines & 
Liquor (85 ft.) 

Louis Van Meter 
Elementary (302 ft.) 

6. 7-Eleven Store 
2233-14221 

657 N. Santa Cruz Ave. Los Gatos 76 (Santa 
Cruz Ave.) (235 ft.) 

 

7. Village Liquors  211 Los Gatos Saratoga 
Rd. 

Marsh Fuel (160 ft.), 
Shell of Los Gatos (411 
ft.) 

 

8. Los Gatos Chevron 700 Blossom Hill Rd.   

Page 186



9. Los Gatos Almaden 
Chevron 

441 Leigh Ave.  Stratford School Los 
Gatos (755 ft.), South 
Valley Carden School 
(SJ) (650 ft.), Leigh High 
School (SJ) (144 ft.) 

10. 7-Eleven Store 
2233-14211B 

280 E. Main St. Dio Deka (478 ft.) Los Gatos High (177 ft.) 

11. Los Gatos Wine & 
Liquors 

16498 Los Gatos Blvd. Los Gatos Valero (85 
ft.) 

Louise Van Meter 
Elementary (220 ft.) 

12. Dio Deka 210 E. Main St. 7-11 #2233-14211B 
(478 ft.) 

Los Gatos High (110 ft.) 

13. Los Gatos Cigar 
Club 

21 College Ave.  Los Gatos High (734 ft.) 

14. MJ Market & 
Liquor 

15665 Los Gatos Blvd.   

15. Valero of Los Gatos 
(formerly Shell of 
Los Gatos) 

255 Los Gatos Saratoga 
Rd. 

Marsh Fuel (396 ft.), 
Village Liquors (411 ft.) 

 

16. Rinconada Liquor 
Store 

1480 Pollard Rd.  Rolling Hills Middle 
School (Campbell) (348 
ft.) 

17. Los Gatos 76 15380 Los Gatos Blvd. Rotten Robbie #1 (258 
ft.) 

 

18. Black Watch  141 ½ N. Santa Cruz 
Ave. 

 St. Mary's Catholic 
School (509 ft.) 

19. Lark Ave. 76 15171 Los Gatos Blvd.  Rainbow of Knowledge 
Elementary School (521 
ft.) 

 
 
LOS GATOS TOBACCO RETAILER INSPECTIONS 
The Santa Clara County Department of Environmental Health conducted tobacco compliance checks in 
the permitted Los Gatos tobacco retailers during the month of March 2019. Please see Table 2 for 
summary of outcomes. All the stores listed above, with the exception of Lark Ave. 76 were visited. 
 
Table 2: Summary of the Tobacco Compliance Checks 

Indicator % Stores in 
Compliance 

Santa Clara County (SCC) TRP Available 94% (n=16) 

SCC TRP Posted in Public View 59% (n=10) 

California Department of Tax and Fee Administration (CDTFA) Tobacco License Posted 
in Public View 

88% (n=15) 

Self-Service Tobacco and/or Electronic Smoking Device Displayed 100% (n=17) 

STAKE Act Warning Signs Posted at Point(s) of Purchase 71% (n=12) 

Sale of Cigarette Packs Containing <20 Cigarettes 100% (n=17) 

Advertising and Signage Covers >15% of Windows and Clear Doors 88% (n=15) 

Advertising and Signage Obstructs a Clear View into the Interior of the Premises 88% (n=15) 

Page 187



Sale of Flavored Tobacco Products 71% (n= 12) 

Tobacco Sampling and/or Coupon Distribution 100% (n=17) 

Smoking in an Enclosed Space at a Place of Employment 100% (n=17) 

 
As reflected in Table 2, all the stores have a SCC TRP, and almost all the stores had them available in the 
store during the time of the visit. A little over half of stores had their SCC TRP posted in public view, a 
requirement of the Ordinance, and remaining stores were asked by the Santa Clara County Department 
of Environmental Health Inspector to correct the issue. More than three-quarters of stores had their 
CDTFA tobacco license posted in public view and those that did not were asked by the Inspector to 
correct the issue. Over three-quarters of the stores had their STAKE (Stop Tobacco Access to Kids 
Enforcement) Act sign posted at each point of purchase. To support stores come in compliance with this, 
Santa Clara County Public Health Department staff have mailed the required signage to the businesses. 
Over two-thirds of stores were in compliance with the flavored tobacco restriction, however stores that 
were out of compliance were asked to immediately cease the sales of all flavored tobacco products. The 
Santa Clara County Department of Environmental Health mailed follow-up letters to businesses notifying 
them of their violations and conducted re-inspection visits in September 2019, particularly to ensure 
that stores not exempted from the flavored tobacco restriction have continued to cease sales of 
flavored tobacco products. 

Page 188



ATTACHMENT 3

Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



 

PREPARED BY: Robert Schultz 
 Town Attorney 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 11 

ADDENDUM 

    

 

DATE:   September 30, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Robert Schultz, Town Attorney 

SUBJECT: Review of Tobacco Retailers Ordinance and Annual Report from County of 
Santa Clara on Implementation of the Ordinance and Discuss Potential 
Amendments to the Ordinance to Prohibit the Sale of Electronic Smoking 
Devices 

 
REMARKS:  
 
Attachment 5 contains public comment received after the distribution of the staff report 

and before 11:00 a.m. on September 30, 2019.  

 
Attachments: 

1. Ordinance No. 2259 
2. Los Gatos Tobacco Retail Permit Annual Summary 
3. Material Received from Mayor Leonardis 
4. Material Received from Bay Area City Attorneys Meeting 

 
Attachments received with this Addendum: 

5. Public comment received after the distribution of the staff report and before 11:00 a.m. 

September 30, 2019.  

 

Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



 

PREPARED BY: Matt Morley 
 Parks and Public Works Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, and Town Attorney 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 12 

 
   

 

DATE:   September 26, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Provide Feedback and Direction on the Downtown One-Way Pilot Project 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Provide feedback and further direction on the Downtown One-Way Pilot Project. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
On May 7, 2019 the Town Council approved a project for conversion of North Santa Cruz 
Avenue to a one-way street between Bachman Avenue and Elm Street as a four-month pilot 
program.  The project included restriping for the one-way street, the addition of angled parking, 
and the addition of seven parklets along North Santa Cruz Avenue. 
 
The pilot began with the idea that wider sidewalks would provide a functional improvement to 
the downtown, allowing for a more comfortable walking experience and for programming of 
spaces along the sidewalks for activities like sidewalk dining.  To achieve wider sidewalks, the 
potential pilot widening would need to obtain space from either existing parking or from a 
travel lane, reducing those areas by the space needed for more sidewalk.  The pilot was 
designed to allow for exploration of these ideas and to illustrate the tradeoffs associated with 
the component parts.  Wider sidewalks and reductions in parking were simulated through the 
installation of parklets.   
 
The installation of angled parking towards the northerly end created an overall small net 
increase in parking, offsetting the decrease due to the temporary parklets.  The reduction of a 
travel lane allowed for all of the changes and provided a real experience for residents, 
businesses, and visitors on the possible benefits of widening the downtown sidewalks and 
sidewalk dining. 
 

Page 225



PAGE 2 OF 6 
SUBJECT: Provide Feedback and Direction on the Downtown One-Way Pilot Project  
DATE:  September 26, 2019 
 
 
BACKGROUND (continued): 
 
On July 8, 2019, the one-way pilot was installed.  The direction from Council included removal 
of the pilot program at the end of October.   
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
Staff has monitored the pilot throughout the course of the pilot program.  The following 
sections highlight observations through the course of the program. 
 
Public Outreach and Feedback 
 
Leading up to and during the pilot, staff conducted significant public outreach, including 
postings on social media and attending meetings of business and community groups.  The Town 
also established a dedicated web page with more information, including FAQs:  
https://www.losgatosca.gov/2529/NSC-One-Way-Street-Pilot.  The pilot also garnered much 
attention through television media outlets, several of whom carried news stories in print and 
on television.  Despite extensive efforts to get information out about the purpose of the pilot, 
the biggest challenge was countering the idea that the one-way pilot was meant to address 
beach cut through traffic. 
 
The Town marketed the summer event season through a new branding called ExperienceLG.  
Through this effort, a separate email address (experiencelg@losgatosca.gov) was developed 
and provided an opportunity to gather specific input.  From emails and phone calls on the one-
way pilot specifically, 70 communications were generally against the pilot and 54 
communications were generally in support through September 26.  Public comments are 
provided as Attachment 1.  The Chamber of Commerce is also currently conducting a poll of 
businesses and will provide that information prior to the Town Council meeting. 
 
Over the course of the pilot, when cost effective, staff adjusted initial elements to address 
some concerns that were brought up.  Adjustments included programming more active cleaning 
of the parklets and furniture, providing umbrellas for shade, and adding interactive features 
such as a piano, tic tac toe, and a giant chess set. 
 
During the week of September 23, everyone who submitted an email with feedback on the pilot 
received an email from the Town with the October 1st Town Council meeting information, 
including how to download this report and the Town Council agenda.  In addition, a post on 
Nextdoor, What’s New, and other social media will provide similar information to those 
community users. 
 
 

Page 226



PAGE 3 OF 6 
SUBJECT: Provide Feedback and Direction on the Downtown One-Way Pilot Project  
DATE:  September 26, 2019 
 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
Roadway Configuration and Traffic 
 
Over the course of the pilot program, staff observed the roadway configuration to ensure the 
pilot was safe and functional.  A major concern early on was ensuring that drivers did not turn 
the wrong way given the new configuration.  Signage was designed to achieve this, and 
although a few wrong way instances occurred at the beginning of the program, no accidents 
have resulted to date. 
 
The capacity of Main Street at University Avenue to handle the additional traffic was another 
concern.  The left turn pocket from Main Street to University Avenue is very short and 
therefore has little capacity to hold vehicles waiting to turn onto University Avenue.  Any 
significant increases in traffic at the intersection has the ability to quickly create congestion all 
the way through the intersection of Main Street and Santa Cruz Avenue.  Designing the one-
way to start at Elm Street instead of Main was meant to provide some relief to the University 
Avenue and Main Street intersection and seems to have achieved that goal.  Extending the one-
way in potential future configurations to Main Street would not be recommended by staff. 
 
Other observations included that traffic on University Avenue grew significantly during the 
course of the pilot.  The impact from this increase is especially noticeable during the morning 
and afternoon school drop-off and pickup times, and during busy lunchtime periods.  Stop signs 
along University Avenue kept speeds slow, but also added to congestion as vehicles were 
unable to move through the intersections efficiently enough to reduce backups.  The 
intersection of University Avenue and Highway 9 appeared to manage the load, clearing traffic 
on University Avenue with each cycle.  Staff believes that the change in traffic on University 
Avenue associated with the pilot put that street at its maximum capacity.  Some of the 
information provided through traffic analysis included: 

 During the summer (when school is out), traffic on University Avenue increased 51% per 
day compared to previous years in the same timeframe. 

 With school in session in September, traffic on University Avenue increased by 39% per 
day compared to previous years in the same timeframe. 

 Northbound Massol Avenue traffic increased 130% during the morning school commute 
and 58% over a 24 hour period. 

 Northbound Tait Avenue traffic counts are in progress and will be provided prior to the 
Council meeting.  

 Southbound Santa Cruz Avenue traffic did not change as a result of the one-way pilot. 

 Approximately 70% of the previous traffic on northbound Santa Cruz Avenue was 
rerouted to University Avenue.  The remaining 30% was distributed to local streets or 
remained on Highway 17. 

 

Page 227



PAGE 4 OF 6 
SUBJECT: Provide Feedback and Direction on the Downtown One-Way Pilot Project  
DATE:  September 26, 2019 
 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
Parklets 
 
The parklets received mixed reviews over the course of the pilot program.  Although used less 
frequently during the heat of the afternoons, the parklets had more use in the evenings.  The 
addition of interactive activities including a piano and a giant chess set provided a positive 
change and attracted more involvement.   
 
Staff reviewed the initial criticism on the visual appearance of the parklets.  In general, given 
the many changes in driver behavior the pilot introduced, the concrete barrier approach 
provided a high level of protection to parklet users.  In addition, given cost considerations and 
the short-term aspect of the pilot program, the barriers provided an efficient and safe way to 
illustrate a parklet concept. Staff does regret not using a more vibrant design for the vinyl wrap 
on the barriers as initially considered. Costs for planters, higher end furniture, and/or more 
elaborate barriers do not seem warranted given the short-term nature of the pilot program. 
 
Much feedback came in the way of suggesting the parklets be placed in front of restaurants for 
their use.  Given the challenge with selecting the restaurants and modifying alcohol and food 
service permits, the decision on locations seemed to have provided good spacing and equal 
benefit.  Independent of the one-way pilot, the Town has also received a number of 
applications from businesses and property owners to install parklets through the separate 
Parklet Pilot and did not want to interfere with the progress on those efforts.  Staff did consider 
moving one parklet; however, the logistics with moving the heavy barriers proved difficult and 
the decision was made not to do so. 
 
Angled Parking 
 
The use of angled parking provided a good opportunity to try a change and assisted in ensuring 
that the pilot program did not negatively impact the overall parking space counts.  Because of 
the efficiencies of angled parking, the pilot program saw a net gain of six parking spaces, even 
accounting for those lost to parklet use. 
 
Feedback on angled parking included the ease of use in comparison to parallel parking and the 
traffic calming effect of cars backing out into the travel lane.  Some feedback did highlight that 
the angled parking changed the look of the downtown too much and provided obstructions to 
the visibility of storefronts. 
 
 
 
 

Page 228



PAGE 5 OF 6 
SUBJECT: Provide Feedback and Direction on the Downtown One-Way Pilot Project  
DATE:  September 26, 2019 
 
 
CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS: 
 
The pilot project is set to complete at the end of October.  To that end, staff has begun planning 
for the return to the previous two-way configuration including the removal of angled parking 
and parklets.   
 
The original plan had included the application of a pavement slurry seal to ensure the 
temporary improvements are fully removed and to address current pavement maintenance 
needs.  However, the estimated costs for this work have come in extremely high due to the 
small size of this part of the project.  In addition, this type of work requires warmer 
temperatures and can be challenging in the fall when weather is less reliable.  The work should 
be completed at night, to prevent interference with downtown businesses, and lower nighttime 
temperatures in October could prevent the material from hardening, delaying the road from 
reopening.  As an alternative, staff would like to remove the existing striping and black out the 
marks temporarily.  North Santa Cruz Avenue will then be included in next year’s pavement 
maintenance program to fully address the roadway’s maintenance needs.  This should 
maximize cost effectiveness and minimize disruption to businesses.  The concrete barriers are 
rented and will be returned to the vendor.  The Town purchased the furniture and will use 
some of it in the Plaza and surplus what is not needed.   
 
Given the overall information garnered from the pilot program, staff recommends the Council 
provide feedback or direction in several areas: 

1. Should any element of the pilot project remain in place past the end of the pilot 
program?  Staff will compile costs associated with ongoing efforts for future funding 
decisions by the Council. 

2. Was the one-way portion of the pilot successful given the changes in traffic patterns 
that were created?  If so, how should staff plan for future configurations? 

3. Was the diagonal parking successful?  If so, should this element be considered in a 
future design of North Santa Cruz, noting the limitation that angled parking can only be 
achieved in a one-way format? 

4. One approach to create wider sidewalks is the reduction of on-street parking.  Should 
the existing parking study incorporate an analysis of the impact on parking quantities if 
some or all on street parking is removed?  

5. What other input and/or direction would the Council like to provide regarding the 
overall pilot and its elements?  This input would be useful in the preparation for future 
capital improvement projects. 

 
COORDINATION: 
 
This project has been coordinated with the Economic Vitality Manager. 
 

Page 229



PAGE 6 OF 6 
SUBJECT: Provide Feedback and Direction on the Downtown One-Way Pilot Project  
DATE:  September 26, 2019 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
The following fiscal table shows expenditures and commitments to date.  Operational costs to 
date and through the end of the pilot are forecast at $10,000 for maintenance by Parks and 
Public Works staff and have been absorbed in the Department budget.  Extension of the 
timeline for any portion of the project will increase costs and may require additional funding. 
 
 

One-Way Downtown Street Pilot 
Expenditures to Date 

Project 813-0234 

  Budget Costs 

Project Budget $238,686    

      

Striping   $153,376  

Design Consultant   $13,000  

K Rail Rental   $19,200  

K Rail Wrapping   $19,500  

Furniture   $6,359  

Outreach   $1,214  

     

      

Total Expenditures   $212,649  

      

Balance   $26,037  

 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is a project as defined under CEQA but is Categorically Exempt (Section 15301c).  A Notice 
of Exemption will not be filed. 
 
Attachment: 
1. Public Comment received through September 26, 2019 at 11 a.m. 

Page 230



ATTACHMENT 1

Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



Page 308



Page 309



Page 310



Page 311



Page 312



Page 313



Page 314



Page 315



Page 316



Page 317



Page 318



Page 319



Page 320



Page 321



Page 322



Page 323



Page 324



Page 325



Page 326



Page 327



Page 328



Page 329



Page 330



Page 331



Page 332



Page 333



Page 334



Page 335



Page 336



Page 337



Page 338



Page 339



Page 340



Page 341



Page 342



Page 343



Page 344



Page 345



Page 346



Page 347



Page 348



Page 349



Page 350



Page 351



Page 352



Page 353



Page 354



Page 355



Page 356



Page 357



Page 358



Page 359



Page 360



Page 361



Page 362



Page 363



Page 364



Page 365



Page 366



Page 367



Page 368



Page 369



Page 370



Page 371



Page 372



Page 373



Page 374



Page 375



Page 376



Page 377



Page 378



Page 379



Page 380



Page 381



Page 382



Page 383



Page 384



Page 385



 

PREPARED BY: Matt Morley 
 Parks and Public Works Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, and Town Attorney 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 12 

ADDENDUM 

 

AD 

   

 

DATE:   September 30, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Provide Feedback and Direction on the Downtown One-Way Pilot Project 

 

REMARKS: 
 
The Council Agenda Report for this item referenced forthcoming information for traffic changes 
to Tait Avenue.  Similar to Massol Avenue, Tait Avenue experienced increased traffic of 133% 
during the morning commute and 41% on an average weekday over a 24-hour period. 

 
Attachment Received with the Staff Report: 
1. Public Comments received through 11:00 a.m., Thursday, September 26, 2019. 
 
Attachment Received with this Addendum: 
2. Public Comments received between 11:01 a.m., Thursday, September 26, 2019 and 11:00 

a.m., Monday, September 30, 2019. 
 

Page 386



From: Ted Farrell <ted@tsfarrell.com>  
Sent: Monday, September 30, 2019 10:49 AM 
To: Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: One way street pilot feedback 

Dear Council Members, 

I cannot make the meeting but wanted to voice my opposition for the North Santa Cruz project.   In my 
opinion having the diagonal parking and extra streets signs have totally changed the look and vibe of the 
downtown street for the worse. 

While I think parklets could be nice if they were connected to a restaurant and nicer looking (more like 
Lexington house, less like highway construction), I don't think the one-way traffic and diagonal parking 
have a place in our main downtown street.  Rather than driving through and seeing the shops and 
people walking down the sidewalks, we now see a parking lot.  It has also made University (where we 
lived for 
14 years) a constant traffic issue. Just walking down University has lost its charm with all the cars, 
beeping and ignoring pedestrians to try to get out of the maze. 

We could try to add some parklets while limiting the number of parallel spaces we loose.  But please 
restore the vibe and look of our downtown back to what it was and what draws people to it!! 

thanks for reading. 

-ted

ATTACHMENT 2
Page 387



From: noreply@civicplus.com <noreply@civicplus.com>  
Sent: Monday, September 30, 2019 9:38 AM 
To: Town PPW <ppw@losgatosca.gov>; Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
The following form was submitted via your website: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
First Name: Janet  
 
Last Name: Wolf 
 
Email: Wolfjanet@yahoo.com 
 
Los Gatos Resident?: Yes 
 
Please leave your comments here:: I’m a very long time resident of los Gatos. I like seeing out of the box 
thinking.  In terms of the Parklet pilot I think that the Parklets are a good idea and have seen people 
using them. I think that will improve if they are better constructed when businesses get involved. In 
terms of the One way street I really believe that has been a detriment to the town. It looks like a parking 
lot rather than a welcoming downtown. Are you see is the back of cars as you drive down the street and 
it obstructs the view of the store fronts on this side of the angle parking. You have a hard time seeing 
them if you were walking down the street on the opposite side.  I would love to see the parking problem 
addressed with possibly some parking garages. The most thriving downtowns provide visitors a place to 
park that is easy and Convenient. I see that both in Willow Glen and especially in Campbell where 
parking was added or exists in parking garages.  I would love to have the town consider parking and 
make it a high-priority. It has been talked about for a long time and it’s time to come to some 
reasonable solutions!  Thank you 
 
  

Page 388



From: noreply@civicplus.com <noreply@civicplus.com>  
Sent: Sunday, September 29, 2019 6:58 PM 
To: Town PPW <ppw@losgatosca.gov>; Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
The following form was submitted via your website: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
First Name: Lou 
 
Last Name: Albert 
 
Email: lou.albert@yahoo.com 
 
Los Gatos Resident?: Yes 
 
Please leave your comments here:: I am strongly in favor of the Parklets concept. I would encourage the 
planning department to emphasize parklets that can be incorporated into restaurants and are 
expansive, treed and comfortable.  I believe we could live with much fewer parallel parking spots. I know 
local businesses are concerned that few parking spots equal fewer customers but a more walkable, bike 
friendly and vibrant downtown will be a more modern downtown in the decades to come. That type of 
downtown will equal more customers. Real bike lanes that don't just end "into oblivion", are safe and 
separated from traffic will greatly help. Encouraging a bicycle shop to open up a check in/out bike 
storage/parking lot will also help encourage people to leave their cars at home. There are a number of 
issues holding back the downtown. I believe parklets are one action that can help. 
 
  

Page 389



From: noreply@civicplus.com <noreply@civicplus.com>  
Sent: Sunday, September 29, 2019 6:14 PM 
To: Town PPW <ppw@losgatosca.gov>; Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
The following form was submitted via your website: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
First Name: Karen 
 
Last Name: Kurtz 
 
Email: kurtzk@comcast.net 
 
Los Gatos Resident?: Yes 
 
Please leave your comments here:: I want to thank the town, the council and the business owners for 
the experiment for NSC Ave. the past few months.  I like that traffic has been less when walking 
downtown.  Along with the bike lane it made being on the Avenue much safer with fewer cars.  I hope it 
helped bring more business to our shops.  I loved the idea of the piano parklet & hope that it can 
somehow remain.  Most of all I am looking forward to new decorative parklets coming in the future with 
more outdoor dining in our town.  I did not experience any problem ever in getting in and out of the 
downtown area.   
 
I encourage more of the same... More parklets, fewer cars.     
 
Thanks again for all the work.    
  

Page 390



From: noreply@civicplus.com <noreply@civicplus.com>  
Sent: Sunday, September 29, 2019 5:12 PM 
To: Town PPW <ppw@losgatosca.gov>; Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
The following form was submitted via your website: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
First Name: John 
 
Last Name: Connolly 
 
Email: jpc3md@yahoo.com 
 
Los Gatos Resident?: Yes 
 
Please leave your comments here:: I live in Almond Grove area and frequent downtown by foot daily.  
The new traffic pattern with the one way street has been bad for downtown.  It looks awful.  Driving 
down the street, it is difficult to see any of the store fronts on the east side of the street because there 
are too many cars blocking the view.  Traffic has been thrust out onto the surrounding streets, which has 
brought a host of problems, including safety issues due to unsafe drivers and road rage.   Beach traffic is 
the real issue and until a real solution for that has been concocted, nothing else really matters.  
Downtown businesses struggled mightily this summer and the one way did nothing to help it.  On the 
weekends, stores were empty but there were tons of cars on N Santa Cruz.  Also, lots of empty parking 
spaces despite all the traffic.  Parking is not the issue and having the diagonal parking is obviously not a 
necessity when there were so many parking spots open.  Why not put a gate at the Wood Rd entrance 
to Hwy 17 that you can close a few hours on weekend days in the summer?  the ramp into town can still 
stay open but just close the other one for a few hours, That is not a "closure" of the ramp, which Caltran 
opposes.  It is simply traffic control a few hours each summer weekend.   The parklets have not been 
successful either.  Rarely see anyone using them.  They would make sense in front of restaurants or 
coffee shops.  The one way has also caused downtown to lose much of its charm.  It was a good try, but 
extraordinarily unsuccessful.  Please put N Santa Cruz back to a 2-way street.   
 
  

Page 391



From: Jill Levy <jillmeryllevy@sbcglobal.net>  

Sent: Saturday, September 28, 2019 8:16 PM 

To: Matt Morley <MMorley@losgatosca.gov> 

Cc: Robert Schultz <RSchultz@losgatosca.gov> 

Subject: Re: Los Gatos Downtown One-Way Pilot Project 

 

Dear Mr. Morley, 

Thank you for your email.  I do not wish to waste my time at the Town Council meeting.  However, I do 

wish to provide additional input.  I am very much against the Downtown One-Way Project.  I believe it 

was ill-conceived, with blatant disregard for life safety and ease of commuting through downtown Los 

Gatos. 

I was a volunteer firefighter for 28 years.  I’ve been through earthquakes, fires, floods, gas leaks, and 

other emergencies in downtown Los Gatos that made it necessary to reroute traffic.  By turning North 

Santa Cruz Avenue into a one-way street, you have created what will become a nightmare for drivers 

should there be an incident on University Avenue or any of the other parallel streets.  

I’ve seen near-miss collisions on North Santa Cruz Avenue because drivers going southbound now have 

worry about motorists parked on both sides of the street moving into the lane of travel.  

I’ve seen near-miss collisions at the intersection of North Santa Cruz Avenue and Bachman because of 

bicyclists going the wrong way.  (It’s easy for drivers to think they no longer have to watch for vehicles 

coming northbound at that intersection.  Pedestrians yes.  Vehicles no.  So when a bicyclist comes 

through going the wrong way, it catches drivers off-guard.) 

It’s pure idiocy to have seating in the street, even with the barricades.  Doesn’t the Town Council watch 

the news?  It takes only one terrorist or one person with a grudge to drive through a barricade like that 

and murder anyone sitting in the street.  The Town has made those people sitting ducks.  For liability 

reasons alone, I can’t believe the Town approved such a thing.  

It is now more difficult for drivers to turn onto northbound University Avenue due to the increased 

traffic resulting from closing northbound North Santa Cruz Avenue.  And more drivers are cutting 

through the parking lots instead.   

Downtown Los Gatos was never a welcoming area for shoppers due to the miserable parking 

situation.  It is even less welcoming now.  If I didn’t work in the Eureka Building, I wouldn’t visit 

downtown Los Gatos.  And I’ve not been any further south than my workplace since the Town converted 

North Santa Cruz Avenue into a one-way street.  I have no desire to deal with the more difficult drive 

downtown.  

I’m sure I had other complaints that I can’t think of at the moment.  But I wanted to respond promptly.  

Jill Levy 

  

Page 392



From: noreply@civicplus.com <noreply@civicplus.com>  
Sent: Monday, September 30, 2019 10:23 AM 
To: Town PPW <ppw@losgatosca.gov>; Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
The following form was submitted via your website: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
First Name: Linda  
 
Last Name: Bernal 
 
Email: lbernal79@gmail.com 
 
Los Gatos Resident?: Yes 
 
Please leave your comments here:: The one-way and parklets seemed to have caused major congestion 
on University Ave.  I live on Edelen Ave and trying to make a left on University anytime during the day is 
extremely dangerous.  I cannot see oncoming traffic and so far I've avoided incidents, but it's only a 
matter of time before accidents start piling up.  There has to be a better compromise than what is now.  
This new change has the town flipped up-side down. 
 
  

Page 393



From: noreply@civicplus.com <noreply@civicplus.com>  
Sent: Friday, September 27, 2019 9:34 AM 
To: Town PPW <ppw@losgatosca.gov>; Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
The following form was submitted via your website: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
First Name: Bryan 
 
Last Name: Foertsch 
 
Email: bfoertsch@omninow.com 
 
Los Gatos Resident?: Yes 
 
Please leave your comments here:: The changes to Santa Cruz Avenue are a disaster. It has disrupted 
morning traffic causing backups on University, Bascom/Los Gatos boulevard, Los Gatos-Saratoga Main 
Street and more.  I have yet to see anyone sitting in those blocked off areas on the street that take up 
precious parking and are candidly and eye sore. Please consider this test as a failure and return Santa 
Cruz Avenue to its former free flowing street Bryan Foertsch 
 
 
  

Page 394



From: noreply@civicplus.com <noreply@civicplus.com>  
Sent: Thursday, September 26, 2019 12:08 PM 
To: Town PPW <ppw@losgatosca.gov>; Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
The following form was submitted via your website: Experience LG & One-Way Pilot Feedback 
 
First Name: Vladimir 
 
Last Name: Troy 
 
Email: vtroy@yahoo.com 
 
Los Gatos Resident?: Yes 
 
Please leave your comments here:: I am strongly against the current North Santa Cruz Pilot design. The 
street now looks like a parking lot with cheap looking sitting spaces that customers poorly use and when 
I tried with my wife I did not enjoy sitting next to cars driving by and smelling their exhaust versus seeing 
people stroll by. The design is poorly done and I hope is taken down as soon as possible.  
 
I would love for N. Santa Cruz to be a destination for families to walk and enjoy. The previous design 
while not perfect was much better. Please think about other designs. 
 
I also now have to drive through residential area to get back to my house and assume the increased 
traffic in those neighborhoods is not welcome to them. 
 
I am very disappointed with the current design. 
 
I am happy to answer any questions and can be reached at 408-242-6618. I've lived in Los Gatos for 15-
years and first time I am giving my feedback since very disappointed and hope my input is taken 
seriously. 
 
Best regards, 
Vladimir 
 
 
  

Page 395



From: Lynn Kennedy <lynnk@mac.com> 

Sent: Friday, September 27, 2019 4:24 PM 

To: Matt Morley <MMorley@losgatosca.gov> 

Cc: Council <Council@losgatosca.gov>; Town Manager <Manager@losgatosca.gov> 

Subject: Re: Los Gatos Downtown One-Way Pilot Project  

  

Matt,  

Page 1 of 3 of my letter is page 230 of your PDF. Pages 2 and 3 are not included. Can you please add my 

complete letter as a desk item. 

Thank you, 

Lynn Kennedy 

 

 

  

Page 396



Lynn	Kennedy	
P.O.	Box	2143	
Los	Gatos,	CA	95031	
	
September	24,	2019	
	
Lot	Gatos	Town	Council	
110	E.	Main	Street	
Los	Gatos,	CA	95030	
	
Re:	One-way	pilot	program	on	North	Santa	Cruz	Avenue	
	
Dear	Council	Members:	
	
It’s	hard	to	describe	how	badly	you	erred	approving	a	poorly	conceived	experiment	with	little	or	no	residential	
community	input.	This	pilot	program	is	an	utter	failure	and	there	is	no	reason	to	have	it	continue	any	longer.	Just	
admit	the	mistake,	drop	any	thought	of	making	this	permanent,	and	undertake	a	far	more	thoughtful	approach	to	
solutions	that	will	actually	enhance	the	business	district	–	solutions	that	will	benefit	residents,	visitors	and	
merchants	alike,	will	not	negatively	impact	any	stakeholders,	or	further	pit	factions	against	each	another.	
	
The	one-way	scheme	does	not	make	downtown	more	attractive.	Quite	the	contrary	–	the	sea	of	diagonally-parked	
cars	obscures	pedestrians	and	businesses	making	North	Santa	Cruz	feel	like	a	parking	lot.	Furthermore,	visitors	
now	have	a	harder	time	departing	downtown,	navigating	at	a	crawl	onto	over-crowded	residential	streets.	They	
leave	Los	Gatos	with	a	terrible	first	and	last	impression,	and	many	don’t	come	back.		
	
The	pilot	has	made	it	difficult	for	many	residents	to	get	around	town,	has	increased	commute	times,	and	has	made	
life	miserable	for	residents	of	University	Avenue	and	possibly	other	streets	that	bear	new	traffic	loads.	Failing	to	
consider	the	negative	impact	on	residents	is	completely	unacceptable.	The	longer	you	wait	to	restore	two-way	
traffic	on	N.	Santa	Cruz,	the	worse	the	impact	will	be	on	the	neighborhoods,	as	temporary	habits	quickly	become	
permanent.	We	need	to	immediately	get	the	late-night	bar	traffic	back	onto	North	Santa	Cruz	and	off	of	
neighborhood	streets.	We	need	to	immediately	get	the	early	morning	commercial	delivery	traffic	back	onto	North	
Santa	Cruz,	etc.	We	need	to	put	an	immediate	stop	to	the	any-time-of-day-or-night	lines	of	stop-and-go	traffic	on	
University	that	is	polluting	our	homes	and	threatening	our	safety.	The	longer	you	wait,	the	more	we	suffer,	and	the	
harder	it	will	be	to	reroute	the	traffic	without	going	to	the	other	extreme	and	having	a	barrier	on	University	
Avenue	between	Old	Town	and	nearby	homes	like	the	barrier	on	Edelen	Avenue	near	Old	Town.	
	
I	have	not	had	a	good	night’s	sleep	since	early	July.	When	we	turn	off	the	lights	there’s	stop-and-go	traffic	just	
outside.	We’re	now	awakened	regularly	by	drunks	and	delivery	drivers	at	all	hours	–	something	that	did	not	occur	
previously.	I’m	also	having	respiratory	problems	and	have	developed	a	cough	I	can’t	shake.	Our	old	home	has	no	
central	air	conditioning	–	we	MUST	open	the	windows	for	ventilation	cooling.	We’re	breathing	far	more	
particulates	than	we	used	to,	and	it	simply	must	stop.		
	
For	some	inexplicable	reason	Town	staff	has	not	performed	any	traffic	studies	that	actually	counted	the	cars	on	
University	Avenue	in	any	of	the	blocks	that	are	parallel	to	the	one-way	section	of	North	Santa	Cruz.	Why	on	earth	
would	you	spend	money	on	a	pilot	and	fail	to	adequately	study	the	consequences	–	can	it	be	that	someone	with	an	
agenda	does	not	really	want	all	the	facts?		
	
We	don’t	need	parklets	to	make	downtown	more	inviting.	I	know	no	one	who	wants	to	sit	in	the	street	with	
inadequate	shade	breathing	exhaust	fumes.	There	are	many	sections	of	North	Santa	Cruz	with	wide	sidewalks	that	
are	sadly	underutilized.	Town	and	businesses	could	cooperate	to	make	this	existing	space	compelling.	Some	
property	owners	might	want	their	own	designs.	Others	might	be	happy	to	host	commemorative	benches	and	
gardens	matching	those	already	gracing	the	street.	Some	of	these	areas	could	include	interactive	elements	making	
town	more	playful.	But	never	forget	–		town	residents	have	invested	heavily	in	the	existing	sidewalk	seating	and	

Page 397



Lynn	Kennedy	 September	24,	2019	 	 2	

beautification.	It	is	embarrassing	that	their	contributions,	sweat	equity,	memorials	and	dedications	are	now	being	
belittled	by	proponents	of	trendy	for	the	sake	of	trendy.	I	walk	downtown	regularly	and	have	seen	only	a	few	
people	sitting	in	parklets,	but	I	often	see	folks	enjoying	time	both	on	the	green	benches	and	in	well-designed	
private	spaces	as	evidenced	below.	
	

 
Visitors	choose	green	bench	away	from	traffic	over	nearby	empty	parklet	even	when	parklet	is	shaded.	

  
	
Thinking	longer	term,	Town	must	build	the	long-promised	parking	structure	behind	Mountain	Charlie’s.	As	part	of	
that	plan	it	may	make	sense	to	remove	a	few	parallel	parking	spots,	widening	sidewalks	at	key	locations.	However,	
the	design	must	preserve	most	of	the	parallel	street	parking	within	each	block	since	on-street	parking	is	clearly	the	
first	choice	of	shoppers.	In	the	meantime,	why	not	schedule	regular	sidewalk	steam	cleaning	and	add	more	trash	
and	recycling	bins	to	make	downtown	more	attractive	right	now	in	addition	to	improving	underutilized	existing	
space.	

Page 398



Lynn	Kennedy	 September	24,	2019	 	 3	

 
	
We	value	Los	Gatos’	many	unique	shops	and	restaurants	and	are	pleased	that	restaurants	are	mostly	busy;	it’s	
retail	that	appears	to	be	suffering	as	evidenced	by	the	vast	majority	of	the	closed	businesses.	In	this	era	of	chain	
stores	and	online	commerce	Town	needs	to	encourage	unique,	engaging	retail	options	that	residents	want	and	will	
frequent,	encourage	fair	rents,	and	encourage	residents	to	shop	locally.	Residents	are	and	should	be	the	key	
customer	base.	A	Shop	Los	Gatos	educational	campaign	and	discounts	for	residents	might	be	the	place	to	begin.	
	
The	Chamber	of	Commerce	could	focus	on	helping	businesses	learn	to	connect	with	customers	and	foster	a	climate	
of	mutual	support	among	business	and	residents	that	will	help	downtown	flourish.	Instead	the	Chamber	focuses	
primarily	on	events	benefitting	only	selected	restaurants	rather	than	retail,	and	that	pit	business	against	neighbors.	
Do	NOT	allow	amplified	music	outside	any	downtown	business	–	it	is	not	permitted	in	Town	for	good	reason!	Do	
NOT	approve	street	closures	other	than	the	community-oriented	Christmas	Parade	–	surprise	closures	breed	
frustration	that	discourages	customers!	Do	NOT	permit	events	masquerading	as	community	events.	I	learned	
recently	that	my	neighbors	refer	to	the	Chamber	“block	parties”	as	the	“Loma	parties”	which	is	pretty	telling.	We	
need	to	rebuild	community,	and	the	Chamber,	staff	and	Council	don’t	seem	to	grasp	this	basic	concept.	
	
I	hope	you	will	take	this	and	other	input	presented	to	date	and	invite	Los	Gatos’	many	smart,	creative	residents	to	
participate	in	a	series	of	design	charrettes.	A	genuine	exchange	of	ideas	could	yield	a	win-win	concept	that	actually	
supports	business	and	does	not	do	so	at	the	expense	of	residents.	Remember,	unhappy	residents	are	already	
avoiding	the	unattractive	and	hard-to-navigate	downtown,	negatively	impacting	business.	Don’t	risk	making	this	
situation	worse.	Restore	two-way	traffic	flow	now,	as	promised,	and	refrain	from	any	further	trials	until	after	
you	have	successfully	engaged	all	stakeholders	and	developed	a	plan	worthy	of	a	trial.	
	
Sincerely,	

	

Page 399



From: Guy Gummow <acorn@acorn-property.com> 

Sent: Friday, September 27, 2019 4:49 PM 

To: Council 

Subject: Santa Cruz Ave one way 

 

Dear Council member, 

 

I am writing to let you know that my wife and I are not happy with the one way traffic on Santa Cruz ave. 

We have lived in Los Gatos for over 30 years. It puts too much northbound traffic on University, Tait and 

Bayview. 

 

My mother lives on Bayview, and has commented that now she gets traffic coming and going. Beach 

traffic in the morning and school traffic in the afternoon and mornings 

 

Our daughter lives on Edelen and has commented how hard it is now to leave her area, as frustrated 

drivers don’t want to let autos onto University from the side streets. 

 

We think the parklets could work out, but please remove the one way. 

 

Thank you, 

Todd & Gwen Gummow 

  

Page 400



From: Linda Loew <lloew@comcast.net> 

Sent: Thursday, September 26, 2019 6:10 PM 

To: Steven Leonardis <SLeonardis@losgatosca.gov> 

Cc: Marcia Jensen <MJensen@losgatosca.gov> 

Subject: input regarding downtown one way etc  

  

Hello Steve,  

 

I do not know whom to send this to so if you are not the right person- please forward this. 

This is just a quick email stating I love the changes made on Santa Cruz Ave!! 

I live on Tait so daily I walk & drive on Santa Cruz.  I love how the cars have slowed down.  I don’t feel 

like I am risking my life crossing the street anymore.  I love how I always see people in the parklets.  The 

parklets have brought vitality to the side walks. I see all ages gathering.  Sometime reading a book solo 

and sometimes a couple playing chess AND families eating ice cream. (Oh and the piano was a great 

idea!)  I think all the parked cars show “strangers” that stores are open and this is an exciting place to 

be.   

I hope the stores sales reflect improvement.  Of course I am hoping the design for the permanent 

parklets is much prettier.  I grew up in an affluent part of Los Angeles where the diagonal parking was 

the norm so this feels very natural to me. 

I feel like our beach traffic during the study was just like the previous years.  It did not throw noticeably 

more cars on our street. 

Thank you to whomever thought of the ideas, 

Linda Loew 

139 Tait Ave 

Homeowner since 1985 

  

Page 401



From: Michael Burke <mrburke@mac.com>  
Sent: Sunday, September 29, 2019 6:21 PM 
To: Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov>; Council <Council@losgatosca.gov>; Town Manager 
<Manager@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: Please add the following to desk items for the one-way pilot agenda item. 
 
Mr. Mayor and Council Members, 
 
After meeting with a couple of you this past week, I felt it was appropriate to include my beach traffic 
mitigation plan as part of your discussion on the one-way pilot. 
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Michael Burke 
  

Page 402



September 29, 2019 

Mr. Mayor and Council Members,


As you are currently considering downtown traffic as it relates to the one-way 
pilot, I felt it important to present my plan to mitigate some of the effects of 
summer beach traffic to benefit both residents and merchants.


I recommend implementing time-based restrictions to limit turning movements 
from east/west streets south of Highway 9 onto southbound North & South 
Santa Cruz Avenues between 10am and 4pm on summer weekends. 


This idea has precedent. The Town currently uses time-based restrictions of 
turning movements in various locations, as example “No Right Turn 
4:00pm-6:00pm.”


This prohibition would eliminate beach traffic entering Santa Cruz Avenue (North 
and South) from Main Street, University Avenue and the Almond Grove streets. It 
would reduce or eliminate the gridlock at the intersection of Main Street and 
Santa Cruz Avenue because southbound traffic on North Santa Cruz Avenue 
would no longer need to compete with cars turning off on Main Street. With the 
gridlock at that intersection removed, southbound traffic on North Santa Cruz 
should actually flow better.


Removing the beach traffic from Main and University would allow those street to 
service the downtown and the Town’s downtown parking lots as well as allowing 
emergency vehicles access when needed.


The cost to implement this plan is very low, and while 100% enforcement would 
be difficult, spot enforcement and targeted enforcement at Main and Santa Cruz 
Ave should be sufficiently effective. These restrictions are rules that can be 
communicated to the “map apps” to ensure that they do not route drivers to 
make prohibited turns. As a result, neighborhoods should see less cut through 
traffic.


I have attached two annotated maps that provide a visualizing on my plan. If the 
council feels my plan has merit ,at least for further study, I would be happy to 
make a formal presentation to the Council at a later date. I can be reached at 
408-268-0644 or mrburke@mac.com for comments or questions.

Sincerely yours,

Michael Burke


P.O. Box 2143 Los Gatos, CA 95031

Page 403



Weekends 
10am to 4pm

Weekends 
10am to 4pm

Seasonal Turning Restrictions

Michael Burke
Page 404



No Beach 
Traffic

No Beach 
Traffic

No Beach 
Traffic

Beach Traffic Control

Michael Burke
Page 405



From: drdresti@aol.com <drdresti@aol.com>  

Sent: Saturday, September 28, 2019 12:34 PM 

To: Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 

Subject: Feedback/ Traffic in Los Gatos 

Dear Town Council of Los Gatos: 

I read the article today in the Los Gatos Magazine and wanted to write to you for some feedback about 

the traffic situation both on North Santa Cruz Avenue and Los Gatos Blvd.  This is a dire situation.   

I have lived in Los Gatos for 65 years and although I understand the importance of growth I don’t find 

that the one way dividers work well down town on N. Santa Cruz Avenue.  I’ve spoken to many of the 

store owners and it is hurting their business where some have mentioned they will have to either close 

or close on weekends.  From a resident perspective the down town is a mess with barriers and traffic 

backed up everywhere.  Although I am supposed to be writing about some solutions, I may not have any 

but do know that we need to try something else.  I know there are traffic flow experts that may shed 

some light on the subject-find them! 

Los Gatos Blvd is a living nightmare for those of us that live on this side of downtown.  I personally can 

not get anywhere during the weekdays as school is being let out and on the weekend there is no way I 

can get out of my house unless I take all back streets.  This is a major congestion.  What is going to 

happen when buildings go up where the Artisan Wine is currently?  Parents pick up their kids there 

currently as another outlet from RJ Fisher.  Foreseeable accidents will happen- there are kids 

everywhere and it’s a mess.  My son was actually hit in the cross walk in front of Van Meter when he 

was in 5th grade.  It is worse now.  

The beach traffic needs to be dealt with on weekends.  The GPS systems need to monitored or 

reprogramed.  I would think that folks would have learned by now that it isn’t any faster to crawl 

through Los Gatos Blvd to get onto Highway 17.  I am hoping that you can find some engineers to get us 

some solutions.   

The word out there is that more people just go to Campbell because it is easier to get to and park. The 

restaurants are thriving and they are building up their social life with young folks.   Los Gatos has always 

been a great destination and quaint town and it has become a mess.  

PLEASE understand that I realize you have heard my comments from others and you are looking for 

solutions but I think that the problem goes beyond your council.  Hire some experts and get some 

subject expertise to fix these problems!  We pay way too much to live in this wonderful place to watch it 

fail… 

 

Thanks for listening! 

 

Deanna Dresti 

drdresti@aol.com 

Page 406



From: Gayle <ghbloomer@aol.com>  
Sent: Saturday, September 28, 2019 10:25 AM 
To: Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: One way on N. Santa Cruz  
 
We live on University and have been negativity impacted with the pilot program on N. Santa Cruz. It’s 
unacceptable that we have to feel the brunt of the one way change. I’m glad it’s only a pilot program 
and will change back the end of October. Our street has become unsafe and unhealthy with the amount 
of traffic. It’s bad enough to have to deal with the beach traffic and then the school traffic, were in 
gridlock! The town council will have to figure out something else if they want to keep the park-lets. 
Gayle Bloom 
122 University Ave.  
 
  

Page 407



From: Dianne Rhudy <rootrhudy@aol.com>  
Sent: Saturday, September 28, 2019 9:56 AM 
To: Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: Traffic experiment 
 
 
My home is at 122 University. I have lived here for 45 years. I may be the oldest and longest continual 
resident on the street. The experiment has seriously affected my quality of life. It has turned my 
residential street into a boulevard. Traffic backs up many times a day with the ensuing exhaust very 
troublesome. I can no longer open my windows due to noise and bad air. Unsafe exit from my driveway 
is a worry. I have to jut out in traffic to get on the road. I do appreciate that we were trying to improve 
the quality of our downtown experience but it is very detrimental to us on University Avenue. I am very 
concerned about an escape route in the case of fire or other emergency. Please do not proceed with this 
becoming permanent. Dianne Rhudy Sent from my iPad 
  

Page 408



From: Jim Foley <jimfoley@lacanadainvestments.com>  

Sent: Friday, September 27, 2019 3:58 PM 

To: Council <Council@losgatosca.gov> 

Cc: Robert Schultz <RSchultz@losgatosca.gov>; Monica Renn <mrenn@losgatosca.gov>; Clerk 

<Clerk@losgatosca.gov>; Matt Morley <MMorley@losgatosca.gov>; Joel Paulson 

<jpaulson@losgatosca.gov>; Laurel Prevetti <LPrevetti@losgatosca.gov> 

Subject: Letter regarding Policy Changes and One Way Pilot 

 

Please find attached a letter for these subjects scheduled to be discussed at next week’s Town Council 

meeting. 

 

Thank you, 

 

Jim Foley 

(408) 813-7490 

 

Page 409



  

Page 410



From: Rudy Rucker, Sr. <rudy@rudyrucker.com>  

Sent: Friday, September 27, 2019 8:54 AM 

To: Council <Council@losgatosca.gov> 

Subject: Against the Change to Santa Cruz Ave 

 

I’m writing to oppose the new traffic configuration on Santa Cruz Avenue. 

(1) Instead of having four traffic lanes on Santa Cruz Avenue and University Avenue we now have 

three.  Therefore north-bound traffic on University Ave is now jammed.  And it’s tedious to maneuver on 

and off Santa Cruz Ave. 

(2) Santa Cruz Ave now has less traffic and less life.  The diagonally parked cars block a driver’s view of 

the stores. Where the avenue felt vibrant and lively , it now feels like a small town off an Interstate in a 

rural area. 

(3) It’s hard to maneuver one’s way to a store if you have to drive past the store’s block on University, go 

over to Santa Cruz, and drive south. 

(4) Although the street parks are nice, they’re not worth the price of ruining the avenue.  Why not keep 

a few of the street parks and sacrifice a few parking spaces. 

Thanks for considering my input, 

Rudy Rucker 

50 Kimble Ave 

Los Gatos CA 

  

Page 411



From: Sylvia Rucker <sylvia@monkeybrains.net>  
Sent: Friday, September 27, 2019 9:16 AM 
To: Council <Council@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: Downtown one-way pilot 
 
To the Los Gatos council members: 
 
As a long-time (33 years) resident of Los Gatos, I have seen our town grow in many positive ways. But 
along with growth and development, traffic in and near downtown has become more and more 
problematic, due in no small part to internet apps that reroute commuters onto our main streets. This 
summer, the town decided to make Santa Cruz Avenue one-way and to add parklets along several 
blocks. This was a disastrous decision that has resulted in even more traffic tie-ups and impassable 
streets downtown. Living as I do very near downtown, just above the library, I worry about being unable 
to drive into or out of my neighborhood safely in case of fire or other emergency. On my side of town, 
traffic along Main St, University Ave, and Los Gatos Blvd is at a standstill at way too many times each 
weekday and even more so on weekends. This problem has grown tremendously since Santa Cruz Ave 
has become one-way. And who needs those unsightly parklets?! I have seen very few people using 
them. Judging from the large number of empty storefronts downtown, the town’s decision has not 
helped merchants either. I urge the council to bring two-way circulation back to Santa Cruz Ave, to get 
rid of the unnecessary parklets, and to reinstitute parallel parking, which allows better visibility of 
curbside businesses. 
 
Sincerely, 
Sylvia Rucker 
Sylvia@monkeybrains.net 
  

Page 412



From: L Force <ll302651@gmail.com>  
Sent: Thursday, September 26, 2019 1:48 PM 
To: Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: LG N SC Pilot Program Summer 2019 
 
 
Dear LG “Experience” Team, 
 
Not only did this “experience” destroy the look and charm of N Santa Cruz Avenue, it also wreaked 
havoc on residential streets that had to support the northbound traffic primarily on University, Tait and 
Massol. 
 
It also did nothing to alleviate southbound/beach traffic gridlock this summer. 
 
It has only been the past two weeks that I’ve noticed hoses to take some traffic measurements.  You did 
not do it prior to the Pilot, or at the height of summer time.  The data that you gather will not be a 
complete, whole picture. 
 
A child was hit by a car in August because Waze directed the driver onto Tait due to the closure of 
northbound N SC.  YOU are partly responsible for her fractured pelvis, broken nose, multiple abrasions 
and bruising. 
 
When I heard about the Pilot, I vowed to boycott all independent businesses and Restaurants on N SC 
during the Pilot and now will boycott through the end of 2019.  
 
I will expect to “experience” mimes/street performers/beggars - a la Pier 39 in SF -. 
The people sitting in the Parklets were not shopping, were not dining, were not spending money, they 
were sitting next to traffic breathing pollution. 
 
This Pilot was a Failure, Disaster, Not Good. 
 
L. Force 
Homeowner on Tait Avenue 
 

Page 413



 

PREPARED BY: Matt Morley 
 Parks and Public Works Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, and Town Attorney 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 12 

DESK ITEM 

 

AD 

   

 

DATE:   October 1, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Provide Feedback and Direction on the Downtown One-Way Pilot Project 

 

REMARKS: 
 
Attachment 3 contains public comment received from 11:01 a.m., Monday, September 30, 
2019, though 11:00 a.m., Tuesday, October 1, 2019. 

 
Attachments: 
1. Public comments received through 11:00 a.m., Thursday, September 26, 2019. 
2. Public comments received between 11:01 a.m., Thursday, September 26, 2019 and 11:00 

a.m., Monday, September 30, 2019. 
 
Attachment Received with this Desk Item: 
3. Public comments received from 11:01 a.m., Monday, September 30, 2019, though 11:00 

a.m., Tuesday, October 1, 2019. 

Page 414



From: Kim Vrijen <kim_vrijen@yahoo.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, October 01, 2019 10:59 AM 
To: Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: One Way and Parklets 

Hello - 

I am writing to express my interest in having the parklets and one-way traffic on N Santa Cruz become 
permanent additions.  I like the one-way traffic for several reasons.  First, I like that it is easier to find 
parking.  Before, you had to choose which direction to approach downtown in the hope that you would 
choose correctly and find an open space on your side of the street.  Inevitably, the only spaces would be 
facing the opposite direction and, by the time you drove around the block, the space would be 
gone.  Second, once you find a space, it is much easier to park.  Pulling in to the angled spots is much 
faster than backing into the spaces on the side.  Finally, as a pedestrian, it is much safer to cross the 
road.  All cars are coming from one direction and there is only one car at a time to worry about.  This 
makes it much easier and safer to cross the road.   I also like the idea of the parklets and expect the 
permanent versions will be pleasant places to sit.  I would love to have more outside dining options in 
LG.  I am not sure how quickly permanent parklets would happen, but one idea is for Holiday time, you 
could allow outdoor pop-ups either all the time or for the weekends in December.  One parklet could be 
an outdoor hot chocolate stand.  Downtown LG would have a Christmas market feel which would, 
hopefully, attract more people to the downtown area. 

Thank you for all the time you invest to make Los Gatos a fantastic place to live, 
Km 

ATTACHMENT 3
Page 415



From: REDEMPTION <shopredemption@gmail.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, October 01, 2019 10:01 AM 
To: Experience LG <ExperienceLG@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: One way and parklet pilot 
 

To the Town 

My name is David MacGregor and my wife Tammy and I own Redemption, a California based retail store 
located at 25 N Santa Cruz. We have been open at this location just over a year, as well as having our 
first location in Campbell that we opened in 2015. I am also a recent sign on to the Chamber of 
Commerce board, where I am one of the only retail representatives.  

It is our view that the One way and Parklet program has had a positive effect on the downtown, and we 
hope that this is the first step towards wider sidewalks in the Downtown proper, as that would be our 
ultimate best scenario. We would even like to see the program extend past the October deadline and 
into the holiday season in order to gain more data. It is also my understanding that the general feeling 
among downtown merchants about the program is a positive one.  

The overwhelming feedback we have received from our frequent daily discussions with customers 
however, is that the design and aesthetic of the parklets leave a lot to be desired. I believe that this 
feeling is echoed by the merchants. If it is feasible to extend the parklet program then, it would be 
extremely beneficial to the overall excitement and acceptance by the merchants and visitors alike to 
revisit the design and layout of the parklets. Now that there is some data on how they’ve been used, it 
could be useful to focus the program on only the parklets that were most used, and work on making 
them more appealing visually. The program is a good idea, we feel it just needs some area focus and 
increased aesthetic appeal. 

Warm regards 

Tammy and David  

REDEMP☥ION 
 
 
+1 (408) 628 4877 
 
241a E Campbell Ave 
Campbell, CA 95008 
 
+1 (408) 402 3888 
25 N Santa Cruz Ave 
Los Gatos, CA 95030 

Page 416



From: Maria Ristow <ristows@comcast.net>  

Sent: Tuesday, October 1, 2019 9:13 AM 

To: Council <Council@losgatosca.gov>; Matt Morley <MMorley@losgatosca.gov> 

Subject: One-Way Pilot on Santa Cruz Avenue 

In my opinion, Santa Cruz Avenue should primarily accommodate active and outdoor use of the 
space.  Two-way car and bike traffic flow with additional sitting, recreating and dining space (through 
the use right now of parklets) seem to me to be the best use of the limited space. Ultimately, the 
sidewalks should be widened on each side of the street for all or much of the stretch between Highway 
9 and Main Street, reducing or eliminating on-street parking. 
 
We  know that when people really want to come downtown, parking is NOT a top issue.  They figure it 
out.  We have large crowds regularly at Jazz in the Plazz, Music in the Park, and most recently, Eat Drink 
Play Los Gatos.  Somehow people get to town and if they drive, they find a place to store their cars.  Of 
all the ways we can make Los Gatos more vibrant and welcoming, parking is not the primary issue. 
 
The parking study underway is already showing that we can improve parking issues through better use 
of the space we have with directing signage, encouraging employees to park a bit further away, and 
possibly partnering with banks and other businesses to share underutilized private lots.  I would like to 
have Dixon Consulting look at the impact of further reducing or eliminating parking on Santa Cruz to see 
if this is possible. 
 
The only justification for keeping Santa Cruz Avenue one-way would be to retain the angle 
parking.  While a driversnumber of  prefer angle parking to parallel, there is usually ample parking in the 
lots behind the businesses, which is easy to pull in and out. The angle parking, as others have pointed 
out, create a larger visual blockage of the shops and sidewalks than the parallel parking.  It is the 
opposite of a pedestrian-friendly feel. The parking study should give us ways to improve parking 
allocation and utilization without turning Santa Cruz Avenue into another parking lot. 
 
The downsides of the one-way configuration include greatly increased traffic impacts on University 
Avenue and increased traffic on Tait and Massol Avenues, all residential streets.  Santa Cruz Avenue is 
our main downtown street and that is where the cars coming to town should be traveling, at the nice 
friendly speed of 15mph. 
 
Regarding bike traffic, the one-way makes cycling downtown more difficult.  For northbound cyclists, 
there is no good option.  University is more crowded with cars, and drivers are not patient with cyclists 
who must take the lane.  I regularly observed cyclists traveling the wrong way on the Santa Cruz or 
riding on the sidewalks.  For southbound cyclists, the bike lane is little improvement, as it only exist for a 
couple of blocks.   
 
I think we learned many things from the one-way pilot program, and I remain supportive of the Town 
Council and staff for exploring a variety of options at once.  Now I advocate returning to two-way traffic 
movement for the entire length of Santa Cruz Avenue and focus on parklets and sidewalk space.  We 
have business-sponsored parklets coming in, and I’m looking forward to more outdoor dining.  I have 
one request for the Town regarding parklets. It would be great to retain one town-controlled parklet, 
with the piano and chess board and seats, in front of a retail shop, somewhere close to the middle of 
Santa Cruz Avenue.   It should meet the design standards of the permanent parklets going in.  It was fun 

Page 417



this summer to have more people-oriented activity along the street. 
 
Thank you for experimenting, measuring and evaluating. Sometimes we need to actually test something 
out to understand it. 

Maria Ristow 
85 Broadway 
  

Page 418



From: Maria Ristow <ristows@comcast.net>  
Sent: Monday, September 30, 2019 4:07 PM 
To: Council <Council@losgatosca.gov>; Matt Morley <MMorley@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: One-way pilot comments from cyclists 

I am passing along input from some bike club members regarding the Santa Cruz Avenue One-Way Pilot 
program.  Maria Ristow 

A cyclist who is riding north from, say, Lexington Reservoir, needs a way to get through Los Gatos and 
onto Highway 9 to head toward Saratoga and points north. We need a way to make that left turn onto 
Highway 9 at a light, because otherwise we won't be able to do it. If the city wants us to use University 
Avenue instead of Santa Cruz Avenue, fine, but since University is narrow, we're going to have to take 
the lane and that will delay motorists. I have absolutely no problem taking the lane, and will do it 
without a second thought, but Los Gatos needs to think whether it wants the cyclists who come off the 
trail down from Lexington to ride on University, or whether they have some other plan that cyclists will 
find just as good. 
-- Anne Paulson 
 
Hi Maria, 
For me, it makes no difference - I always avoid biking on Santa Cruz Avenue. 
 
My preferred biking routes are: 
from home to downtown: LG Blvd/E Main, sometimes using Bella Vista 
to home skirting downtown and the Hwy 17 crossing: Tait/W Main/E Main/LG Blvd 
 
For what it's worth, I avoid driving through downtown on Santa Cruz Avenue, too. I find it too slow and 
chaotic with all the pedestrian crossings. 
 - Pat 
 
Hello, Maria, I don’t ride in Los Gatos so can’t comment on this  
situation but thought I’d toss this note into the mix: I’ve ridden in  
cities and towns in Belgium where any one-way street provides two-way  
access for cyclists. That is, it’s one-way for cars, two-way for  
cyclists. This tends to encourage people to ride their bikes rather than 
 drive—in fact I think in some places there are lots of one-way streets  
specifically to tilt the advantage to cycling.  
Likely you know this already but your questions brought it to my mind. 
Thank you for your work in this area! - l. 
  

Page 419



Hi Maria,  
I actually don't ride on Santa Cruz southbound, and I ride University instead (actually I didn't know they 
turned it into a one way street).  I typically ride on Main Street, as it becomes Los Gatos Blvd, so I can go 
on Kennedy.  I only do this so I can avoid cycling on Hwy 9, to get through the freeway overpass, which 
can be troublesome with car traffic merging in and out of onramp/offramps.  If I had to ride 
Northbound, I would use University as an alternative, but I would not like it if University became a one-
way street northbound (as I wouldn't want to ride Santa Cruz southbound as my only route into 
downtown).  Hope this make sense. 
 
Thanks. 
Ron  
 
Biking from Main Street to Highway 9 is terrible now.  University is crowded and cars are not patient 
with cyclists who have to take the lane.  In the early morning I will just ride on the sidewalk up Santa 
Cruz. In the afternoons I cut through the parking lots.  I don't like either of these options, but they are 
better than trying to deal with all the angry car drivers on University. L. 
 
  

Page 420



 

From: Garnetta Annable <garnetta_annable@hotmail.com>  
Sent: Monday, September 30, 2019 2:07 PM 
To: Matt Morley <MMorley@losgatosca.gov>; Laurel Prevetti <LPrevetti@losgatosca.gov>; Steven 
Leonardis <SLeonardis@losgatosca.gov> 
Cc: ristows@comcast.net 
Subject: Impact on bicyclists - Santa Cruz Ave Changes 
 

We business patrons and visitors to Los Gatos but not Los Gatos Town residents.  Our visits 
include cycling through Los Gatos 2 to 3 times a week as part of our exercise routine.  
 
Regarding Santa Cruz Ave (SC) impacts on cyclist, previously from Main, we cycled SC north to 
Hwy 9.  SC was the preferred route because the roadway at intersection of SC and Hwy 9 is 
flat.  Also, the turn lane traffic light timing is set well to allow adequate time for the left turn 
West on to Hwy 9.  Forcing north bound motorist and cyclist on to University has created 
dangerous and frustrating experience for both.   The dangerous situation is primarily making a 
westbound left off or University.  At the intersection of University and Hwy 9 the roadway is 
inclined significantly.  From a stopped position, it takes cyclists longer to push off and navigate 
the incline whether turning left or continuing straight.  This creates danger for the cyclist and 
frustration for motorists.  Our current work around the intersection problem is problematic 
also.   Currently we make a left turn west from University onto Bachman to reach SC.   It is 
dangerous because of the increased traffic on University caused by the SC diversion, lack of 
bicycle route signage, and no traffic light or stop signs at the intersection of Bachman with 
University. 
 
If LG decides to maintain the SC changes permanently, the timing for lights at the intersection 
of University and Hwy 9 need to be significantly increased for west bound left turns and 
crossing Hwy 9 for cyclists.  Also a bicycle lane or bicycle route signage painted large on 
University would create more awareness of types of traffic and be safer.    
 
I hope these comments will be helpful to you and council as you review and determine your 
next steps. 
 
Garnetta Annable 
951 Dry Creek Road 
Campbell, CA 
(408) 371-9210 
 

Page 421



Town Council Meeting
10/1/2019

ONE WAY STREET PILOT PROGRAM
RECAP

Page 422



Page 423



Page 424



Page 425



NEXT STEPS

1. Should any element of the Pilot remain after October 31?
2. Was the one-way portion of the pilot successful given the 

change in traffic patterns that occurred?  
3. Was the diagonal parking successful?
4. Is a reduction of on street parking to achieve wider sidewalks 

something that should be incorporated into the parking 
study?

5. Other input, especially that might impact future capital 
investments?

5

Page 426



 

PREPARED BY: Robert Schultz 
 Town Attorney 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 13 

 
   

 

DATE:   September 25, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Robert Schultz, Town Attorney 

SUBJECT: Review of Citizen Ballot Initiative Amending the Los Gatos Town Code 
Regarding Term Limits for Council Members 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

It is recommended that the Town Council review this report and provide any direction to staff . 
 

BACKGROUND: 

On September 3, 2019, a Notice of Intent to Circulate Petition proposing an amendment to the 
Los Gatos Town Code was submitted to the Town Clerk.  This ballot measure would amend the 
Los Gatos Town Code to add term limitations for members of the Town Council.  Presently, 
persons serving as Council members serve four-year terms and can serve unlimited terms.  This 
measure would eliminate the ability to serve unlimited terms and create a limit of two 
consecutive terms for Council members.  After serving two consecutive terms, a Council 
member would not be eligible to serve an additional term until at least four years have elapsed 
since that Council member last held office.   Under State Law, the ballot measure must operate 
prospectively, so that any time served by a person serving in office before certification of the 
2020 election, would not count toward the term limit thereafter. 
 
Attachment A is a Copy of the Notice of Intent to Circulate Petition and Attachment B is the 
Ballot Title and Summary, as mandated and prepared by the Town Attorney.   
 
DISCUSSION: 

Procedural requirements for placing a local initiative on the ballot parallel those for qualifying a 
statewide proposition.  After drafting an initiative measure, proponents must file a “notice of 

Page 427



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Review of Citizen Ballot Initiative Amending the Los Gatos Town Code Regarding 

Term Limits for Council Members 
DATE:  September 25, 2019 
 
intention” to circulate a petition for signatures with the Town Clerk, along with the text of the 
proposed measure and a request for ballot title and summary.  The Town Clerk forwards the  
request to the Town Attorney, who has 15 days to return an impartial ballot title and summary.  
Proponents must publish the notice of intention, ballot title, and summary in the local 
newspaper of general circulation.  Next, proponents have 180 days from the receipt of the 
ballot title and summary to circulate a petition for the requisite signatures.  
 
Under State law, term limits can only be enacted   by the voters at a regularly scheduled 
election.  The next regularly scheduled election is November 2020.  Since a term limits ballot 
measure must be held at a regularly scheduled election, the Petition will need a minimum of 
10% of the registered voter population which equates to approximately 2,090 registered voters.   
 
Upon receiving an initiative petition, the Town Clerk must verify the number of signatures 
obtained and their eligibility within 30 days.  In the interim, the Town Council may refer the 
proposed measure for a report on its fiscal impact, consistency with the General Plan, and 
other effects.  Reports must be received within 30 days after the Town Clerk has certified the 
sufficiency of the petition.  If the Town Clerk determines that the requisite number of valid 
signatures has been gathered, he or she submits the initiative to the Town Council.  A local 
government cannot refuse to place a duly certified initiative on the ballot.  
 
Instead of waiting to see if the petitions qualify for the ballot, the Town Council could on its 
own direct staff to prepare resolutions to place all, part, or none of the term limit ballot 
measures on the November 2020 general election.   
 
CONCLUSION: 

This is primarily an informational report for Council consideration and to direct staff 
accordingly. 

Page 428



August 9, 2019
Ms. Shelley Neis 
Los Gatos Town Clerk
110 East Main Street 
Los Gatos, CA 95030

RE: Request for Title and Summary
Dear Ms. Neis:

RECEIV&D 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

SEP 03 2019 

CLERK DEPAll'IMEN'f 

As the proponents of the "Los Gatos Town Council Term Limits Initiative" (the 
"measure"), we hereby give notice of our intention to circulate a petition within the Town
of Los Gatos for the purpose of amending the Los Gatos Municipal Code to implement
new term limits for Los Gatos Town Council Members.

Attached are the Notice of Intent, the full text of the measure, the statements
required by California Elections Code section 9608, and a check for the amount of 
$200. Pursuant to California Elections Code sections 9202 and 9203, we request that the
Los Gatos Town Attorney timely prepare a Title & Summary of the measure so that we
may comply with the publication requirements and begin circulating the petition.

Please send all correspondence related to the measure to our attorney at the
following office address and email address:

Samuel J. Harvey 
The Sutton Law Firm 
150 Post Street, Suite 405
San Francisco, CA 94108 
(sharvey@campaignlawyers.com)

Thank you for your assistance with this matter.
Sincerely,

�4.(-/f.;.-��Hoesen 
156 Villa Ave. 
Los Gatos, CA 95030

Enclosures

a VanNada 
1 Euclid Ave. 
Los Gatos, CA 95030

Mon,19Aug 2019 3:14 PM 

ATTACHMENT APage 429



Page 430



Page 431



Page 432



Page 433



Page 434



Page 435



Page 436



ATTACHMENT B

Page 437



 

PREPARED BY: Robert Schultz 
 Town Attorney 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 10/01/2019 

ITEM NO: 13 

ADDENDUM 

A 

 

   

 

DATE:   September 30, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Robert Schultz, Town Attorney 

SUBJECT: Review of Citizen Ballot Initiative Amending the Los Gatos Town Code 
Regarding Term Limits for Council Members 

 

REMARKS 

Attachment C contains public comment received after the distribution of the staff report and 

before 11:00 a.m. on September 30, 2019.  

Attachments: 
A. Notice of Intent to Circulate Petition 
B. Ballot Title and Summary – Term Limits 
 
Attachment received with this Addendum: 
C. Public comment received after the distribution of the staff report and before 11:00 a.m. 

September 30, 2019.  
 

Page 438



Page 439



Page 440



Page 441



Page 442



Page 443


	Top
	1. Draft Special Meeting Minutes of September 14, 2019
	091419 Special Meeting

	2. Draft Closed Session Minutes of September 17, 2019
	Staff Report.Closed Session Minutes of 9-17-19

	3. Draft Minutes of September 17, 2019
	Staff Report.Draft Minutes of 9-17-19

	4. Winchester Complete Streets
	Winchester staff report 092019
	Attachment 1 - RFP package.docx
	Attachment 2 Resolution draft

	6. Authorize the Town Manager to Purchase Two Vehicles from Downtown Ford Sales in an Amount Not to Exceed $126,376
	Staff Report - Vehicle Procurement
	Attachment 1 - Town Vehicle and Equipment Acquisition and Replacement Policy 4-05
	Attachment 2 - Quotes

	7. Parking Assessment District Regulations
	Staff Report
	Attachment 1 - Draft Ordinance

	8. Parking Lot Improvement Regulations
	Staff Report
	Attachment 1 - Draft Ordinance

	9. Valet Parking Regulations
	Staff Report
	Attachment 1 - Draft Ordinance

	10. Community Vitality and Land Use Streamlining
	Staff Report.Community Vitality Streamline
	Attachment 1 - Economic Vitality and Land Use Streamlining Summary
	Attachment 2 - 2018-032 - Suspending Town Code Regarding Formula Retail
	Attachment 3 - 2018-039 - Amend Sec 29.20.745 & suspending a portion of 29.20
	Attachment 4 - 2019-008 - Suspending a portion of 29.20.755(2) to allow the DRC to approve new CUPs for restaurants until 12-31-19
	Attachment 5 - 2019-009 - Suspending 29.20.755(8) to allow minor exterior modifications to commercial buildings approved at building permit level until 12-31-19
	Attachment 6 - 2019-012 - Suspending 29.20.750(8) to allow group classes in C-2 zone to be heard by DRC
	Addendum
	Attachment 7 - Public Comment
	Desk Item 
	Attachment 8- Public Comment for Desk Item 
	Staff Presentation

	11. Review of Tobacco Retailers Ordinance and Annual Report from County of Santa Clara on implementation of the Ordinance and Discuss potential Amendments to the Ordinance to prohibit the sale of electronic smoking devices
	Staff Report
	Attachment 1. Ord 2259
	Attachment 2. Los Gatos Tobacco Retail Permit Annual Summary
	Attachment 3.Material from Mayor
	Attachment 4 - Material from Bay Area City Attorneys Meeting
	Addendum
	Attachment 5 - Public Comment

	12. Downtown One Way Pilot
	Staff Report One Way Pilot
	Attachment 1 - Public Comments Received through 1100 am 9-26-19
	Addendum - One Way Pilot
	Attachment 2 - Public Comments Received 1101 am 9-26-19 through 1100 am 9-30-19
	Desk Item - One Way Pilot
	Attachment 3 - Public Comments Received 1101 am 9-30-19 through 1100 am 10-1-19
	Staff Presentation

	13. Review of Citizen Ballot Initiative Amending the Los Gatos Town Code Regarding Term Limits for Council Members
	Staff Report
	Attachment A - Notice of Intent to Circulate Petition - Town Council Term Limits (003)
	Attachment B. Ballot Title and Summary - Term Limits
	Addendum
	Attachment C - Public Comment

	Bottom

